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RENEWAL CERTIFICATION FILING INSTRUC 

COMPETITIVE RETAIL NATURAL GAS SUPP 0 

I. Where to File: Applications should be sent to: Public Utilities Commission of Ohio 
(PUCO or Commission), Docketing Division, 
Columbus Ohio 43215-3793. 

13* Floor, 180 East Broad Street, 

II. What to File: Applicant must submit one original notarized application signed by a 
principal officer and ten copies, including all exhibits, affidavits, and other attachments. 
All attachments, affidavits, and exhibits should be clearly identified. For example, 
Exhibit A-15 should be marked "Exhibit A-15 - Corporate Structure," All pages should 
be numbered and attached in a sequential order. 

i l ^ ^ l l j j l f e ^ g ^ ^ f i l ^ j f ^ - amplication must be docketed in the 
avplicant's orisinal GA-CRS case number. Therefore, applicant should enter that 
number on the renewal appUcation form ^hevifiling a renewal apj^^^i^n. 

III. When to File: Pursuant to Rule 4901:1-27-09 of the Ohio Administrative Code,' 
renewal applications shall be filed between 30 and 120 days from the prior certificate's 
expiration date. 

IV. Renewal Application Form: The renewal application form is available on the PUCO 
Web site, www,puco, Ohio.sov or directly from the Commission located at; Public Utilities 
Commission of Ohio, Docketing Division, 13* Floor, 180 East Broad Street, Columbus, 
Ohio 43215-3793. 

V. Confidentiality: If any of an applicant's answers require the applicant to disclose what 
the applicant believes to be privileged or confidential information not otherwise available 
to the public, the applicant should designate at each point in the application that the 
answer requires the applicant to disclose privileged and confidential information. 
Applicant must still provide that privileged and confidential information (separately fUed 
and appropriately marked). Applicant must fiilly support any request to maintain the 
confidentiality of the information it believes to be confidential or proprietary in a motion 
for protective order, filed pursuant to Rule 4901:1-1-24 of the Ohio Administrative Code. 

VI. Commission Process for Certification Renewal: An application for renewal shall 
be made on forms approved and supplied by the Commission. The applicant shall 
complete the appropriate renewal form in its entirety and supply all required attachments, 
affidavits, and evidence of capability specified by the form at the time an application is 
filed. The Commission renewal process begins when the Commission's Docketing 
Division receives and time/date stamps the application. An incomplete application may be 
suspended or rejected. An application that has been suspended as incomplete will caiise 
delay in renewal. 

« a 

i3» e 
^ - o 

fl) "1 w 
p, M 
w o o 

u 
a o 
cp 0 P 

§ i J t - 4 

0 O t4 

p u 
w ft® 

<» A 
* ) - Jl 

^ ® 9 f/ 
*> 4J -r* r 

® _ \ 
¥ 0 9 
e -r4 

q e 
o «'C ^ x» ^ 

e j j .H 

^ i s m 

180 East Broad Street • Columbus, OH 43215-3793 • (614) 466-3016 • www.PUCO.ohio.gov 
The Public Utilities Commission of Ohio is an Equal Opportunity Employer and Service Provider 

http://www.PUCO.ohio.gov


Version 1.07 
Page 2 of2 

The Commission may approve, suspend, or deny an application within 30 days. If the 
Commission does not act within 30 days, the renewal application is deemed automatically 
approved on the 31̂ ^ day after the official filing date. If the Conmiission suspends the 
renewal application, the Commission shall notify the applicant of the reasons for such 
suspension and may direct the applicant to furnish additional information. The 
Conmiission shall act to approve or deny a suspended application within 90 days of the 
date that the renewal application was suspended. Upon Commission approval, the 
applicant shall receive notification of approval and a numbered, renewed certificate that 
specifies the service(s) for which the applicant is certified and the dates for which the 
certificate is valid. Unless otherwise warranted, the renewed certification designation will 
remain consistent with the previously granted certification. For example, a certified 
marketer will renew as a certified marketer. 

Unless otherwise specified by the Commission, the competitive retail natural gas service 
(CRNGS) supplier's renewed certificate is valid for an additional period of two years, 
beginning and ending on the dates specified on the certificate. The applicant may renew its 
certificate in accordance with Rule 4901:1-27-09 of the Ohio Administrative Code. 

CRNGS suppliers, which include marketers, shall inform the Commission of any material 
change to the infomiation supplied in a renewal application withm thirty (30) days of such 
material change in accordance with Rule 4901:1-27-10 of the Ohio Administrative Code. 

VIL Contractual Arrangements for Capability Standards: If the applicant is relying 
upon contractual arrangements with a third-party, to meet any of the certification 
requirements, the applicant must provide with its application all of the following: 

" The legal name of any contracted entity; 

• A statement that a valid contract exists between the applicant and the third-party; 

• A detailed summary of the contract(s), mcluding all services provided thereunder; and 

• The documentation and evidence to demonstrate the contracting entity's capability to 
meet the requirements as if the contracting entity was the applicant. 

VIIL Governing Law: The certification/renewal of CRNGS suppliers is governed by 
Chapters 4901:1 -27 and 4901:1 -29 of the Ohio Administrative Code, and Section 4929.20 
of the Ohio Revised Code. 
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Please type or print all required information. Identify all attachments with an exhibit label and title (Example: Exhibit 
A-16 - Company History). All attachments should bear the legal name of the Applicant. Applicants should file completed 
applications and all related correspondence with the Public Utilities Commission of Ohio, Docketing Division, 13* Floor, 
180 East Broad Street, Columbus, Ohio 43215-3793. 

This PDF form is designed so that you may directly input infomiation onto the form. Voii inay a & dbWiilOatf the form by 
saving it to ymir local disk. , 

A-1 Applicant intends to renew its certificate as: (check all that apply) 

n Retail Natural Gas Aggregator D Retail Natural Gas Broker O Retail Natural Gas Marketer 

A-2 Applicant information: 

Commerce Energy, inc. d/b/a Jpst Energy 

6345 Dixie Road, Suite 200, Mississauga OlSf, L5t 2E6 
Legal Name 

Address 

Web site Address www.iustenepgy-cwn 

September 22,2008 

Teiephone No. 905-670-4440 

Current PUCO Certificate No. ^^'^^ Effective Dates 

A-3 Applicant information under which applicant will do business in Ohio: 

Name Commerce Energy inc., d/b/a Just Energy 

Address CrossvraodsCenter,#250 lOOEastCanripusBlvd, Coiumbus, OH43235̂ ^̂ ^̂  I 

Web site Address www.justenergy.com Telephone No. 1:-877-760-b^94 

A-4 List all names under which the applicant does business in North America: 

Commerce Energy, inc. 

Commerce Energy of Oiiio 

Just Energy 

A-5 Contact person for regulatory or emergency matters: 

Name Michael Haugh Title Managerrf^Ulatory jaifeiri 

Business Address 6345Dixie Road, Suite 200iMfSSissauga dN, L5T2E6 

Telephone No. 614-364-2232 Fax No. 905-564-6069 Email Address nihaUgh@iustenergy.com 
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A-6 Contact person for Commission Staff use in investigating customer complaints: 

Name Vanessa Anesetti Title Manager, Corporate & Gpnsunw Relations 

Business address Crosswoods Center, #260 100 East Campus Blvd, Columbus, OH 43235 : 

Telephone No. 866-359-6067x73574 p ^ j ^ , 866^99-3749 Email Address Pf^ustomerfeedback^juslu 

A-7 Applicants address and toll-free number for customer service and complaints 

Customer service address 6345pixie Road, Suite 200, Mfesiî auga ON, L5T2E6 

Ton-Free Telephone No. 1-977^60-0994 Mp^x No. 866-299-3749 Email Address OH_cust(^erfeedback^sg 

A-8 Provide "Proof of an Ohio Office and Employee," in accordance with Section 4929,22 of the Ohio 
Revised Code, by listing name, Ohio office address, telephone number, and Web site address of the 
designated Ohio Employee 

Name Michael Haugh Title Manager, Regulatory Affairs 

Business address 100 East Campus Boiitevard Suite 250 Cdlurihbus, Wo 43235 

Telephone No. 614-364-2232 p^x No. 905-56 -̂6069 Email Address mhaugh^usteneiW.COm 

A-9 Applicant's federal employer identification number 33^769555 

A-10 Applicant's form of ownership: (Check one) 

I I Sole Proprietorship LJ Partnership 

n Limited LiabiUty Partnership (LLP) D Limited LiabiUty Company (LLC) 

LZI Corporation C] Other 

A-11 (Check all that apply) Identify each natural gas company service area in which the applicant is 
currently providing service or intends to provide service, including identification of each customer 
class that the applicant is currently serving or intends to serve, for example: residential, small 
commercial, and/or large commercialAndustrial (mercantile) customers. (A mercantile customer, as defined 
in Section 4929.01 (L)(l) of the Ohio Revised Code, means a customer (hat consumes, other than for residential use, more 
than 500,000 cubic feet of natural gas per year at a single location within the state or consumes natural gas, other than for 
residential use, as part of an undertaking having more than three locations within or outside of this state. In accordance with 
Section 4929.01(L)(2) of the Ohio Revised Code, "Mercantile customer" excludes a not-for-profit customer that consumes, 
other than for residential use, more than 500,000 cubic feet of natural gas per year at a single location within this state or 
consumes natural gas, other than for residential use, as part of an undertaking having more dian three locations within or 
outside this state that has filed the necessary declaration with the Public Utilities Commission.) 

(CRNGS Supplier Renewal - Version 1.07) Page 2 of 7 
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Columbia Cas ofOliia 

Dominiun East Ohio 

Buke Energy Obio 

Vectren Energy Delivery of Ohio 
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/ 1 jif*irCnmimreliil InduMrial 

I ir'̂ i f'•lumiriifl Indusirui 

I •irt'eCi)niniprci4l''Iiulubtnal 

Large Commeatiid / iBdostHat 

A-12 If applicant or an affiliated interest previously participated in any of Ohio's Natural Gas Choice 
Programs, for each service area and customer class, provide approximate start date(s) and/or end 
date(s) that the applicant began delivering and/or ended services. 

| / | Columbia Gas of Oliio 

I / Kcsidcnfiaf Btfitinninir pAlcnf Scriko 7 2.. ^ 

Small Commercial Beginning Date of Service 7/20/05 

targe Commercial Be§Mb)'g l ^ ^ o m j ^ l e e ^ J/20/05 

I I Industrial Beginning Date of Service N/A 

I I Dominion East Ohio 

I / I Resfdential Ki.iiiniiinc Dale uf Sei^KC ' ^ ^ * Z 

Z 

n 

Small Commercial Beginning Date of Service 7/20/05 

Large Commercial Beginning Date of Service 7 >̂C LI 

Industrial Beginning Date of Service 

I I Duke Energy Ohio 

j Residential Hi^iiiiiiiii; D.itL of sc HILI 

Small Commercial Beginning Date of Service 

Large Commerdal Bc^imibiK Datfr(W^Li-\iLe 

Industrial Beginning Date of Service 

I I Vectren Energy Delivery of Ohio 

KiMilrntMl Ik̂ înnmsE Dfiri of Scr\iCL 

MM ill ( iiniiniKi.il BL••>lnnln̂  D.iivnl s m i i i 

I 4ii;:i I itmrnLr^LiI Kit:inninK Dnle'il V-nice 

n Industrial Beginning Date of Service 

I nd D.ifL' f r 

I nd Date 

End Date 

Pnd DJIV 

End Date 

H^x 

Fnd DatL-

End Date 

End Date 

Fnd D.iltf 

I nd DJCO 

1 nd Dati 

End Date 

( • • • • • 

A-13 If not currently participating in any of Ohio's four Natural Gas Choice Programs, provide the 
approximate start date that the applicant proposes to begin delivering services: 
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( ulumbia lias off Ohio InUudid Start Diitc 

I I Dominion East Ohio Intended Start Date 

[7] ^En^^'fi^;::^''^^''^ 
I / I Vectren Energy Delivery of Ohio Intended Start Date 10/31/10 

PROVIDE THE FOLLOWING AS SEPARATE ATTACHMENTS AND LABEL AS INDICATED. 

A-14 Exhibit A-14 "Principal Officers. Directors & Partners," provide the names, titles, addresses and 
telephone numbers of the applicant's principal officers, directors, partners, or other similar officials. 

A-15 Exhibit A-15 "Corporate Structure," provide a description of the applicant's corporate structure, 
including a graphical depiction of such structure, and a list of all affiliate and subsidiary companies that 
supply retail or wholesale natural gas or electricity to customers in North America. 

A-16 Exhibit A-16 "Companv History," provide a concise description of the applicant's company history 
and principal business interests. 

A-17 Exhibit A-17 "Articles of Incorporation and Bylaws, provide the articles of incorporation 
filed with the state or jurisdiction in which the applicant is incorporated and any amendments 
thereto, only if the contents of the originally filed documents changed since the initial application. 

A-18 Exhibit A-18 "Secretary of State." provide evidence that the applicant is still currently registered with 
the Ohio Secretary of the State. 

PROVIDE THE FOLLOWING AS SEPARATE ATTACHMENTS AND LABEL AS INDICATED 

B-1 Exhibit B-1 "Jurisdictions of Operation," provide a current list of all jurisdictions in which the 
applicant or any affiliated interest of the applicant is, at the date of filing the application, certified, 
licensed, registered, or otherwise authorized to provide retail natural gas service, or retail/wholesale 
electric services. 

B-2 Exhibit B-2 "Experience & Plans," provide a current description of the applicant's experience and 
plan for contracting with customers, providing contracted services, providing billing statements, and 
responding to customer inquiries and complaints in accordance with Commission rules adopted pursuant 
to Section 4929.22 of the Revised Code and contained in Chapter 4901:1-29 of the Ohio Admmistrative 
Code. 

B-3 Exhibit B-3 "Summary of Experience." provide a concise and current summary of the applicant's 
experience in providing the service(s) for which it is seeking renewed certification (e.g., number and 
types of customers served, utility service areas, volume of gas supplied, etc.). 

B-4 Exhibit B-4 "Disclosure of Liabilities and Investigations," provide a description of all existing, 
pending or past rulings, judgments, contingent liabilities, revocations of authority, regulatory 
investigations, or any other matter that could adversely impact the applicant's financial or operational 

(CRNGS Supplier Renewal - Version 1.07) Page 4 of 7 



status or ability to provide the services for which it is seeking renewed certification since applicant last 
filed for certification. 

B-5 Exhibit B-5 "Disclosure of Consumer Protection Violations," disclose whether the applicant, 
affiliate, predecessor of the applicant, or any principal officer of the applicant has been convicted or held 
liable for fraud or for violation of any consumer protection or antitrust laws since applicant last filed for 
certification. 

0 No DYes 

If Yes, provide a separate attachment labeled as Exhibit B-5 "Disclosure of Consumer Protection 
Violations." detailing such violation(s) and providing all relevant documents. 

B-6 Exhibit B-6 "Disclosure of Certification Denial Curtailment, Suspension, or Revocation," disclose 
whether the applicant or a predecessor of the applicant has had any certification, license, or application 
to provide retail natural gas or retail/wholesale electric service denied, curtailed, suspended, or revoked, 
or whether the applicant or predecessor has been terminated from any of Ohio's Natural Gas Choice 
programs, or been in default for failure to deliver natural gas since applicant last filed for certification. 

0 No DYes 

If Yes, provide a separate attachment, labeled as Exhibit B-6 "Disclosure of Certification Denial. 
Curtailment Suspension, or Revocation," detailing such action(s) and providing all relevant documents. 

PROVIDE THE FOLLOWING AS SEPARATE ATTACHMENTS AND LABEL AS INDICATED 

C-1 Exhibit C-1 "Annual Reports," provide the two most recent Aimual Reports to Shareholders. If 
applicant does not have annual reports, the applicant should provide similar information, labeled as 
Exhibit C-1, or mdicate that Exhibit C-1 is not applicable and why. 

C-2 Exhibit C-2 "SEC Filings." provide the most recent 10-K/8-K Filings with the SEC. If applicant does 
not have such filings, it may submit those of its parent company. If the applicant does not have such 
filings, then the applicant may indicate in Exhibit C-2 whether the applicant is not required to file with 
the SEC and why, 

C-3 Exhibit C-3 "Financial Statements," provide copies of the applicant's two most recent years of 
audited financial statements (balance sheet, income statement, and cash flow statement). If audited 
financial statements are not available, provide officer-certified fmancial statements. If the applicant has 
not been in business long enough to satisfy this requirement, it shall file audited or officer-certified 
fmancial statements covering the life of the business. 

C-4 Exhibit 
arrang 

it C-4 "Financial Arrangements," provide copies of the applicant's current financial 
airungements to conduct competitive retail natural gas service (CRNGS) as a business activity (e.g., 
guarantees, bank commitments, contractual arrangements, credit agreements, etc) 

C-5 Exhibit C-5 "Forecasted Financial Statements," provide two years of forecasted financial statements 
(balance sheet, income statement, and cash flow statement) for the applicant's CRNGS operation, along 
with a list of assumptions, and the name, address, email address, and telephone number of the preparer. 

(CRNGS Supplier Renewal - Version 1.07) Page 5 of 7 



IT ; -

C-6 Exhibit C-6 "Credit Rating," provide a statement disclosing the applicant's current credit rating as 
reported by two of the following organizations: Duff & Phelps, Dun and Bradstreet Information 
Services, Fitch IBCA, Moody's Investors Service, Standard & Poors, or a similar organization. In 
instances where an applicant does not have its own credit ratings, it may substitute the credit ratings of a 
parent or affiliate organization, provided the applicant submits a statement signed by a principal officer 
of the applicant's parent or affiliate organization that guarantees the obligations of the applicant. 

C-7 Exhibit C-7 "Credit Report," provide a copy of the applicant's current credit report from Experion, 
Dun and Bradstreet, or a similar organization. 

C-8 Exhibit C-8 "Bankruptcy Information," provide a list and description of any reorganizations, 
protection from creditors, or any other form of bankruptcy filings made by the applicant, a parent or 
affiliate organization that guarantees the obligations of the applicant or any officer of the applicant in the 
current year or since applicant last filed for certification. 

C-9 Exhibit C-9 "Merger Information," provide a statement describing any dissolution or merger or 
acquisition of the applicant since applicant last filed for certification. 

PROVIDE THE FOLLOWING AS SEPARATE ATTACHMENTS AND LABEL AS INDICATED. 

D-1 Exhibit D-1 "Operations." provide a current written description of the operational nature of the 
applicant's business. Please include whether the applicant's operations will include the contracting of 
natural gas purchases for retail sales, the nomination and scheduling of retail natural gas for delivery, 
and the provision of retail ancillary services, as well as other services used to supply natural gas to the 
natural gas company city gate for retail customers. 

D-2 Exhibit D-2 "Operations Expertise." given the operational nature of the applicant's business, provide 
evidence of the applicant's current experience and technical expertise in performing such operations. 

D-3 Exhibit D-3 "Kev Technical PersonneL" provide the names, titles, email addresses, telephone 
numbers, and background of key personnel involved in the operational aspects of the applicant's current 
business. 

Applicant Signature and Title r / ^ ^ f f ^ / T ^ C y ^ ^ ^ ExeGirfive\flceF»fesideritiRegulsrtoryand^L^ 

Sworn and subscribed before me this llth^ day of August Month 2d10 Year 

Brahm Nathans, Legal Counsel 

Signature of offlciat^dministering oath Print Name and Title 

My commission expires on 

(CRNGS Supplier Renewal - Version 1,07) Page 6 of 7 



The Public Utilities Commission of Ohio 
Competitive Retail Natural Gas Service 

Affidavit Form 
(Version 1.07) 

t? rovm 

In the Matter of the Application of 

Commerce Energy, Inc. d/b/a Just Energy 

for a Certificate or Renewal Certificate to Provide 

Competitive Retail Natural Gas Service in Ohio. 

-Gounty^of Peel 
"^-Stftteof 

Case No, 02 1828 •GA-CRS 

Ontario 

Gord Potter [Affiant], being duly swom/affirmed, hereby states that: 

(1) The information provided within the certification or certification renewal application and supporting information is 
complete, true, and accurate to the best knowledge of affiant. 

(2) The applicant will timely file an annual report of its intrastate gross receipts and sales of hundred cubic feet of 
natural gas pursuant to Sections 4905.10(A), 4911.18(A), and 4929.23(B), Ohio Revised Code. 

(3) The applicant will timely pay any assessment made pursuant to Section 4905.10 or Section 4911.18(A), Ohio 
Revised Code. 

(4) Applicant will comply with all applicable rules and orders adopted by the Pubhc Utilities Commission of Ohio 
pursuant to Title 49, Ohio Revised Code. 

(5) Applicant will cooperate with the Public Utilities Commission of Ohio and its staff in the investigation of any 
consumer complaint regarding any service offered or provided by the applicant. 

(6) Applicant will comply with Section 4929.21, Ohio Revised Code, regarding consent to the jurisdiction of the Ohio 
courts and the service of process. 

(7) Applicant will inform the Public Utilities Commission of Ohio of any material change to the information supplied in 
the certification or certification renewal application within 30 days of such material change, including any change in 
contact person for regulatory or emergency purposes or contact person for Staff use in investigating customer 
complaints. 

(8) Affiant further sayeth naught. 

Affiant Signature & Title 

Sworn and subscribed before me this' 11th 

Signature Of Official Administering Oath 

Executive Vice President, Regulatory and Legal Affairs 

day of August Montli 2010 Year 

Brahm Nathans, Legal Counsel 

Print Name and Title 

My commission expires on ^'^ 
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EXHIBIT A-14 
OFFICERS AND DIRECTORS OF 

COMMERCE ENERGY, INC. D/B/A JUST ENERGY 

Rebecca MacDonald 
Executive Chair 
First Canadian Place 
100 King Street West, Suite 2630 
Toronto, Ontario M5X lEl, Canada 
Tel: (416)367-2872 
Fax: (416)367-4749 
Assistant: Dinah Medford (416) 367-5930 
Email: dmedfordfgienergvsavings.com 

Ken Hartwick 
Director, President and CEO 
6345 Dixie Road, Suite 200 
Mississauga, Ontario L5T 2E6, Canada 
Tel: (905) 795-3557 
Fax: (905) 670-9462 
Email: khartwickfgjenergysavings.com 

Deborah Merril 
Vice President - Marketing and Sales 
5333 Westheimer Rd., Suite 450 
Houston, TX 77056 
Tel: 713-850-6791 
Fax:713-850-6797 
Email: dmerril(a!justenergv.com 

James Lewis 
Vice President - Operations 
5333 Westheimer Rd., Suite 450 
Houston, TX 77056 
Tel: 713-850-6793 
Fax: 7 13-850-6797 
Email: ilewis(ajiustenergv.com 

Stuart G. Rexrode 
Vice President - Business Development 
5333 Westheimer Rd., Suite 450 
Houston, TX 77056 
Tel: 71 3-850-6792 
Fax: 7 13-850-6797 
Email: srexrode@iustenergv.com 

Robert A. Donaldson 
Corporate Secretary 
Fû st Canadian Place 
100 King Street West, Suite 2630 
Toronto, Ontario M5X lEl, Canada 
Tel: (905) 795-3557 

Jonah Davids 
V.P. and General Counsel 
6345 Dixie Road, Suite 200 
Mississauga, Ontario L5T 2E6, Canada 
Tel: (905) 795-3563 Fax: (905) 564-6069 
Email: jdavids{g)j ustenergv.com 

Beth Summers 
Chief Financial Officer 
6345 Dixie Road, Suite 200 
Mississauga, Ontario, Canada 
L5T2E6 
Tel: (905) 795-4206 
Email: bsummers@justenergy.com 

Robert Scott Gahn 
Director and Executive Vice President 
5333 Westheimer Road, Suite 450 
Houston, TX 77056 
Ph: (713) 850-6794 
Email: sgahn@justenergv.com 

The Hon. Gordon D. Giffm 
Du-ector 
303 Peachtree SO-eet, NE, Suite 5300 
Atlanta, GA 30308-3265 
Tel: (404) 527-4020 
Email: ggifrm@mckennalong.com 

The Hon. Bruce Gibson 
Three Galleria Tower 
13155 Noel Road 
Suite 100 
Dallas, TX 75240-5090 
Tel: 512.476,0022 
Email: bruce.gibson@rvan.com 

Gord Potter 
Exec. Vice President, Regulatory and Legal Affairs 
6345 Dixie Road, Suite 200 
Mississauga, Ontario L5T 2E6, Canada 
Tel: 905-795-4214 
Fax: 905-564-6069 
Email: gpotterfgij ustenergy.com 

Blake Lasuzzo 
Vice President, Supply 
5333 Westheimer Rd., Suite 450 
Houston, TX 77056 
Tel: 713-544-8160 
Email: blasuzzo@j ustenergy .con;! 

Commerce Energy, Inc. 6^3/10 

mailto:srexrode@iustenergv.com
http://ustenergv.com
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mailto:sgahn@justenergv.com
mailto:ggifrm@mckennalong.com
mailto:bruce.gibson@rvan.com
http://ustenergy.com


EXHIBIT A-15 
CORPORATE STRUCTURE 

COMMERCE ENERGY, INC. D/B/A JUST ENERGY 

Enclosed, please see an organization chart depicting the applicant's parent company's 
corporate structure. Commerce Energy is a subsidiary of Just Energy Income Fimd and is 
not affiliated with any utility distribution company. In Ohio, Commerce Energy is 
operating under the name Just Energy. Also enclosed is a list of all affiliate and 
subsidiary companies of Just Energy Income Fxmd. 
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PROVINCIAL AND STATE COMMODITY LICENSES FOR THE 
AFFILIATES OF COMMERCE ENERGY, INC. D/B/A JUST ENERGY 

Company Name 

Alberta Energy Savings L.P. 

Alberta Energy Savings LP. 

Just Energy Alberta L.P, 

Just Energy Alberta L.P. 

Just Energy (B.C.) Limited Partnership 

Universal Energy Corporation 

Commerce Energy, Inc. 

Commerce Energy, Inc. 

Commerce Energy, Inc. 

Commerce Energy, Inc. 

Just Energy Illinois Corp, 

Commerce Energy, Inc. 

Commerce Energy. Inc. 

Hudson Energy Services, LLC 

Just Energy Indiana Corp. 

Just Energy Manitoba L.P. 

Commerce Energy, Inc. 

Commerce Energy, Inc. 

Hudson Energy Services, LLC 

Hudson Energy Services, LLC 

Hudson Energy Services, LLC 

Hudson Energy Services, LLC 

Just Energy Massachusetts Corp. 

Commerce Energy, Inc. 

Just Energy Michigan Corp. 

Universal Gas & Electric Corporation 

Commerce Energy, Inc. 

Commerce Energy, Inc. 

Hudson Energy Service, LLC 

JurisdictioD 

Alberta 

Alberta 

Alberta 

Alberta 

British Columbia 

British Columbia 

California 

California 

Delaware 

Georgia 

Illinois 

Illinois 

Illinois 

Illinois 

Indiana 

Manitoba 

Maryland 

Maryland 

Maryland 

Maryland 

Massachusetts 

Massachusetts 

Massachusetts 

Michigan 

Michigan 

Michigan 

Nevada 

Nev^ Jersey 

New Jersey 

Business 
Activity/LiceDse 
Type 

Gas 

Electricity 

Gas 

Electricity 

Gas 

Gas 

Electric 

Gas 

Electric 

Gas 

Gas 

Electric 

Gas 

Electric 

Gas 

Gas 

Electric 

Gas 

Electric 

Gas 

Electric 

Gas 

Electric 

Electric 

Gas 

Gas 

Gas 

Electric 

Gas 

License/Order/Doc 
ket registration 
Number 

314219 

314218 

325637 

325638 

A-14-09 

A-15-09 

1092 
No license 
requirement 

Order No. 7330 

GM-30 

Docket 03-0720 

Docket 06-0723 

Docket 07-0501 

Docket 07-0455 

No license 
requirement 

538 

lR-639 

IR-737 

IR-1114 

IR-1120 

CS-061 

GS-034 

CS-069 

U-13203 

U-15980 

U-14732 

G-13 

ESL-0046 

GSL-0069 

Date Issued 
mm/dd/yy 

10/27/2009 

10/27/2009 

10/27/2009 

10/27/2009 

10/2/2009 

10/2/2009 
08/18/1997 

8/18/1997 

12/18/2007 

7/6/2005 

12/17/2003 

1/17/2007 

10/29/2007 

09/26^2007 

12/01/2003 

10/30/2009 

7/7/2004 

6/1/1999 

10/10/2007 

10/24/2007 

09/18/2007 

12/10/2007 

6/1/2009 

10/29/2009 

10/29/2009 

07/11/2005 

11/30/2006 

11/9/2000 

01/20/2010 

Name of Licensing Body 
Service Alberta 

Service Alberta 

Service Alberta 

Service Alberta 

British Columbia Utilities 
Commission 
Britisii Columbia Utilities 
Commission 
California Public Utilities 
Commission 
California Public Utilities 
Commission 
Etelaware Public Service 
commission 
Georgia P^ublic Service 
conunission 
Illinois Commerce 
Commission for Natural 
Gas 
Illinois Commerce 
Commission 

Illinois Commerce 
Commission 

Illinois Commerce 
Commission 

Northern Indiana Public 
Service (NIPSCO) grants 
approval for us to operate 
The Public Utilities 
Board-Manitoba 
Maryland Public Service 
Commission 
Maryland Public Service 
Commission 
Maryland Public Service 
Commission 
Maryland Public Service 
Commission 
Department of Public 
Utilities 
Department of Public 
Utilities 
Department of Public 
Utilities 

Michigan Public Service 
Conmiission 
Michigan Public Service 
Commission 
Michigan Public Service 
Commission 
Public Utilities 
Commission of Nevada 
New Jersey Board of 
Public Utilities 
New Jersey Board of 
Public Utilities 



PROVINCIAL AND STATE COMMODITY LICENSES FOR THE 
AFFILIATES OF COMMERCE ENERGY, INC. D/B/A JUST ENERGY 

Hudson Energy Services, LLC 

New York Energy Savings Corp. 

New York Energy Savings Corp. 

Hudson Energy Services, LLC 

Hudson Energy Services, LLC 

Commerce Energy, Inc. 

Commerce Energy, Inc. 

Wholesale Energy New York Inc. 

Commerce Energy, Inc. 

Commerce Energy^ Inc. 

Universal Energy Corporation 

Universal Energy Corporation 

Just Energy Ontario L.P. 
Just Energy Ontario L,P. 

National Energy Corporation 

National Energy Corporation 

Commerce Energy, Inc. 

Commerce Energy, Inc. 

Just Energy Pennsylvania Corp. 

Just Energy Pennsylvania Corp. 
Just Energy Quebec L.P /Juste Energie Quebec 
S.E.C 

Hudson Energy Services, LLC 

Hudson Energy JV, LLC 

Just Energy Texas L.P. 

Commerce Energy, Inc. 

Commerce Energy, Inc. 

New Jersey 

New York 

New York 

New York 

New York 

New York 

New York 

New York 

Ohio 

Ohio 

Ontario 

Ontario 

Ontario 
Ontario 

Ontario 

Ontario 

Pennsylvania 

Pennsylvania 

Pennsylvania 

Pennsylvania 

Quebec 

Texas 

Texas 

Texas 

Virginia 

Virginia 

Electiic 

Elecbicity 

Gas 

Gas 

Electric 

Electricity 

Gas 

Electricity 

Electî ic 

Gas 

Electricity 

Gas 

Gas 
Electticity 

Electricity 

Gas 

Electric (PECO) 

Gas (PECO) 

Gas (Columbia) 
Electiic 
(Duquesne) 

Gas 

Electt-ic 

Electi-ic 

Electiicity 

Gas 

Electric 

ESL - 0083 

Approved ESCO 

Approved ESCO 

Approved ESCO 

Approved ESCO 

Approved ESCO 

Approved ESCO 

Approved ESCO 

Certificate 01-074 

Certificate 02-023 

ER-2010-0034 

GM-2009-0364 

GM-2005-0316 
ER-2005-0314 

ER-2008-0256 

GM-2008-0257 

A-110117 

A-125138 

A-2009-2098011 

A-2009-2097544 
No license 
requirement 
REP Certification 
No. 30061 
REP Certification 
No. 36644 
REP Certification 
No. 10052 

G-22 

E-14 

01/20/2)10 

03/07/2005 

03/07/2005 

09/25/2002 

12/16/2002 

3/15/2002 and 
9/7/2005 

5/18/1999 

03/9/2009 

6/10/2001 

9/22/20D4 

16/06/2010 

02/12/2D10 

07/15/2005 
07/15/2005 

09/24/2008 

09/24/2008 

9/15/1999 

5/19/2005 
December 28, 
2009 
December 28, 
2009 

n/a 

09/14/2004 

03/05/2009 

07/02/2007 

2/26/1999 

10/8/2004 

New Jersey Board of 
Public Utilities 
State of New York 
Department of Public 
Service 
State of New York 
Department of Public 
Service 
State of New York 
Department of Public 
Service 
State of New York 
Department of Public 
Service 
State of New York 
Departmentof Public 
Service 
State of New York 
Department of Public 
Service 
Slate of New York 
Department of Public 
Service 
Public Utilities 
Commission of Ohio 
Public Utilities 
Commission of CHiio 
Ontario Energy Board 

t>)rario Energy Board 

Ontario Energy Board 

Ontario Energy Board 
Ontario Energy Board 

Ontario Energy Board 

Pennsylvania Public 
Utilities Commission 
Pennsylvania Public 
Utilities Commission 
Pennsylvania Public 
Utilities Commission 
Pennsylvania Public 
Utilities Commission 
Regulatory oversight by 
GazMet 
Public Utility 
Commission of Texas 
Public Utility 
Commission of Texas 
Public Utility 
Commission of Texas 
Virginia State 
Corporation Commission 
Virginia State 
Corporaticff! Commission 



EXHIBIT A-16 
COMPANY HISTORY 

COMMERCE ENERGY, INC. D/B/A JUST ENERGY 

The applicant's parent company, Just Energy Income Fund, is a leading independent 
Canadian electricity and naturd gas marketing company, operating through wholly 
owned subsidiaries in Canada and U.S. The applicant is licensed by the Federal Energy 
Regulatory Commission and by the state regulatory agencies in ten (10) states as an 
unregulated retail marketer of natural gas and electricity to homeowners, commercial and 
industrial consumers. It currently operates in seven (7) states and serves close to 100,000 
customers. 

For over ten years, the applicant has been delivering to its customers competitively priced 
and innovative energy products and personalized customer care in addition to quality gas 
and electric services. It continues to focus on superior customer service and providing 
customers with product choices that allow them to buy energy in ways that fit their 
business or personal budget requirements. 



EXHIBIT A-17 
ARTICLES OF INCORPORATION AND BYLAWS 



state of California 
Secretary of State 

I. DEBRA BOWEN, Secretary of State of the State of 
California, hereby certify: 

That the attached transcript of * ^ ' page(s) was prepared by and 
in this office from the record on file, of which it purports to be a copy, and 
that it Is full, true and correct. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I execute this 
certificate and affix the Great Seal of the 
State of California this day of 

MAY 1 1 ffl!0 

b / J k ^ ^ oVwc^̂ ...,.,̂  

DEBRA BOWEN 
Secretary of State 

Sec/Stete Form C£ -iOa (REV 1/Z007) 0 ^ W » 7 » 



ARnCLCS OF mCOI»>ORATtON 
OF 

COMIffONWGAt.TH ENBCGY COmHSRATION 

ARnaEONe 

Thft name of thfai obmiorAtioA te 

iilligiiijnliaiMweAfciwelK^ CORPORATION 

1903803 
PILED 

A«e i s m i 

f 

«m 

ART^lETWO 

.-ik-i"^*-" 

: l ^ f i H ^ t ^ ^ ^ ^ ! ; ^ ^ onsa^A^iinV l i i ^ l ^ l ^ S ^ « ^ for whieh a oorporatkm 
may be ofganinS i in i i^ ] tnei^et i i^ thatitf^i baniMng bueiness, 
nu^iQbmpitfi^^topliJ^ I ^ME iS f6Mtri{}orpertted by the CaRfomia 

^^'^tHil name and address in 
proceae {^i 

•>Sti,»^. i 

fi||em%aervicaQf 

. ^ • • j ^ ~ 

ARTiqi^l^UR 
^ • • • - ^ . , , ' R«tf"« . 'P .* V 

This corpoN^tion Is authorised-te'fom'l i i^ '>^^ ehioratt which shall be daaignoted 
"cmmon^ shares m^ "preferred" eharee. The-INiyiliiiftoiMISf ooR«^i iah«m duStinay be laeued Is 
fifty miyion (50,000^600). The t o ^ numtir of preferratf shares that this corporation shail have the 
atithorKy to isaue is one milHon (t .<X)&,000). Said preferred aharea ehf^i have the rlg^ta, priviledee end 
preferences as determined by the Board of Directois from time to time. 

ARTICLE FIVE 

The tiatHUty of the Directors of the Corporadon for monetarY doHnages ahdl be eltittibiated to the 
fuUeat extent permissible under Celifornia law. 

AlVrjCLJE SIX 

This corporation Is authorized to provide indemnification of agente (as defined in Section 317 
ot the California Corporations Code^ For breach of «kity to the corporation ffi^ its aharefmklers throu^fh 
bylaw provisions or through agreements w!th the agents, or both^ In excess of the IndemnHtcatlon 
expressly permitted by Section 317 of the Cafifcrraa Corporations Code, subject to the limits of such 
excess indemnification set for^ In Section 204 of the Corpo/al|lon Code. 

DATED: August 14, 1997 '̂ —""̂ — 

D • ',r3»«)M\AllTICl.BS 



60505535 

GERTinCATE OF DETERMINATION 
OF 

COMMONWEiULTH mSf tX^ CORPORATION 

MMK i 3 1988 

^mB,umt^m 

fp certify dmt: 
, , , • .•-, • • • , . . i = ^ ^ . f * ^ ; ^ ; s v } ' ' ' • •••••' • • • " - ' S . l ¥ ^ ^ ' * ^ 

4y fnci B i ^ Is dw pR9iidfe|A» abd i l i ^ Mcsosdi is the Sect^aiy, of 
ClominQ&wBalfti fici^igy Cd^pcita^ a Caffibnik ccopaiaiicni (tlĤ  "Compatty"). 

Z Theiiu»ibtt<tfshatc&of Series A Gcmv«rjtlUe îĵ jfened StocksbaU be 1,000,000. 

•A' i 

3. l^^dioD^dbe ' l lp^t^ IS, IS^at the 
Gon^uQr's oC&JDe locî eiJ ait IS941 Re l t ^ A^^ Ste, 2[iO» T n ^ of 
<k9S^9iod.SMcia(QMQnn^ the Mqtiiw^ jt^ liBiiiliNi9i» wxittoi 

if Aitkte Fbur of ^ 

§0 
of .dhfljit»>s9is%i«GD̂  as FttfantBd 

i f l W a x S ^ fiGne- ,d l̂be- d ^ i ^ ' ^ v e -piiKltpi^ 
fiicp^poiatioa as 

hdt€inrabov^isiP%lib7lbi^^ aad (toentutre ttie dg))^ | i ^mD£^ pnyiie^^ and restijctioiis of 

; K P % . T H E K 1 1 0 J ^ B E FT R E S O L V E D that OIGB Boaid (tf EKrtsctcss does heiel^ ptovye for 
the .«s;eaaiice ci Frrfemd Sbares.of Oie Cooqpany ana does btxchy fo and detamine the n ^ % 

PS, privileges, and lestifoiions of, am! other mattets idfl̂ ing to, (hat seties, as fallows: 

I 1,000^000 i^anss sfaaU be designated as "Seri^ A Ccmvi^ble Pr^Enrod Stock*, 
noiieof widdifaavebeaipieviously i^ued, with the pow«s, tnef<»̂ ences, rights, resdi'^dci^ and 
other nLcttteis as follows: 

(1) DividoMb, 

(a) Subject to the ptovisicms hereof, the atttitiat rate of usvi«!̂ flds 
payable on each Share shall be 10% of the <m^ual issue price or die mapdnmn late as alluwed 
by lawi whichever is less. EHvidends siiall be calculated from the date issue and payable, in i»di 
case quarterly on the fixsx. day of lanoary, Apnl, June and September of eadi year {"Dividend 
Payment Date"), commencing January 1,1^8, unless any such day is not a business day (a day 
other than Saturday, Sunday or legal holiday) in whidi event cm the next busiixess day. The 
amount of dividenib payable on these Shares for each full semi-anmial dividend i^riod sbsll be 
computed by dividing by two <he annual rate per share set foath in this Sectioi (a). The atnount 
of dividends payable on these Shares for any period less than each quarterly dividend period 
shaO be computed <m the l^isis of a 360-da> year ci twelve 30-day mondis. Dividends sh&U be 



paid, wh«»i, as and if declared by tlie Bc^ud (>f uuvctors, to reci.nd h o i s t s of these Shares as 
of the close c i business on dse preceding December I with respect to a dividenc* payable on 
January i ; Matdi 1 with respect to a d i v i d e payable oa A]»il 1; May 1 with req)ect to a 
dividend payaUe oa Jisie 1 and Angvit 1 widi respect tc a divkleiid pa;^ble oa Sept^nb^ 1, 
except that if such date for detemiinaacMi of record k)Ideri is not a Bushiess D%y, such date shall 
be die next H^usiness Day (the IMyidend Recotd Date"\ 

0>) Tliehddees Of ^tese Shares; shall be eofided to receive, when, as 
and if ^clais t : by the Bond of Ditet^xs^aad out <^tlie iftssets of die Ckxpomdcm ^ d i are by 
law available fnr dis paynuait of dividends, cumolative dlvickuds payable in cadi. 

(c) 0) Dlvidrads cm these Spates shaO be cmmilative. Soc^ 
dividends dudl accrue finini &e dtf e of issuance and sludl be deemed to accrue from day to day 
whether or not eatbed tnr declared. Such dividends dudl be payable before any divid^ids shall 
be dechued, set 9g»it» OF pAld for the OHnnyar ̂ Siodk, and cdmll be comulative so diat if for any 
dividoid pmod sudi dividends on the OROtslaticfiiî  Prefiisied Sfaases ^ die nite heteiti spedfied 
are iiot pud or dicdaaed add set apoit d u a t t ^ 
setapaAfocfiig^i&elDl^'v^^ s M l 
be paid on, ^ d a i e d , ors^iapartjCbrm JQcaom^ [ \"- '''•/%-':' 

(B) Eac j t J ^^ tMys^u i^ 
Paymi^ Dal^iiod e n ^ l ^ ^ ' d i e nex^ s u ^ i ^ D g IJ^^^deml 1^ INite d̂ oSl te a "pijvjdend 
P^odT. IHvldaidslAjBdiaoc^iebuti«ot^eaU^po^d<tttLdaSLy^bsi^W 
rateh^dfFectatsiidlLriine. •r-'r:^,;-.;,--..,^^ 

(iii) If ^ divicfends oo all ootatatvfillg ^uoes at diat rate por 
diaie set out in (a) dsall not hav« been dec^VKd and {nid or set aside for paym^it for the 
inmediatdy preceding Dividend I ' ^ i ^ die O x ^ ^ 
dcsclat<bdatid|»ud or set aside for p i ^ i ^ for a sulisequent Bividoid 
Period (A) declare or pay cv set aside for paysMaU any drvid«3ds CMT m ^ 
or payments on die Common Stock or (B) malm any payment on account c^ die purchase, 
redemption or other retirement of, or pay (» make available any monies for a dnbng fund for 
t*ie redemption of, any shares of Commcm Stock. 

(2) Mqffldattqft M e m g g -

(a) hi die ev^U of any liquidation, dissolution or winding up of die 
Company, eidior voluntary or invdumary, the hdders c i Series A Preferred Stock diall be 
entitled to receive, prior and in preference to any distribation of any of the assete of the Compiny 
to the holders of Ccnnmon Stock or odier junior equity security by xeŝ Bon of their owiraiddp 
diereof, an amount p ^ sl^re equal to the sum of 0) $t«00 few each oiAstanding share of Series 
A Preferred Stock (the "Original Issue Price"), and (ii) an aniKHmt eqiml to all declared but unpaid 
dividends on eadb such share. If upon die occunence of sudhi cv^it, the assets and fut«ls diu^ 
distributed among the holders of die Series A I^eferted Stock shall be iimiffide^t to permit the 
payment to such hddei^ of the full aforesaid preferenda) amounts, then the entire assets and 
funds of the Company legally available for distribudoii £^11 be distributed ratably among die 



holders of die Series A Preferred Stock in pioponion to the prochict of die liquidation y -1 .n̂ nci-
of eadi such dmre and the roimber of suih shares owned t:^ each sudi holder. 

(b) Aft^ die disAributioi! desmbed in subsecdoii (a) above has been 
paid, the remaudng assets <^ dw Company available 6x distribudon to stocldioMors shall be 
distributed among the hdd«»8 of Ccmnnon Stock pro mta based <m die number of sihaies of 
Common Stock hdd 1^ eadt 

(G) Fnrputposeaof dns SecdonZ, (1) any acqidsttmof tte Compaay 
by means of meiger or odior form of onpocate xeorganizati:^ hi which the fihardiuItoB of the 
Ccmtpat^ do n<>t own a nmjddly of tb& o«itstanAng s i ^ ^ 
of all or substantiaay all vi die assets vi die Company shall be tieatad Tt a liquidation, 
dissohdiiBi or w i s d ^ up of die Con^pu^ and jdudl endtk the hold̂ r̂N of Series A Ptef^red 
Stodt (Old Gomnton ît&ck to recdve at file dcdtig cad^ 
m Sectkios 2(a> iiM('^> 4)d?^ 

<d) Any security to be df^yondlOrA^^ 
Stod& fo i^BdammJ^i^ to $«B«0pSL2ffi\ ; d ^ a ^ be vahiBd as fdBxym,. 

0y S0et]fide« ncft s n l ^ to kkvtmmiA hiSk M ^ ^ ^ ^ 
ie8triQ!SQi0̂ Ô|Qt&i;ê ii]|stf ^ 

Oi> J ^ ; l ^ i ^ ^ ^ n aecurides exd^ i i ^ ihe y«hie siu^ be 

m ^vm^^e^^ii^ ^ a^ j ^ # 

(Jd) Ujj^ydy ttaded over-the-counter, die value diall be 
deemed to be die aveta^ of ^ i b k ^ w ^ aSked^pricea o v e r ^ dbiir̂  CK9 day pcdod 
ending ditee (3) days^or to the ddfii^ and 

(Q If diere b no a<^ve publid madtet, die value s l ^ 
fair m a r ^ value t l ^ ^ , as mutually determmed by die Company and d» lK>lcto(B c£ not less 
dian a majority of the then outstanding duues of Sidles A defected Stock, 

(ii) The mediod of vahiadon of securities 8id>jed to investmn^ kt t^ 
or odier resbidions on free tnarkŝ sdnlily diali be to make an appopriate ^U ôoont fiom die 
market value detertmned as above in clauses (i)(A), (fi) or (C) to reflect die iq̂ pcoiidmBtc &ir 
market value thereof, as mutually detomined by die Ccnnpan^ and die hddos ctf a majority of 
the then outstanding shares of S( Hea A Ihidiened Stock. 

(e) Ihe Company dmll give each hold^ of recoid of Series A Preferred 
Stock written notice of such imf.eiulitig traiu»ctk>n mA later than twnity (20) days pricv to die 
stockholdets' meetitxg called to approve such transaction, c^ twenty (20) days prior to die clodng 
of such transacdoti, whichever is eailier, and shall also notify sudi hdders in writing of the final 
approval of such transacHon. Ihe filrst of such notices slmU describe the tnatftrial terms and 
conditions of mt impending transaction and die provisions of dtis Secticm 2, and the Company 
shall thereafter give such holders prompt notice of any material changes. The tmnsaction shall 



- 1 

in no event lake place earlier than twenty (20) days after the C<Hnpany has given the first notice 
provided for hereto or earliei than ten days after the Company has given notire of any maierini 
changes {nroWded fw herein; inovided, lowever, that such pedod.s may be siioiteacd upon the 
written consent of tl» hold^ta of a tmyority of die shares of Series A Preferred Stock then 
outstanding. 

(3) Canveaion, IheboldMsofSmesA^xferredStockdiailhaveconv^sion 
rights as f(^bws (die "Conversion Rights^ 

(a) Right To QmvCTt Subject to stibsecticxi (d), each share of 
outstanihng Series A Prefaced Stock diall be convertible, at die opdon of dm holder thereof, at 
&ny time after the date of issuance of audi s tee, at die office of die Company or any transf^ 
agent for such stodc, hito sudi number of folly paid and nonassessable shares <i Common Stuck 
as is determined by dUvidlt̂  die Ori^nd Issue IPrice by die Ccmv^Bioa 
for the Series A Pxefî red Stock (the'Gtaiverskmf!dc^ 
for diaiBS of Series A Preferred Stock sbil be die Ori^hid l 3 ^ 
set fordi in st̂ Pfiecticm (d). 

(b) AuiiMBaticCMiieidmL 
automadcally be converted into d i a^o f Comdiicxi St^-^ati(he:^€cM1n^;ibmMce dien in e£fect 
for die Series A Ihxfeized Stock unmediatdy upon (i) the clodc^ aiftkd fide of the Qanprny's 
Ccdniisc^^^lt^ a bcma flyie^ firpdy tmd^writtpa^public oSiraing registered under the Secarides 
Act of iSOlf, as amended ( ^ "Secud^ Act*) F>̂ KSuiuit to a iif̂ gî tiâ iO^ tf«tefnent cmFbrm S-1 
or any 8iK»es&or or simOar fbrm or 0Q die 4^^Kt^0lU^i l&^^^^^I^ .Qf the outstmiding 
diaies of Serfes A PnsMHed Stodc 

(c) M^t^vmMXiQism^ 

(])B^)ieai^holder0f Series A Pnfinred Stodcdudl be eudded 
voluntarily to ccnrvert the san^ into diares d Common Stodc, he diall suttender the o^dficate 
or certificates therefor, duly endorsed, at tihe ofBce df die Con^any OT of any transf^ ag^it for 
nnch stock. a:id diall give written nodce to tl» Company at sudi ofRce that he dects to cmivert 
die same and diall state diraein the mnnber of shares to be converted and the name or names in 
whidi he wishes die cejdficste or certificates for shares of Common Stock to be issued. Ihe 
Company shall, as soon as pracdcable thssafter, issue and deliver at sndi oSice to sodi holdm* 
of S^es A Pref^ied Stock, a ceidficate or c^ificates for the number of diares ctf Commm. 
Stock to which he shall be eiUitled. Such conv^sion shall be deemed to ha^e beea made 
immediatdy prior to the close of business cm the date or surrenda: (tf die shares of Series A 
Preferred Stock to be converted, and the person or peisons entided to receive the ^ r e s of 
Conmion Stock issuable upon such conv^on dudl be treated for all purposes as the record 
holder or holdeis of such shares (tf Qmmion Stock on such date. 

\ii) If die conversion is in connection with an underwriti^ 
offering of securities piHsoant to the Securities Act, die ccmversion may, at the option of any 
hold^ tendering shares of Scries A Preferred Stock for conven^on. be conditioned upon th" 
r̂ >sing with the underwritsrs of *he sale of securities pursuant to such o^^ng, in which event 



person(s) entitled to receive die Common Stock upon conversion of the Series A Preferred 
Stock diati net be denned to have converted such Senes A Preferred Stock until immedfately 
prior to the dosit^ of such sale of securities. 

(d) Adiustments to Convgraon Prices tea: Stock Divider^ and for 
Combhrations or StdxHyiskBas of Comn«m Stock, hi die event that die Company at any time or 
from time to time after die first date of ^ isat̂ jmce of Series A Frefeixed Stock (die tMgmd 
Issue Date") diall declare or pay, widxnU ooDsderatioai, any d i v i d e on die Ckimman 2^ock 
paydite in Cotninon Stodc or in any ligliu to acquire Ckinunon Stodc for 1^ 
effect a subdivid<»i of the Out&tatiding dmres of Common Stock into a greater number ci shares 
of Conunon Stock (by stock qditp reda&udficadon m: otherwise than by ix^mcot of a di^^knd 
in Common Stock KST m any rigbt to acquire Omunon StodO* <» in the evoit the outstending 
diates of Comnum Stock shaU be comlsbed or consolidated, by reclasd^ 
a lesser nnmbcritf dures (tf Common Stodc» dien the Conversicm Price in dfoct immediately 
prior to fflich ev^tdudl, coiiGvaeiiidy widi die dOfectiveaess of such event, be propi^onatdy 
decreased m incteased, as ^qipippdate. In die event that die Conqmiy diall declare of pay, 
without conddetadwi, any ^vidend on die Qnnmon SUxk payaUe in any tigitt to acquire 
Comxncm Stock to no conddoTMioQ, ̂ sn dw CcHn^^ 
payable in Ĉ ^mmon Stock In aa an̂ oimA of s ^ n s equal to die maidmum nmnber of diares 
issuabk upcm exeidse of sucJi rights to aeqdhe Conmvm Stock. 

(e) A ĴBSJPWff feff ) ^ ^ Keinfflifdmte. If die 
Ccmuciton Stock issuSible upon cdnvie^tni of die Series A Preferred Stock dtfdl be diai^;ed Into 
die same or a dlEld?^ number c^ ^ b a ^ 
ret̂ ĝ KtiizatiOb, redfts^csidon ot oibxxwim << jdRx than a sabdlvid<m or comblnatitni ctf diar^ 
provided for m Seed<m 3(d) above or a merg^ (ff other reorgaidzadi^ rrf^ied to in S e c t ^ 
above), the Omvetsion Price dien in e^ct slwll, ccaicttiTe«dy with d» effectrrasess of such 
reorg^Ltazadon or redasslficatkaiy be pstopoidoiutdy adjusted so that the Scries A Prdencd Stock 
diall oe convertible into, in lieu of die number of diares of Common Stodc x ^ d i die boldras 
wodd otherwise have been entitled to recdve, a numb» ctf diares of sudi otl^r class or (glasses 
of stodc eqt3ivalent to the number <tf diaies (tf Common Sikxk that w<»ild have been object to 
receipt by the hd^rs upon oxrversion <tf the Series A Preferred Stock inunediatdy before that 
diange. 

(f) No hnpatrment. The Company will not, by azOKidmeiit <tf its 
Articles of IiK(H|)oratic»i or through any tecvganizaticoi, trmisf^ ctf assets, omsoli^tion, mc^i^r, 
dissolution, issue or sale of securities or any otl^r voluntary action, avoid or seek to avoid die 
observance or performance of any of the t^ms to be observed or performed hereunder by the 
Company, but will at all times in good faith assis*, in tlie carrying out of all the providons of this 
Section 3 and in the ialdng of ai! siKh action a$ may be necessary or appropriate in order to 
protect the Converdon Rights of the holders of the Series A Preferred Stock again^ impairment. 

(g) g^yt'fic t̂es as to Adiustments. Upon the occiwrence of each 
adjustment or :ea<iji?stmcnt of any Converskm Price pursuant to this Section 3, the Company, ai 
its -expense shall promptly compute sudi adjustment or readjustment m wccordance with tb^ tcnrt-?-
hereof and prepare and furnish to each holder of Series A Prefened Stock a certificate cxecute<i 



by die Company's Pres ide en- O i i ^ FSnanciii' < fflcer setting fr;th such adjustment or 
readjufiment and diowing .<n detail the facts upcr \̂ Mch the Omipany diall, upon ihc mincu 
request at any time of any hotd^^ of Series A Preferred Stodc, funddi c^ camn to be fttnitehed 
to such hold^ a like certificate ^tti^ig fotdi (i) such a^ji^tmsnts and teadjustoients, (ii) die 
Convetdon '*e d die titoe in dfoct, ^ d @fi) the number of diares of Ccnmnoii Stock and the 
amount, if an;, of odica'^pit^p^ vriddialdie time would be recdved upim the cotrvetdon (tf 
the Series A'^ f̂orfeeitSISpck:. 

' f e ^ 

^ v/JJ6deeg of Record r ,:. Tn die event that the ConqiaDty diall 
I»X)poe9e at any time: (̂ ) to declare any dividend or ji^juibctiDa o ^ 
in cash, fsoper^, stodc (»; otfacs secuiides, whether or not a regular cadi dividend and whed^r 
oriKst out of eandnga or eaxTiHed siajdiis^ ^ to offer for sibscr^idcm pro mta to the holders (tf 

(iii) to t & ^ O k y m ^ ^ (tf its Cmnnum Stpc^ (mtstand*'^ invdvii^ 
a dttKpi^ | B : ^ ^ t^oSudx^ to ioierge or cxmsc^date w ^ c i r into any odio: 
corpcodion^ or sdl, lease or convey idl ixr stf jeittmti&iiy dl of ill ttsads, o^^y^qf^ tc , dissolve 
ct Wind ^p;;j^a^ m coimecidtmw^ each s ^ event, the Qnu^ttny diidi s ^ tO h e hoil^is of 

m At leafit twenty C20) da^^pdcv written ^ c e of die date on 
on or silbscri]^(in t ) ! ^ (4nd^pec»fyu^ 

SDSJdc dnll be endded diratsto) or for detecnudng 
ff ai^,^i£ te^pe^-^t t» im to m 01^ aiMl:(iv) 

(B) in die case of die matters tiefetred to m 0 ) v t d Ov) above« 
at les^ twen^ (20) days {»dor wrhten notice of the date yiUm fl^ sano^ sbin tda»t^ace (and 
spodfyidg die ^ e on ^Mfh die hoUem of Consonon StO(dE;̂ ial] be ostitled to exdumge dieh 
CommcHi Stock for secmities or other pso^Nty ddivc»able upon die occucr^ice of soc^ event)* 

(ly ReaeflKition bC^toek Issuable Uixm amv«don. The Cemipai^ 
^laii at all times reserve and keep avaikble out of its audiorized bi^ unissued shares of Ccmitnon 
Stock, s d d y &» the purpose (tf efforting the conveidon of die diares of the Series A Preferred 
Stocky sudi number of its shares of Commem Sto(^ as shdl fr̂ tttn time to tinte be sufUdent to 
etfect tbe converdon cf aU outstandhig diares of tlK̂  Series A Prderred &odq and î  
die number ctf aiidiozized but udsSued diares of Conmicm Stock shaU n<n be s u ^ 
die cmverdcm (tf all then outstanding diares of the Series A Preferred ^todL die Company will 
take sach corporate action as may, in the optnicHi cf its counsd, be necessary to increase iUt 
authorized but unissued shares or ComoKxi Stock to such number of diares as shall be s^tfftdent 
for such purpose, tncb^ding, ^b(»2t liniitaU(Hi, engaging in best efforts to obtain d^ reqmsite 
stockholder approval of any nece.<isary amendment to this Certi^cate. 

(j) Practiofa l̂ Sh^^ . No fractional share shall be issued upon die 
conversion of any share or shares of S^es A Preferred Sto<^ All diaies of Common St<>ck 
(including fracti<ms thereof) issuable upcm conve^ion of more than one duue ctf Series .A 
Preferred Stock by a holder diereof shall be aggregate; •-. purposes of determining whedier the 
conversion would result in the issuance of any fractional share. If, after die aforram^idoned 
dggregi^on, the conv^sion would result in die issi .-̂ nc? of a fraction of a diase of Coroinon 



^ a p ^ e a . * ^ 

the CoUipany shall, in lica of ii^ing any fractiond share, pay die holder otherwise 
imtiued to sadi fracti<»i a sum in cash equal to die faik markd vdue of s»ich fraction on the date 
of ronveision (as determmed m good fddi by the Board of Directors). 

(k) Ntrtices. Any notice requfaed by die ptovtdcms ttf tins Secti<»i 3 
to be gtvea to die holders of diares of Sraies A RreferrcH) Stock shall be deemed ghren if 
depodted m the United States mail, postage pr^oid, aud addressed to each holder of record at 
his address app«ir4kg,(m jihjgr boms (tf 1^ 

(4) Y(?<iftgRiri«^ The hold^ of ea(^diare(tf Series A Ptefened have die 
right *o one vote f-*r each share f>f Ctxnnion 5t'ck into which such diare ti* M-H-̂ -S. A hxfcrnni 
Stock could bo converted oii ibo it-cord date iui liie vote or written consteui ô . i-iockiMiUers. iw 
aB cases any £^»^ti(|^l share, del^tr|iined on m c^fi^gate convera^ bads, d ^ l be rounded to 
' ^ r i K i i ^ . t s ^ e ^ i^]^Qi i i t^edi l^^s i^ votî , la idi lud^ diidlhave fiiO voting rigites and 
ppwen; êEEOjd IP dte y Q ^ 4 | b l ^ a n c ^ i ! ^ # die h o ^ ^ OHumaa Stod;; imd shall be 
entitle^ hoiwi^afflDai^ ai^'i^ovL»Eq^>^^ npd'^raf a ^ docldidd|«» mee^tig hi 
9cc(̂ §̂̂ xux ̂  ^ byî w«l<x̂  ̂  O m ^ ' ^ ^ ^ M be &aM^4^^e^~igs^s^ wiii^iyddets 
of ^ ^ ^ | ( a ^ w t d . 3 ^ ^ to Mi^^l^^^^din nitodi hcS^^ctf CoiniHon Stock have die 

Sf 
J. A i r ' ' 

eliminated Inim the d i^ i^ i^ id i 

, iStocfc. tedwev^tcra^duttea.^ Series A Prefepi^ 
""'M Ŝ̂ Edion ^ hereo^lte d(aK^ i^'3Sav^eirsha!l be cammed 

retired and f apd a l l G ^ ^ k a ^ . 

{6f Sestrictkms md 
^1' 

T'-'v.''-'^ 
So loiijiifas 'smy &&ares of $ e ^ A Feeferred StQ(^ loffiain outstan^ng, tb^ Cos^saQr diall not, without the vote or wratteH cosmc^ by die 

holdos of at least a majcoiiy df die dte^ cniiSlBnii^ diares of Series A Pcderred Stock; amcmd 
th^se Artid^ (tf Xncorporatioa ll.^^^^f0nfstidsa^ advcisdy afXect my (tf die rights, 
prdeienccs or pffv&$^ provided for tadn for ^ ber^fit <tf die Series A Prefened Stodc 

R£SOLV£D FURlOBOEâ  dut die Pieddent and Secretary (tf die Compatiy 
and directed to iH»pare, execute, verify, and me in die ofHcB of die C ^ 
a Osrtificato of Detmimmtioti in accordance widi this lei^hidon as xeqpiiied by law. 

WE FURIHER DECLARE, undrr penalty of perjury under die kws ^ d i c State <tf Cdifonda, 
diat the matters set fordi in tSiis C^ti/lcate of Determination are true and corr^;c of our o^m 
knowledge. 

ExeDiisd d:is 22nd day of September, 1 9 9 ' ^ ^ t a 



feOPY 
pMLABLE 

• 1 * - H 

• I - 9 0 0 10 
/•^OVgiV, 

:f!RtS'J?5«-y-SM* 

CERHBICATE OF AMENDMENT 
OF 

AiiJfCIJSS OF mc6la>OIlATION 
OF 

com«mma3s.mmQY CORPORATION 

M ilnH w (Ssni 

FEB i 9 I90i 

tfM 

1 ^ ondeadj^ c e ^ y ioii 

1. They are die i^deait and vccnesbasy, re^pect^ly ttf COMMONWEALTH 
I^IEfcOY C0RF0RA1K>N, a Cdifofok corpomtiGn. 

2. Artlck Four of die Artides of ||tt^tii|^»i^^ dds cerpomtioa is amended to 
readafi foUowK - 'K.-.V.S« ., 

This ccx^^tion kaof tonb^ tmj0^$i^ci9ha!^ yttadb. diaB 
M"4k'i&^6EA''^&iymi^ toi^ «miotmt of 

of presetted d i ^ i^^ii^iBi^s^fca$i^ to itesue is ten 
imlMmi (10,00^306!^ T ^ 

-•t^AiV- (•!rt7*-*''i 

3. 

4. 

ifkcijgejgaBs^ been chify Qi|NPdved by 

Ihe foregoing amendni^ftf Aiddcs of InootpO^^Mias^^ 
^ ieipred y&bb;^^l^^^^,pk ^wcot̂ mce >yidi Section 902 fl«Kl Sccticm 903, 
Califonda CorpoQ îi»is Ctid^ IQus total nwiher of outdaniEng common diares 
^ dke cor|N»»uuu is I 0 ^ ^ l . tbi^ mn&b^ cf diares voting la &vor of die 
îttuAntttttittfê îaAN^ Ihe p«tf<C9iitage vote lequbed 

was mom than 5&%. The totd number (tf outstanding pt^erred diares of the 
catpcwfition is 919,000* The numlxir of diares vctit^ in favoi (tf the amendtnect 
equaled (sexcs&eded the vote requited. The pocentage vote required was more 
dianSO%. 

We furdo^ declare under poialty of perfury midcâ  the laws of die State c i Cdifonda dmt die 
matters set fotdi in this certificate are tirue and correct of our own knowledge. 

Date: December 21, 1998 

Donnie E. Price, tiecretary 

\ -̂ M i •. \C03*iriH\ ftWi:4T--AB t . i 
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AGREEMENT AND Î LAN OF REQROANIZATiahf 

J H I S A O R E E M E I ^ A N D R A N C f f R E C » » } A N I M T I ( » } . ^ 

E£NEItGYOR^JP,INC.,aDdBWBieompORdtmandB ' 
£ i e d idu^ty^owned iiiibaUiaiy cf C o H ^ ^ 
ACC^JISrriOM CC^tP^ ft CaU&oda (Oipoaden and a i S v ^ 
CoouBCice Eneigy ("MrSerSiKi^ 

WITNESSETH: 

WraKEAS. OnaoMiQiiweddi i i a pddidy hdd C i l i f i ^ 
onmnim stock ttgiaie»ed lader SectioB 1 2 ^ imiier die S e c t ^ ^ 

WHEREAS, pitfSUBd to Coiimiaa«»ddi*8 Aitidcs of Incoipontfioii, C ^ ^ 
nny issue up to filly millHm (5IMNXMI0Q dnies (tfcoimaoQ s t ( ^ 
CtTeMnomtwdlrli Omuten J K o c ^ 
i!^Qmmimmd^?rtfBni^SiiuXy^ 

WHEREAS, Ooanmaawealtfi aid Commercft Energy have caused M e i | ^ 
or^daedfoaiesolepnqiioicofeflfeGlmtiBgdietiannKtraasoomei^^ 

WHEREAS, die Boanb of (Mfecton ttfConuDOVRieallK 
Sub eadi bam q^oved d n Mergv (as ddmed k SecdMi 1.1 b ^ 
AgmoBoem and die C^Gficmm Coipoiadons CMe (dw " ^ 0 * 7 ^ ^ 

WiiiBREAS, fiir iltfaEd incoaw tax pwpoaes, h is intended !h^ 
as a leotgamaadoa tBder S e ^ n 36S of die Internd Revenue Code itf* 19^^ 

WHEREAS, concninody widi d e oEeendon of dds AgreoQfiiit, to induce C Q ^ 
&iergy to enter into dds A^cormit, die holdeis of Omimonwealfli's Series A C o n v e r t 
Piwfoned Stock, no par vdue per d u e (die *'Saiea A Pre&n»d StDdO^ 
Comrerdon AgieemeDl (the "Camvrdion jd^^wfiiiwini 1 ^ ^ ^ 
66 2/3% <tf the oulstaidhig dnies of Scries A PidSffied Stodc didl i | ) ^ ^ 
die outstaittfing shares of Seriea A Pietocd Stodt imo Ctunmoiiwealdi C o i n i ^ 
hnmnfiately i»jor tote Mergen 

^ NOW,THERgX)RE,inconMdgBdon<rfd»yierai8Mandteagycemcirtsheidn 
contalBBd, and intendhig to be l^aQy boimd hodiy, Coraimmwealdi. C(Mn^ 
Meiger Sd> heidiy apee as felk>ws: 

FILED/^5 
M 

^ JUL0e2flW 

KMN8ICUfir.lMHHr9r8Mi 



ARTICLE 1. 

IHEMQIC^BR 

SBCnOH U TftffMrgar* AtteEffediveTfaneaniiiipondieinnaandsddflGtto 
te cond^oos of das Agieencm and fia aeeoataoi widi dw C o q x n ^ ^ 
shdlbeiBe^wit |baidhMoCoinmoinwddi(te ' 'M^^ FdkiwiiigteMttser, 
CosuQoiifw^ih shall eondow as te sundv^ ooqwrdiaa ( t e **S1H^ 
te lepMte eoipimne cdsteaee of Msiser S ^ ten cease. 

SECIIQNI^ ^fieUwTtm- SddccttotemaaudcoDdUloiiasetfbidihidds 
AgwBiuiint, certificates itftiwoflloers of CoHiiiioin^ 
applkabte nqoiienicms of te ConMratfott Code 0^''Oiv^l'calSn 
executed aad teraate driiveredL tegater«i^^ Agreement totl»SeeietatyitfSl^ 
Slate of CditedatefilingpunttnittoteCttiptmdonsC^ 
M o n ^ t e O o ^ D a t e . Thel^M^shdlbecomeefilj^yeatsttdithiieasdiisAffeemei^ 
togpdier widi te Ceidfieaies of Appnwa^ m d i ^ filed widt te SeoetBity o^ 
of Qdifiiima in aoeoidaaee widi :he Cdqwiaiti^ 

SECnONU C b a ^ . Ihecto8faigofteMetBer(te'*C/aisAit8^winttej^ 
time and on a dote te be qierified ^ te parte as soon aa pnwdcdde afltt sidsfiKdon ^ 
(tf tecmditiaiisad IMi l a ^ r i ^ 2#e"CEnri>v£W7. at te o i l ^ ^ 
JaaofilGy A Wdkor LLP, <i9S Town Center Drive, Sevei^eendi FUkir, Costa l i ^ ^ 
at! 

fflSCTiONU l^.!MrftheMff^. The Moserahdll iavete^teU set forth mdds 
Agnemeai and te Coipoittions Coda. 

SECTION I i ChaivandJB^ikms. IheAitUes^tflncoipondiimofCommoaweahh 
mef&ctdteBffn^telhiieteUbeteAiti^ofinGOiporBdonDfteSuryidi^Coq^^ 
nntilameodedhiaccoRlBncewitbapi^cdiielKw, TheBylwmttfConHnottWealdibieftetatte 
E£bcdve Time ten be te Bylaws of te tevivitig Coipoialkm ^ 
with <9plicd^ law. 

SECTION 1.6 Dir^aorsandCffUm' 

(ti^IXrvcian and Officers qfCiMmmmEnn^. TbecfiicetocstuidofiRoerBOfConmievee 
E n e ^ Jmmediaidy p t e to te Efifective Tine didl be te offioen and d t a ^ 
Ei»gy as of te Effixtive Time until dMy are lOBOvê  
provinons of te Certificate of Incorpoidkm and Bylawa of Comnia«e Energy. 

(^)Dkei^mmidC^SkmifSiinfm^Cmpormkm, ThediiedofsofCoihiiiomvedth 
iininediatc^ prior to te Efi&dive T^ne dull Iw te duect(»s aid ofiloas of te Snniving 
Coipoiadcm as of te Efifecdve Time and until telr le^ecliye suece»K>Ks am electa 
qualified or until diey tte leoioved or tedgn in accoidanoe widi te pfovidons of te A r ^ 
hicoxporttkm and Bylaws of te Survivhig CcnporatitML 

OCi34IDM.4 



SECTION 1.7 CmMr^mcfSham, 

{i^Cm»en^m€fCmmmm^hCemmimSta^ At teEifodWeUmo, eadi share of 
Omunonweahh Conunon ̂ odcbsued and outstand^ j 
(imiivklttdfy a'^Sfarv* and edieetivdy. te *^Sh^^ 
indidhig any teies (tf ConuKiiiwedth Coimaott Stock Issued ptSiHr to te £ £ ^ 
coovetatoa 4tf « y Coomioflweddi Ptelteed Stodc or CKBidse of Dmunonwea^ 
(as defined hi 5cc«^/ . 9 bdowX by virtw of te Meiger and witeut any »tiim on te ^ 
aiyBeiwn,ahaH be converted into and bei»nie<»efii^pdd and nonawcsiattesia^ I 
otmnaonatock, $J001 par vahttperabBfe,ofGainDWice Qiflqfy ( ^ 
Sbdf^ aid any outttandii^fhkctiondsbaces of Conunon i 
oonvertBdlnteeqiidfiactiondsbaieaofOanuncioeEuetgyCimnttanSteck. Forpmpoaesof 
tids Sedioo I J(i^, A«es of CoomoiKwealfii Ooamm Stec^ 
Commoniwe^i Planed Stodc pikr to teBIRxdv« Time sfadi be deeoMd to be i s s ^ 
outBtfOKfingunmeteidypflDfteteEActivaTfnifl. The terai''J*af»iir means any todviduaL 
coipoxaEtioii, partneidiipi limlled lid}Uiiy conqn^r, 8 ^ ^ 

ilst)Nim^st<mOmmmm9aikPf^arklS»t^ Atte£flbctiveTiB»,eadidiBieof 
ConuttonwealtfiJtefigned Stock issued and odalittdii^imTnediateiyprkir 
and not oonvvrted to Conumniweddi Omimoa Stodc prior to te Efife^ 
uoaOected by te Meign and dnB leasdn CttiiBioiEweaMi ^ ^ 
and leiain afi te rights and pnfbences of such Coimao^^ 
by Coiunaoiiweald '̂̂  Arlldcs of Ineoipomtioii, BylanK^ 
be. Noddogheii^sii8nbedeemedtogRBttooiweidaorigiitstoanydiBres(tfConan(mwc8hh 
Prefened Ŝ iodc not odiendse gnaled ponaistt to Coomaan^^ 
Bjdows, or «dier f^plicoble law; as te case may be. 

(c)Qmv&siottofMtrggr&A Slock, AtteE(!bdiveT1ine,tednie8ofG<»mn(mstodc» 
par vahie $.001, of Merger Sub isued and omstavfing iramaUaidy prkir to te E l t e ^ 
dl of wlMi am owned of lOGoid by Commcice Energy, tell, 1^ virtue of te M e r ^ 
vddiout any action on te part itfttiy Psisoa, be eonveited into oi aggregate nmnb«r (tf te 
teres of Gonmnn stodc, no par value per sluuê  of te Surviving Coipomtion equd to te 
number of teres of Commcme Eneigy Comsimi Stock imo i d ^ d i ^ 
Conunon Stodc aie cQiwerdbie d te Effective Time pursuant to Section 1.7<a) above. 

(d)GanedldJdnqfCoiiinwreefiief;gp5%arei, Atte^Rx^]veTiine,eaditereof 
capitd snock of C<»imicste Enngy Issued and ouBtan^ hnmediatdy prifwte te B f t o l ^ 
Time shdl, try vbtne of te Metier aid vvfifliout tfiy action on te part (tf any Person, be 
cancelled, retired and cease to edst and iwpi^ment didl be m ^ idth resp^ 

SECTION 1.8 ^orescfDIsstm^lfyiders, NotvridistandhiganytiiingtoteoonliBiy 
comained in this Agnement, any hdder(tf Shins witii respea to iM ŝidi teaenieis* r ^ ^ 
granted by reason of te Meiger under te Cnpoiatkws Code and who docs not vote hi fii^ 
te Merger aid who oterwiw complies wHh Chapter 13 of te Cocp(Hratkms Code fX^ci^^ 
/)/3»mingSfta'V3'0 didl am be eidtied to xecdve shares of Ckinmia^ 
punuant to Section 17(a), iBdess such holder finb to pei£e«t. elSsctivdy wididraws or kKtes 

oca«ottA 



>fe:.!"#gam!^'gip^»^ 

ri^todissGntftomteMeigerunderteCoipontiottsGode. SudihdderteflbeenHtelto 
recdveodytepi^mMtpraddedfiirlQrauipieriaofteCoipM^^ Ifaoysuch 
holder 80 fidlatoperlbd.e£bdv^witetaiis(vliMestediase^eni*r^hlSttttte 
Ccipcn^ons Code, audi holder's Conqni^ l^ssemhig Items dudl temuf^ 
Inve been ctmveited, as of te EfifiMtiveTinter hdo teri^ to receive shares of CoBuneiee 
Baeigy Coomiofi Stoiik poauanft to Sectek I t7(iO. 

SECTION 1.9 Stoctq^lom. 

{B)C7m9r^tmpfC<m9iaigf^)^Cptkms, AtteEfifectiveTfan^eadioutStaiding 
(^dcm to puntee diues ofOoQunmiweitt Common Slodc (a *X^ 

CoBuneavwdii'a BoMd (tf I teetoa t^ott^ <tf te ¥hni, v i ^ ^ 
assumed by Onmneioe EoBigy h audi a aMomer daft it b oonverted into m 
Oonmieioe Energy (ead^ a X:biiiR«ree tet^ CjprloiO to Boq^ 
temu aid s d ^ 10 sitetaaiiaUy te sflsne cottdftiona as warn appticable w 
Stock Option, te same nunter of ahaies of Conmieice Energy Common Stock as te hoi te cf 
swA Coapaay Stock Optei wodd hsm been edided te leceto 
supfa holder cwwrfsed sudi option fa fldlattoiedialdyiidor^ 
teae eqod to (i) te aggtegte eiieidse prioe te te d i m <tf Onnraon^^ 
odwrwise pwtesabk piusuam to audi ConqMny Stod: Option, dlv^ 
ahacea (tf Commerce Enetgy Conunon Stodr deemed pwtesable puRtoint to s u ^ 
StodcOptam. 

# ^ Oi)S^s^vihmSUaamni. Commerce Eneigy shdl take afiooiponte action 
^ ^ toitseiveteissvanceasuffidemimifllMrofdunattfQmunaeelneiivConuncmSt^ 

ddiveryupon«Eeroi8eofConHneiceEfcieigyOptioisfai8Cooidnn»^R^llHsSe As 
soon as {Bactieabte a t e te ERbctive Thne, Commeice Energy shaU file posMRective 
amendnieate to CoinsiomNeddi'8iq|st»ti(m statements (m 
aiqr successor or other appropriate fonns)» widi icspedtotediaies of CtimmereeBimg^ 
Common Stock sd;ied to te Qmmeioe Eneigy Optmns and diaQ use Its best dtet^ 
nuintam te dibctiveness (tf sudi ledstodon st8teme!!tf(s) (and mdmain te c u n ^ 
pn)9eetus(es) coatamed diedn) fiv so kMv as te Coimtteme Eneigy Options remahi 

SECTION 1.10 ^roeftCen^lcates. FtoniandateteE£foetiveTlme,sd^edto 
Section l,7,anofteoutstandingcertificali» did nqpicsented shares ofC(Mnmoawed& 
Common Stc^ hnniediatdy prior to te Eftetive l l sn ted l be detailed for all pmposes to 
evidence ownecsl^ of, and to tcpiesent, i tees (tfConuMvce Eneigy Go^ 
te shares of CommonmdtiiCinmncm Stodc tenoiy iqvesni^ 
berai converted as provided k tills ̂ {nement The r^stered owner on te boob and recoct itf 
ComuKice Energy or its transfix agon of any outst»K&9 stodc certificate diaO, until audi 
certificate shaHhayebecn aiirnideied tetrandbr egodierwseaccounted for toCom^^ 
Energy or its transfer agi»it, have and be entided to exeidse ai^ voting and odier rigtas witii 
respect te, aad te xecdve any AvUends and ̂ her (fiatrlbutionB î son, te diania of C ^ 
Eneigy Conmon Stodc eWdemred by such outstendhi^ e^tifkates «H^ 
cepteaented teres of (̂ ommonwealtb Common Stock. 

ocf^$Sfin.A 



ARTICLED 

G(M)rTKMI TO CONSUMMATION OF THE MOUrat 

^CIHD^Zl ConditeirteJSUiPiir9^>C»i^ The 
lespe^ve ob%itioaB of ̂ adli poly heiete to afibct te M ^ ^ 
or prior to te Eflbctive Time of te &ltowii« o H s f i ^ ^ 
sudipar^ 

{u)HoRe8trahus. No court or goveinmenttltsd^ofcoa^petantJuriadktiQndadl have 
enaetcd, tepcd^pmiMdgaiBdt enforced or entered any law or order (vteter leni|KMncy» 
pidindnaiy orpemuBMltt) dttd meffiwt,ti^otn8 or odKiwIse p n h ^ 
Meiger Gontenq^rted by fids AgteeEMaC and no j u d ^ d 0^ 
a ^ sudi lesdt didl Gootimie te bepoiiBg. 

(b)Awm5^Je^gM«i«ofi5Mavcnf. The vegialndtmstetementtm Form S*4 to be filed 
witbteUiLSeeuriteandEiMtei^CoinndsakmbyConuunefinergykcoi^^ 
issttttaoe (tf teres of Gonnnen» &Mgy GonunM Stodc to te Meiger didl h ^ 
dtetivennteteSecniteAotttfmaKddHainotbetesuyeetofaiQratopoiteor 
piooee^nga aeddng a step oite.. 

(c) Afifpifrttif̂ figswHSifo. AUieipiindapprcnrd^ licenses and ceitlfiiiatitins fonn, ttid 
intificateis and fi&igs to, govenanemd eidties and no!H|o>^^ 
been()btalttedormade,asandicdile. 

A B H O B S . 

TERMINATK»^ 

SECTION3.1 Ttn/dttotkm, TUsAgnementniaybetemtettdatanytimepriorto 
te Eflbetive Time, wheter belto or a t e apjprovd 1^ te teididden of Coumo 
te alfinnative voteof a mi^ori^ oftedoectenofcadiofCommonwedtiiaid 
Eoezgy. ThisAgieenienttelld8obel»minatedpriortoteEffb^veTiQieunle»{i)te 
ooBvertei of 1009^ (tfteouiaaBifingteres of SoiflsAPi^lnied Slock h i toComm^^ 
Conunon Slo(^ shaU have been eoosenmialed prior to te aosing Data^ (il) t l ^ Agteeme^ 
have been appioved by te mqdsite vote of te diarclidden (tfCdnmonwedti^ Cotemei^ 
Eneigy and Merger Sd> and ̂  te Q|»don (tf Pad, Hastily Juiofiky ft Wdker LLP, ^ ^ 
to Cimmionwealtii, addmased te Camnosweddi and its teididdtta to te ^ ^ 
MergfBT vriU be tieatad te Fedeid tacome lax poroses as a mvgsitedcm onder Secti(m 3 ^ o^ 
te Code te^ have been d^vered and audi oi^itea sloQ not have been ̂ ^didrawtt w 
inai^matetidtespect. 

S^rnON3.2 i^^</7;Brmfriati^ biteeveDtoftetemdnationoftiibAgreMiem 
porsuam to Set^on 3.1. tins Agnrenied shdl fbrtiiwitii become w ^ and have no d ^ 
any liaUlity on te part of any party Iwtdo or its nfllllates, directors, (tfScm 

0Ci34SHM 



MBHSHMil 

ART1CLE4. 

MScmLANEOUS 

SBCnON4.1 NaOces. Alln0tioei^mqpesls,da!te8,denuindamdother 
coninnmicatkioshewwaderteB b e n writing and ahwH be ̂ hwi(an^ 
been dnl^ ̂ ven iqpon leoĉ pO by drihiefy te penon, by cd»B^ t d ^ K ^ 
festered or certified madl (podage pN|n^ Klnn receipt requested), to te otiier pai^ 
Mows: 

iftoCoamneice Energy or MerprSdK 

i f to Comfflonweaidi to: 

witiiacopyto; 

Graia)«aee£sDCigy QiotQii Inc. 
15901 Red HIE Avem, Suite too 
T^iBlbi,CdifomiB92nO 
Attention: Ian B. Garten OtiefExecdive Officer 
FKdidls:(71'Q2l^^3S 

CoBomonweaMi Energy GoqtealkHi 
1S90I Red HOI Avenue Sdte 100 
T^utin. Cafiforda 9Z7IK> 
Attention: Ian B. Ovter, Cbief Executive Office 
E K t e t e (714)259-2538 

tad, Hastings, lancddcy ft Water LLP 
695 Town Cnter Drive» Seveaaeendi Pfaw 
0»te l ten ,CA 92626-1924 
Anaateu Jdm P. Ddla Gkotta, Esq. 
Faeafadle: (714) 6684310 

ortosHch other addmaaastepexaontowhomaotioe la t^Nwmqr have pievtouilyfii^ 
teotiwr in Moitii^faitemanaersdfiHdi above. 

5ECTI0N42 iteteroMrGspite. FbrpoqNMeaofti&AfnwwntwbNieverte 
GostcKt reqdrea, te rai^dbrttunter tell itttefe te | t e d , and vice versa, and each geodo-
shaQ inchde aU geflden. 

SECTfON4.3 EHdreA^um&it, This Agreement conatkutesteentesimenient 
b^ween te parties hereto widi reelect te te s d ^ nwtter hereof and siyiCRu^ 
agieemems and undetstuMfings, b(diwiittai n d oial, b e c i ^ 
sdijea matter hemoC 

SECTION4.4 As^pmaa, TinsApnoneititeilnotbeasslgnedbytypNationaflow 
<v odierwise; pruvldKf, AoMVv̂ , tiid Meiger 5d> may asvgn ai^ 
obtigations imder tills Agreetnent te ei^ otiier aobddlaiy of Coittmence Eneigy. 

SECnoN4.S ^menteeitf. This^teOMBtinivbeameoKtodby actiontdanby 
ComnKmweattii, Commerce Energy and Met!^ Sdi d 81^ tioK! befim or afier q ^ ^ 
Meiger by te duffdwlders of Owuttoiiwealdi Of reqdred by flpptiedde hnw) bu^ 
approvd, no amendmem tell be made widdi reqobes te appiovd of audi shaic^oldefs under 

OGa4504M 



iftii«iiiiiiji!ii»i|i|iiiiiiiiiiiipiii!:ipp 

i$q[^cablelawwxtiioutaudiappiovd. ThiaApeementBu^notbettnendedeitei^byaa 
inrtrommtrnwrfttogsigwdon behalf flftepartJeahacBto. 

SECTJlOHfS t̂BOmr. A t m ^ iMttor to tbe Effootive Thi^ ^ Pdiy heieto (fixr 

C o t e t t i i i m i ^ ^ witii 
aoyofte^ill i ippiior At^agim^cmdieilBrtofdtiia'pBi^ 
hneto tfr t t t V i f ^ ^ v e r ^ P I 
bel»lfoii^^]^%. IheiMfiTOctfdtepflff^hentotoassertanyofitsfij^ 
not oonstitnte a' 

SE£rnON4.7 CToMm^Zov. This Agteanwit tell begovemedly and eonstruedm 
aoeoidance vntii te kws (tf te State of OstifiimiB» wtoKid r^aid to te p i ^^p te 
(tflBwtiieieo£ 

SECTI0N4JI Headhtffu TbebeatephitidsJ^^e^Bffi&tnKeinfleitodforotuivenieQoe 
of i ^ r n c e (MĴ  and are not inleaded to be part ̂ o r to a£fed te ineoteg or i t ^ 
this Agreement. 

SE€TlQaM45 ParOtathiAuarM. TUaAgmmeat shdl belanifingupon and inure 
solely tc^ti^bc&t^ of eadi | « ^ 
pnivked to Siaitioo 4w4k notid^ 
ecmfor qponai^oter peisoB ai^slglita, beodite or reinedh» of ^ 
byi 

SECT1DN4.10 ^ m a k ^ IfanytemKffotiierpfovi^onoftidaAgtennaatis 
invaE(L llkgd or unenforeeable^ d l otiier pmdd(HB<tffids Agreeittett shdl rondh In 
and eftet so kmg aa te economic or kgd adiftaicc of the transactions contemplated hereby 
not afiEbcted m aoy manner materUly advHse to any party. 

SECnON4.11 Qmmerperts. This AgMemetitm^ be executed in one or move 
counteiqparts, e a ^ of widdi teU be deecned to be an (»i£jnal, bm all of vrfi^ 
onoi 

OC/M3M&4 



M W H M H h 

INWmaSSWHEXEOF.eaciioftteiNHtialusGauMdtiiitAcneffleiitW 
emxuiedoailsbelttlfasoftedajraiidywflntabowmiNen. 

COMMONWEALTH ENERGY CORRffiATlOaV 

By. 

m 

OC>3450<>;4 

Name: lanB.Carter 
Tide: ChdimanandChiefExncutiveOfilcer 

By: 
A. 

T!dK Secretary 

COMMERCE ENERGYQROUP,INC. 

By: 
Name: IaB.Carter 
Titie: Chdmnn and OnefExeeutivB Officer 

Name: John ABaitiuop 

CBcn ACQUisrnoN CORP. 

Name: InB-Caiter 

By: 
^ JohnABartisiop 
TIte Scoetaty 



ciaenncATEOFAmuyvAL 
OF 

AGRSlMraT AWnLAN WREORGANiaUTH^ 

Ian B. Carter and J t e A. Barifanqi ortiiy tint: 

L Theya»teChktfExeeutivcOfficeraHdSecrteyttepective^,<rf 
Commonweals Ercigy CoipoiatifflB, a Offitunfo coipoialkm ^ ' t ^ c n n n K ^ ^ 

2. ThemtoteJnwmberefoaniSBdliigdaBwofeachdassofc^ 
votetrntemergerareffifoDows: 29yS9%^«teiidh)gsharesofcommonatoekof 
Onnmonweddi and 1,001,000 odstanding sfaaies of pid^red slock ttf CcmmumwedtiL 

3. Theprin6q)dttRa8(tfteAsDBanettandPhuiofR)eoqpsdzationlRtetem 
auadied wise ddy appioved by te board of dhcctora of ConunonEWcaMi and by te ^ ^ 
nunter of dwea of CommoDweddi vdddi equated or exceeded te vote rented, 

4. TltepBrceiitagBvoteiBfdscdwaa(a)ino»ti«tt50%(tftogutstBndlagdiaresof 
conmuMi slodc of Conunonwedtii and-Qi) more dim 50% of te voting power of te outstendii^ 
^ifieaofoommondo^aidpietendatOGkofConimoiiwedtiivotu^togetiieraaad^ 

We fortber dedaie inder penally of peijury under te laws of te State of Cdifiintia thd 
te matins set tetii In tins Godfictfe am true and cornet of our own knmdedgBi 

I^ted: July ^ 2 0 0 4 

Name: Ian B. Carter 
TUie: QdefExeoitive Officer 

Nnne: Jdm A. Bwtiircv 
T i t e Secretaiy 

0Cm5Mt4 
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c 

COmVlklATE o r AmiOVAL 

AGREEMim AND PLAN OF REORGANIZATION 

bn B. Carter ttd J t e A. Badlsop certify tfist: 

1. Thy are te Prodded and Seciei«y»iei|pe(dv^,crfCTCHAoqddtionCotp>, a 
Cdifonda «s»poiati(m C*CSOI Aoq^dsitioft Coip."). 

2. ThemteidnnBterofoatstndiivduiesofeadidasBofcaj^ stock cflt^ed to 
voteonteineiverareaafiil^ws: 1,900 outstaufingdmesofoomraon stock of CEOI 
AcqdsitionGaip. 

3. Theprinc^teraaofteAgteepHartqdPtoofRewganhadoniptefemi 
i^adied were ddy iq^pioved by te boaid of diiectDn of CEOI A c ^ ^ 
vde of a nmdier of teres (tf CBCH Aeqnis&km Coip. vdiidi ecpiBiad or oteeeded te vote 

4. TheieqdredvoteoftesdestoddialdereftepsrnilofCEGIAoquidttenCoip. 
was (ibtsined. 

5. TheperceiitagBvoteiequiiedwasmomtiian50%ofte(Hi^andngdHse8of 
common stoc^ of CEGI Acqaiaititm ciip. 

We fintiMrdedaie ua t e penalty of peduryuntete tews of te State of Catifontiatiu^ 
te matea set fortii to tills certificate an true and conect of oisr own knmdedlge. 

Dated: J d y ^ 2 0 0 4 

Kene: Ian B. Carter 
T t̂ie: Acddent 

Name: J( te A. BsrtiiK^ 
TMe: Secretary 

0C/)45Ma4 



i-CJOPV 

'P&nx Wt̂ qmd mi Rioted L. ik^^^mm h^by. mt&y te: 

s- .̂,t?w41))' the t^i ik^ vot« of shas l̂̂ iu . 
C0i|it>rB&5n Co<ic. Ilfe3 t^Ul KCJftfc'r of aut^auoiiig ̂ \ tt^ of Coniium.Sba. on A. 

' ,W«j||^"^d4i^la?eatidtr|fttaJiy0f^f$!Hyw 

* ~ v b . . , ' « " - t ? J« H J . i *, ^ •« 

RicHai-dL. Bo«fthon̂ -. 

# 



# 

eesT COPY 
AVAILABLE 

SK v̂cn S- Bo'̂ e iknd I^wrence I.. Cl̂ yEon iie.-oby coriity iluv;: . 

i. They BU\ 1!̂C Cbî -f BKecuUvc Officfjr aa^ .Soî rrAaty, r^-^eclively, of Coim'̂ fr-rcti 
Bj\argy, lac, a Ciilifoaiui corpomtioa {fc ''Ooip&rati'.MV'), _ _ .. 

?,. Amĉ ie FOUR of &5 AiTicie.'j of |>-Oi:->:|.ô uUcr̂  of the CoiporaUoti is sirick*.!! in its'-
esntirety mil t&i/k%&d wil̂ i (IKS foUov/bg; 

sfiail tie tolgnated "'oommoQ" ^htm md "p^eferou' ĥ.i-rv:̂ . iiie 
i£0i$l amount of C0n<3sori sharers Utat may l^ f '-H-^/ lij ^̂iK v inniina 
<5'0,00O,OO(0. Theintal aiiinberi>f wd '̂̂ C-̂ '-' •̂ - fu • '-'̂ Is 

< 10,000,000), Ttic^?;futoofi^t<;W': '•• '•̂ ^̂ -̂ =̂̂ ^̂ .•i£<̂ i.'rc;;3 
gfufK'S shall be W.OOl ihz-v di^xc. b% \̂ i.-̂ - ••"̂ '.cu c.if.uc4 shsH have, 
mch Qfher rights, pr:vilegc4 w.d -̂ tcu-.ccpzu at- d<;reimi-ned by ths 
Foard on>-'Te-::tor9 fr^ni Um̂ t to ?i,D2t'-. U^oti tl!e arsiendmerii of thh 
Acticfe tott^ad m li^mn mt fccils,^^h oum^<iiii^ commentihai^ "."., 
slaaliMvsaj^v^aeequaltolG.OOIpsrstea ••••••: ;••.•;•/.- / .y/^ 

3. ^ fo"^go î̂ ffi•tK;!lck^eofU^^s Article'ofljD<^^mtioaliasfei^ 
•:•• P-='irdGf0ixa:t<>r?oft^gCi^Qfsdon;'- •"'•', 

4. llie fQUjgomg aiBf43dmait of the .Article o£ lacorpcsiitio,n has bcas <iuly' • 
^ppmvQdhy lite ftfjlsf^ yotsj ofsliMliolcte In acsortoce witli S<K:doiis W l • 
asd$03oftMCal^c^mlsO^'^slCoxpoMonLEW. ThetoislnuiW^erof 
ou^tan^iiEg ghaits orCosiffiC3B S»kcjf llie Cor̂ ofEEimi is30453,540. Hie 
€cKi>0atiotj hm m mmn4m^ &hmm ef ptefeoSd $mk. Tft^ numct of shaifea 
voting IB favor a^^H foregtjirjg smioidEsenl: equ^ed or ̂ exceeded dfes vests 

. reqtm-ed, The§iSi^Toi£gevfo!a;reqi3iin£dwasm<3^fh^ 

• • • ' * ; . • -



EXHIBIT A-18 
SECRETARY OF STATE 

Commerce Energy d/b/a Just Energy is currently registered with the Secretary of State, 
Certificate attached. 



* 200923900296 
DATE Docuve^rr D DBCRIPTION 
08/27/2009 200923900296 TOAOeNA^BORGINAL FILING (RNO) 

RUNG 
5000 

EXFH) 
100.00 

FB^LTY 
00 

csn 
.00 

ODFY 
.00 

Receipt 
This is not a bill. Please do not remit pigment 

CT CORPO^TiON SYSTSVI 
4400 BOSTON COMMONS WAY, SUITE 125 
ATTN: TlMCn-HY ROBffiSON 
COLUMBUS. OH 43219 

S T A T E OF O H I O 
C E R T I F I C A T E 

Ohio Secretary of State, Jennifer Brunner 

1879162 

Itis hereby certified that the Secretaiy of State of Ohio has custody of the business records for 

JUST ENERGY 

and, that said business records show the filing and recording of: 

Docimient(s): 
TRADE NAME/ORIGINAL FILING 

Date ofFirst Use: 08/25/2009 
Expiration Date: 08/26/2014 

Docujnent No(s): 
200923900296 

COMMERCE ENERGV, INC. 
6345DMERD 
MISSISSAUGA, ONTARJO, CDL5TZE6 

» i ^ 7 i ' ' i » 
Witness my hand and the seal of the 
Secretaiy of State at Colmnbus, Ohio 
this 26th day of August, A.D. 2009. 

United States of America 
State of Ohio 

Office of the Secretary of State Ohio Secretary of State 



Pedro A. Cor t i f 
SecraiaryCTthftConinaomwiri^ 

PENNSYLYAmA ZfEPARTMENT OF STATE 
COSrORAIXON SpSEAU 

Applicatioa for R ^ i s t r a t o of Ficdtlpus Name 

Fee $70 

PENNGOf^SERWESROWilNa 
600 NORTH SECOND STRffT , - ^ . ^ 
PO BOX 1210 Ho7(£> 
HARR!SBURaf%1710M210 

nMMd «dAw | w Mir M 

Commonweallh of Peftosyhwnia 
Ficrmous MAHE3 ^^^m 

T0920«5D15 

(ioitini n u n imSer M N : i & Ch. 3 {niitbig to fioifaBstf^ 

1. TlMflctitiMiraratiti 
^̂  ^ I Jawaag 

dteficdtinaiwrniU; 
j caeqywwajg 

3. TlM4adnn,{aaahtBgiiaitbKi(ditraK,ffii9,af*eftb^)^ 
Hcqpllble)r [ 

100 King Sow Wq^Stfte 3630 T«nitf» 
Nunbermdi 

4. TtelaBMiwtftdiJjCt^ 

OH M3XtP1 Toromp 

Ojr Otunqr 

iactgding auftfwnd Ami tF«iov <flacfc iofvidul ^rtmsttd n 

JUL iii p;HL'il4^ 

2009m 23 w e 10 

PA D B ^ a^ STATE 



• '•Wi.lWff 

DSCa:H^tl-2 

}wSMis^7c«qlra|i»CKp. CeqMnlioft 

WKii«Si.W«t,SBtto2CB.ToiwAKOKM5X i n 

Wlrmn 

O t t M ^ M O ^ 

ftfixipil Office Ad(fa4 

rAllcpitaniOfaecrwjr 

s 
I 

' i j ^ i l^^ ia i i tmia 

i 
TA RagjitBRd OQtev, if «ty 

5. rh^ifilnmuimfmvibit^fitpii^cm^^ 

7. O[<i0B»0:TteawA)<fto<yg<i^lf«iy,«yBMof\rtWiiltffc0i^ 

tilt): 

IK7B9nM0KyWHEftSC»',iltewdtnipKdhnc 
»vn« te b»«x«»M five 

dwrfJpM 'j XW 

IndMini 

WSTJBNBROY PEWtttWASIA COW», 

£&riiy>Mw 

Ewsad Ate jiyipllaifDa ftrSctfonKoaof FietiiiiMi 

tofvMwJs^lfiityn 

) ^ "t^KwirX-
taistjifmm 

ler 



EXfflBIT B-1 
JURISDICTIONS OF OPERATION 

COMMERCE ENERGY, INC. D/B/A JUST ENERGY 

The applicant is licensed to provide retail electricity service in California, Illinois, 
Michigan, New Jersey, Delaware, New York, Pennsylvania, Ohio and Maryland. Please 
see further details below. The applicant is also licensed to provide retail gas service in 
California, Georgia, Nevada, New York, Michigan, Maryland, Ohio and Pennsylvania. 
Below is a list of licenses currently held by the applicant. See Exhibit A-15 for further 
information regarding affiliates. 

U.S. 
California 
Illinois 

Maryland 

Michigan 

New Jersey 
Ohio 
Pennsylvania 

Delaware 
Nevada 
Georgia 

Commerce Energy. Inc« 

Registered October 7,1997. License #1092 
Registered 1/17/07 (Electric) and 10/29/07 (Gas) 
Docket #06-0723 and 07-0501 
Registered 6/1/1999 (Gas) and July 7,2004 (Electric) 
IR-737andIR-639 
Registered November 20,2001. Case U-13203 (Electric) and June 
2009, U-15980 (Gas) 
Registered November 9,2000. License #ESL-0046 
Registered June 10,2001. Certificate #01-074(1) 
Registered September 15,1999 and 5/19/2005, License #A-110117 
(Gas) and A-125138 (Electric) 
Registered 12/18/07 (Electric), Docket 07-275 Order No. 7330 
Registered 11/30/06, License #G-13 
Registered 7/6/05, License #GM-30 



EXHIBIT B-2 
EXPERIENCE & PLANS 

COMMERCE ENERGY, INC, D/B/A JUST ENERGY 

OUR EXPERIENCE 

The applicant has over ten years experience offering competitively priced gas and 
electric service. In those ten years it has provided varied offerings to residential and 
commercial customers. In addition, it has the ability to invoice its own customers and 
provide direct customer contact through its in-house customer service department. In 
many states, the applicant acts as the direct contact vsdth the customer for switching 
service providers, customer complaints, billing, and other services. The applicant has 
been providing gas service to customers in Ohio since 2005. 

OUR SERVICE 

The applicant provides the following services in Ohio: 
• Consolidated Billing through the utilities billing system using the bill ready 

format; 
• Customer service representatives to respond to customer service questions, 

complaints, billing questions, and customer account transfers as well as 
general customer inquiries; 

• Service offerings in Ohio include; 
o Month to month variable pricing and terms; 
o Fixed term, month to month variable pricing 

• We make every effort to be the first point of contact in dealing with customer 
transfers to or from another supplier. 

OURPLANS 

The applicant is looking forward to expand its customer base in Ohio further in 
the near future. The applicant expects to begin competitive service in the VEDO and 
DUKE market in the fall of 2010. 

The applicant also intends to expand providing retml service in partnership with 
city aggregators throughout the indicated service areas. 

COMPLAINT HANDLING 

The applicant has an internal Customer Service Department that handles all 
incoming calls from our customers. They answer telephone calls Monday through 
Saturday. Most calls received are recorded digitally to ensure the accuracy of our records 
and calls are also monitored and reviewed by our internal Quality Assurance department. 
If a Customer Service representative is unable to resolve a customer issue, the issue is 
escalated to our Compliance Department. The Compliance Department is a team of 
Corporate & Consumer Relations ("CCR") specialists dedicated to responding to 



concerns or inquires made by consumers in Ohio. They are responsible for resolving all 
issues brought to their attention by Customer Service or any informal or formal complaint 
filed through regulatory bodies, utilities and other third party groups. The Compliance 
Department is also committed to: 

• Regularly reviewdng complaint activity in order to identify trends and problem 
areas; 

• Ensure that compliance continues to remain as a compulsory component of 
contractor sales and orientation process; 

• Continue to ensure that contractor marketing activity is conducted in 
accordance with company guidelines and regulatory rules; and 

• Review marketing and training materials on a regular basis. 

As in the past, the applicant will always comply with PUCO and OCC guide lines when 
handling complaints filed through their Consumer Services Division. 

OUR PEOPLE 

High levels of customer satisfaction are achieved through rapid and accurate 
responses to customer questions that come In via telephone or e-mail. 

Our customer service representatives are supported by strong training in our product, and 
the energy market as well as by a robust database system. 



EXHIBIT B-3 
SUMMARY OF EXPERIENCE 

COMMERCE ENERGY, INC. D/B/A JUST ENERGY 

The applicant is a retail marketer of natural gas and electricity licensed in 10 
states and currently operating in seven states. In Ohio, the applicant solely serves the 
competitive gas Inarket. It has been a competitive retail energy supplier since 1997 when 
it was originally founded as Commonwealth Energy Corporation. 

In Ohio the applicant serves gas customers with competitive retail natural gas 
service in the Columbia of Ohio (COH) and Dommion East Ohio (DEO) service areas. In 
the COH service area, the applicant serves over 20,000 customers. In the DEO service 
area, it serves over 30,000 customers and is actively participating in energy auctions and 
the SCO and MVR program. The applicant focuses on residential and small commercial 
customers in each service area. 

The applicant provides consolidated billing in a bill ready format through each 
utility, although it has its own billing system that it uses in other jurisdictions and could 
use in Ohio if necessary. 



EXHIBIT B-4 
DISCLOSURE OF LIABILITIES AND INVESTIGATIONS 

COMMERCE ENERGY, INC. D/B/A JUST ENERGY 

The applicant or a predecessor of the applicant, or any principal officer of the applicant 
have never been convicted or held liable for fraud or for violation of any consumer 
protection or antitrust laws within the past five years. 



EXHIBIT C-1 
ANNUAL REPORTS 

COMMERCE ENERGY, INC, D/B/A JUST ENERGY 

Attached are Just Energy Income Fimd's two most recent Annual Reports filed with the 
Canadian Securities and Exchange Commission. Financial data is maintained on a 
consolidated company basis and therefore cannot be produced to reflect Commerce 
Energy business only. 
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IT'S WHAT WE PROVIDE 
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ENERGY MADE LASV 

FORMERLY cNERGV SAVINGS INCOME i^U^iD 



ENERGY SAVINGS IS NOW JUST ENERGY! 

When Energy Savings was founded in 1997, oir name refiected an essential ch3ra<|t€ristic 
of our fixed-price offering. As we grew, a series of loc^ brand identitiK helped fddlitalB 
entry into new markets. While this approach sen/ed us well, changes in our industry ̂ id our 
company have made this an excellent time to reconsider both our corporate identity 
and our value proposition. As a result vve are rebranding Energy Savings as iust Energy and 
moving fgnward with a single, consistent and distinctive brand identrty across â \ niarkets. 

As an organization, one of our competitive advantages is our relative size, strengbi and 
stability, the change to a single identity will support future growth by allowaig us t^ more 
easily communicate, to all stakeholders, our coBective financial strength and ̂ e fjosfth^ 
impact we've had on consumers across North America. i 

The rebranding also enables us to clarify our evolving value proposition. Our incfeasing 
level of energy market expertise ~ combined with a continued commitment to fairness, 
integrity and customer service - has taken us beyond savings. Today, cMjr focu? is on 
providing both residential and commercial consumers with a straightforward, woi?y-free 
way of managing energy costs - one that provides price protection and the attlity to 
budget more effectively as well as peace of mind. The name Just Energy and oiiir new 
positioning statement "Energy Made Easy" embody this philosophy. 

Equally as important, our new logo reflects our increased focus on green energy an<3 other 
environmentally friendly products and services. We aim to be a leader in this ar*a and 
want to convey our commitment. 

The first step in our rebranding process was the renaming of Energy Savings Incomfe Fund 
to Just Energy Income Fund. The next step is the conversion of our Canadian arid U.S. 
operating subsidiaries. We expect to be operating as Just Energy in all markets fcy the 
fall of 2009. • 

just 
30^ 

energy 
ENiiRGV MAD?, f ASV 

ju^l. Er̂ i-fgy's buMriKSi involves the .saie of natural g^s and electricity to resident^}, smaii to micf-size c:ommerci;j| r̂-,̂  smsli indi»tn'ai customers 
under iong-term, irrevocable fixed-price contrsas (price protected for eiearicity). Just Energy offers natut'al gas in Manitoba, Quebec, 
British Coiunsbia, iilinois hx\6 Indiana -^n^ both ges and sfectrkity in Ontaiio, AfberEa and New York 3S well as electricity only in Texas, By 
securing the price for nsTural gas or eiectricity under such contracts for a period of up to five years. Just Energy's customerg reduce or eliminate 
thfiir exposure TC change in the price cf these essentia! commodities. Just Energy also has environmentaily friendly offgrings of natural gas 
iirid eipctridty 1:nr<:n.i:)h fl:s Grepn Fneryy Option prcsgram. 



2009 HIGHLIGHTS 

Customer base reached 1,790,000 residential customer 
equivalents, up 6% year overyear. Gross additions were 

418,000, up 22% from 342,000 in fiscal 2008. 

Sales (seasonally adjusted) up 9% to $1.9 biliion, 

Gross margin (seasonally adjusted) of $315.2 million, 
up 16% year over year. 

Distributable cash after gross margin replacement of 
$195.5 million ($1.75 per unit), up 15% year over year. 

Earnings per unit of $1.52 in 2009, up from $1.44 in 2008. 

Announced accretive acquisition of Universal Energy Group, 

Sales 
(seasonally adjusted) 
(millions) 

Gross margin 
(seasonally adjusted) 
(millions) 

gross 
(millions) 

$1,899.2 
1,738.7 

1,532.3 

907.9 

1,225.9 j 

$315.2 

272.2 

S195.S $1.52 

230.4 

188.6 
163.7 
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170.0 
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130.0 

102.1 

0.95 

0.50 

0.32 
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MESSAGE FROM THE CHAIR 

What we targeted for fiscal 2009 What we delivered in fiscal 20159 

Exit the year with 1.022,000 natural gas customers and 
820,000 electricity customers 

Grow gross margin by 10% 

Grow distributable cash after margin replacement by 10% 

Search out accretive acquisitions 

Be a reliable growth and income vehicle on the TSX 

M^t 96% of our gas taroe' :̂ r\C 99% of our dectriCity 
laiget, B<3"IJ> tii-igiî :̂-; wiiiukl Hi've beeri *"eali?ed save tor 
record 'oieoosutes in our U.S. markets 

Gross n-!arnin up 16% 

Distributable cash ^iW maryin replacemen;: up 15% 
iifl^IJl^W^^PKliKi-^^fllJ 

Acquired the acoeWve CEG Energy Options Inc. book from U\e 
SpmC^Rridri bankhjptA', nm îib'̂ equenr to yesr-p^nd, agreed 
to acquire Un!veri;al Energy Group, another acE:rei:ive acquisition 

i"-!:i1i.mimf*l/r!iX-* 

Generated a one-year total retiirn to Unitholders of i-1.0%, 
Vv'hiii? the TSX totci) retur n was -28.3%. Just Inergy h.3£ 
never cut or missed a distribution 

>::̂ .-s :̂.̂ r .̂-^-^T-.-ii!-i>-i-!V^-it<£t>-'. •Jliri'-rari^"-*'^:: 
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DEAR FELLOW 
yp^lTHOLDERS: 
It is with pleasure that I report our annual 
results for the year ended March 31. 2009. 
This Is the eighth consecutive year of 
record distributable cash and distributions 
to our Unitholders. We have done so in the 
midst of the greatest North American 
recession since the 1930s. We are 
justifiably proud of the consistency and 
reliability of our growrth and profitability. 

Each year we set our aggressive targets 
and each year we reach them. With our 
sales approaching $2 billion, double-digit 
growth becomes more and more difficult. 
As in past years, we found a way to 
achieve this target. 

Fiscal 2009 was a year of great success 
for Just Energy In his letter, Ken Hartwick, 
our Chief Executive Officer and President, 
discusses our results and how they were 
achieved. I want to thank Ken and his 
team for a job well done. 

ChaNengM we facKd m fi,scal 2D09 

and our responses 

It will come as no surprise to anyone that 
the major challenge of the past year has 
been the impact of the recession on the 
North American economy. Poor economic 
conditions are not entirely negative for 
Just Energy A high level of unemployment 
broadens the size and quality of available 
agents. Economic uncertainty forces 
families and small businesses to focus on 
the Importance of budgeting. This improves 
receptivity to our product offerings. 

The number of home foreclosures, 
particularly in our U.S. markets, highlights 
the negative impact of the recession on 
our business. This, combined with the loss 
of customers who could no longer pay 
their utility bills, led to U.S. natural gas 
attrition rates of 30% far above our target 
level of 20% per year 

Our efforts to cope with this customer 
loss began a year ago. After two quarters 
of very weak customer aggregation, 
we overhauled our sales and marketing 
department and refocused on the addition 

m Each year we set our aggressive 
targets and each year we reach them. a 

of quality customers. The result has been 
a growing sales force and higher sales 
productivity highlighted by a 57% year 
overyear increase in gross customer 
additions in the fourth quarter. Increasing 
customer additions during fiscal 2009 was 
the largest single factor in delivering on 
our profit targets despite the recession. 

Our second point of emphasis was credit. 
At a time when many customers are 
having difficulty paying bills, it is important 
that Just Energy ensures that customers 
signed have adequate credit quality. As 
the recession approached, our finance 
department tightened our credit policies 
and carefully managed our receivables. 
The result was a bad debt expense of 2.6% 
for the year, which was near the midpoint 
of our 2-3% target. 

Finally, we had to carefully manage the 
matching of our supply book. As excess gas 
supply was created by higher than expected 
attrition, we were able to redeploy the 
supply to markets experiendng colder than 
expected weather The result was minimal 
losses on sale of excess supply and tiie 
realization of higher than target margins on 
the remaining customer base. 

6 rowth through acquisition 

The year saw the completion of one 
small acquisition, the purchase of 
45,000 residential customer equivalents 
("RCEs") from SemCanada for $1.8 million. 
These customers were immediately 
accretive and, while currentiy low margin, 
provide an opportunity for renewals at 
Just Energy margins as they reach expiry. 

The Universal Energy Group ("UEG") 
acquisition, announced on April 22, 2009, 
is going to be a major step fonward. The 
deal requires the approval of 66^% of the 
UEG shareholders at a June meeting, but 
with 51 % of the shares under a lock-up 
agreement, we are confident that the 
transaction will be approved. 

UEG brings more than 580,000 RCEs 
in Ontario, British Columbia, Michigan, 
California, Ohio, Penns^ania, Mar^and 
and New Jersey. In addition, UEG owns 
a 66.7% interest in Terra Grain Fuels, a 
Saskatchewan ethanol plant, which 
has a successful water heater-based 
home sen/ices division. 

The transaction will be immediately 
accretive to our Unitholders after the 
realization of what we believe will be 
considerable administrative synergies 
coming from the ovwlap between die 
two businesses. We expect a smoo^ 
amalgamation of the two companies' 
independent sales contractors. Positive 
results should be seen in the coming 
months as the companies come together 
to be the North American market leader. 

I look forward to meeting with my fellow 
Unitiiolders at our Annual Meeting on 
June 25, 2009, in Toronto. 

(signed) 

Rebecca MacDonald 
Executive Chair 
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MESSAGE FROM THE CEO 

'We over-delivered on our 
targeted 10% growth, 
realizing 15% growth in 
gross margin and 15% 
growth in distributable 
cash after margin 
replacement." 

Ken Hartwick 

Chief Executive Officer 

and President 

GEO sales growth 
(thousands) 

161 

710 

19 

0 

08 09 08 09 

Electricity (MWh) Natural gas (GJ) 

Io fiscal 2009. 30% of new 
customers chose GEO supply 
for an average of 70% of their 
annyaf consumption^ 
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DEAR FELLOW 
UNITHOLDERS: 
In Executive Chair Rebecca MacDonald's 
letter, she discusses the challenges we 
faced in this difficult economy and how 
we achieved our targets in fiscal 2009. 
The operating results were strong across 
the board. We over-delivered on our 
targeted 10% gro*«th, realizing t6% 
growth in gross margin and 15% growth 
in distributable cash after margin 
replacement. We once again exceeded 
our targeted margin per customer, locking 
in substantial Unitholder value for the 
coming five years. 

We added 418,000 new customers in 
the year, up 22% from the number added 
in fiscal 2008. This strong performance 
by our sales team allowed us to offset 
high attrition in the U.S. and show a net 
increase in our customer base of 6% 
for the year. 

We have built our team of independent 
sales contractors from 680 at the time of 
our last annual report to over 800 today. 
Amalgamation of the UEG sales force will 
increase this number further. The quality 
of our sales people has never been better, 
and recent weekly customer additions 
show that the strong upv/ard trend of 
fiscal 2009 continues. 

As Unitholders, you have a right to expea 
stable distributions based on a prudent 
payout policy Our payout ratio for the 
year was at an all-time low, and we 
improved our balance sheet, bringing our 
cash balance from $27.3 million to 
$59.1 million over the year. We not only 
continued to pay our $1.24 annual 
distribution but also topped this up with a 
$0,165 Special Distribution declared in 
December. While we were disappointed 
with our 1 % increase in total return to 
Unitholders over the past 12 months, 
it was far better than the 28.3% loss in 
the TSX Composite Total Return Index 
for the same period. 

'Despite the recession, consumers' 
minds are more and more focused on 
ways to sustain the environment." 

Green products 

Despite the recession, consumers' minds 
are more and more focused on ways to 
sustain the environment and reduce their 
carbon footprint Over a year ago, we 
brought out our Green Energy Option 
("GEO") and have subsequently 
supplemented these electricity and gas 
offerings with high efficiency tankless 
water heaters and home energy audits. 

Our green products make up ^e 
fastest-growing segment of our business. 
Our sales of green electricity grew 
from 19,000 MWh in fiscal 2003 
to 161,000 MWh this year. Sales of 
our GEO gas product grew from zero 
last year to 710,000 GJ in fiscal 2009. 
Demand continues to grow in all 
markets and it is clear tiiat the GEO is 
going to be a high growth and profitable 
product for years to come. 

By year-CTid, we had installed 1,700 water 
heaters, and with the addition of UEG's 
water heater business and sales force, we 
expect to grow this number exponentially 
in the coming year. 

Guidance for fiscal 2010 

It will be very difficult to top our fiscal 2009 
performance. Favourable weather, exchange 
rates and commodity prices aiiow;ed us to 
grow 15% while operating measures 
within our control were closer to 10%. 
Accordingly, we bring a high base Into 
fiscal 2010. Assuming the UEG acquisition 
closes in early July, we would expect 
Just Energy to generate growth in gross 
margin and distributable cash after margin 
replacement in the range of 5-10%-

The actual resuft will depend on the 
closing date, the time required to realize 
operating synergies and the ongoing status 
of the accompanying Terra Grain Fuels 
ethanol plant. Our view is that the 
acquisition will be accretive to distributable 
cash in fiscal 2010 and that it should be 
significantly accretive in future years once 
the operations are fully amalgamated. 
Similarly, the growth in our customer base 
will depend upon the eventual date of the 
merger of our two sales forces, but dearly 
the more than 580,000 RCEs tiiat UEG 
brings will mean significant growth to 
our customs base in the coming year. 

The end of the current tax treatment for 
trusts is approaching in 2011, and 
Just Energy is fully prepared to proceed to 
an immediate conversion should market 
conditions or trading values make this 
necessary. While ̂ e income trust structure 
was ideally suited to a predictable growth 
business with limited capital ejqwnditure 
requirements like ours, we can and will 
be successful in a corporate form. We 
have reviewed all the conversion options 
and will proceed when it is in the best 
interest of our Unitholders. 

Fiscal 2009 was a tremendous year for 
Just Energy. Prospects for 2010 and 
beyond remain extremely bright. 

(signed) 

Ken Hartwick 
Chief Executive Officer and President 
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U.S. customer base 

(thousands) 

469 

317 

189 

133 

49 
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Just Energy aims to be the leader in bringing innovative 

energy options to the market. Our original Innovation 

was our core product, long-term, fixed-priced energy 

contracts. Responding to our customers' needs, we have 

added our Green Energy Option, tailored solutions for 

businesses, and most recently, energy efficient home 

products and services. We provide the solutions people 

and businesses want, at prices they can afford. 
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De i i ve rmg peace o f m i n d 

We built our company on the strength of 

our core residential business. Consumers 

have long appreciated the peace of mind 

that comes with locking in their energy 

prices for up to five years - much like the 

stability and comfort provided by a long-

term, fixed-rate mortgage. 

We stay connected vAxh our residential 

customers and constantly look for innovative 

new products that appeal to them. 

However, in recessionary times, it is the 

standard Features of our core products that 

are most likely to strike a chord with 

prospective customers. Not surprisingly, 

predictable monthly bills and the ability to 

budget energy costs have proven to be more 

important than ever to homeowners as they 

work to stay on top of their finances. 

Fiscal 2009 saw a powerful and refocused 

marketing effort from the Just Energy sales 

and marketing team. We saw particular 

success in our U.S. marketing where we 

added 258,000 new customers, the most 

we have ever added south of the border. 

We project that the vast majority of our 

future grovrth will come from the U.S., so 

a trend of growing additions is vital to our 

long-term success. 

Overall, our gross additions were 418.000, 

an increase of 22% over fiscal 2008, 

reflecting our refocused marketing effort. 

Our net additions were 103,000 which 

showed that we were able to overcome 

the effects of record foreclosures and utility 

cut-offs in the U.S. driven by the worst 

recession seen in decades. Just Energy has 

shown the ability to grow in good times 

and in bad. 

G r o w i n g commerc ia l o f f e r m g s 

Just Energy's commercial business is 

focused on select small and mid-sized 

businesses that appredate the ability 

to budget easily and plan their future 

cash flow. 

Since our acquisition in Texas two years 

ago, we have pursued the commercial 

market more aggressively, recognizing it 

as an area in which there is tremendous 

opportunity for growth. Larger commerdal 

customers have, regardless of their 

contract term, proven to have longer 

average lives than residential customers. 

These customers do not naturally fit with 

our core five-year fixed product but can 

generate significant profit from a more 

flexible offering. 

In fiscal 2009, we introduced greater 

flexibility in our commercial product 

offering in response to customer demand. 

We began offering shorter-term contracts 

of one and two years in select markets. We 

also developed products for the commercial 

and small industrial customers who like the 

concept of fixed prices but need options 

such as locking in most, but not all, of their 

energy consumption. 

Just Energy has created a specialized team 

to work with prospective commercial 

customers and tailor products to meet 

their unique needs. Our small and medium 

commercial customer additions in 2009 

more than doubled from 2008, and we 

expect continued expansion in all regions 

in the coming year. 

A t t h e f o r e f r o n t o f g r e e n 

Just Energy offers customers practical ways to 

reduce their impact on Ihe environment. 

Our Green Energy Option ("GEO") enables 

electricity customers to have all or a portion 

of their electrici^ sourced from renewable 

green sources such as \wnd, run-of-the-river 

hydro or biomass. Witii the gas GEO product, 

customers can purchase carbon offset credits 

to reduce or eliminate the carbon footprint of 

their homes or businesses. 

In addition to GEO products, we have 

begun to lease and sell tankless and high 

efficiency hot water heaters in select 

regions. Tankless units save energy and 

reduce costs by heating water only when it 

is needed. We have also partnered with a 

licensed provider to give Canadians who 

rent or sell a tankless water heater a 

discounted energy evaluation audit The 

audit provides access to a government 

grant and is the first step in increasing a 

home's overall energy effidency. 

GEO sales showed tremendous growth in 

fiscal 2009. Our electricity GEO sales were 

up 700% while we sold our new GEO gas 

product to more than 22,000 customers. 

Despite the fact that GEO was priced at a 

premium to our base five-year product, more 

than 30% of our new customers elected 

green supply for an average of 70% of their 

commodity requirements. This levd of sales 

in a difficult economy is clear evidence that 

our customers are willing to make significant 

finandal sacrifices toward a sustainable 

environment. Just Energy is well positioned 

to be a leader in the provision of green 

comnrrodity supply as the economy recovers. 
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Volatility 

05 06 07 08 09 
Alberta spot natural gas price 

In our business, top-notch service is just about as 

important to our customers as reliable energy and 

affordable prices - especially in recently deregulated 

markets, where skepticism may exist. We understand 

this fact, and invest heavily In people, processes and 

technologies to ensure that our customers understand 

what they are buying from Just Energy and feel good 

about their decision. 
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Personal t o u c h 

Exceptional service begins at the customer^ 

door, during the sales process. We fully 

support government initiatives to protect 

consumers, and we take great care to 

explain our products and answer questions 

in easy-to-understand terms. The 

independent sales contractors carefully 

outline contract details in a conversation 

that normally takes about 15 minutes. 

After the sale, a customer service 

representative makes a verification call to 

reaffirm the accuracy and completeness 

of the sales presentation. Qnce the sale is 

verified, we work to ensure a smooth, 

trouble-free transition from a customer's 

existing supplier and to provide a reliable 

ongoing energy supply. 

Throughout the relationship, Just Energy 

customer service representatives are 

readily available to answer questions by 

telephone or email. We have a team of 

approximately 300 people who are 

supported by a full range of enabling 

technologies to ensure a consistent, 

personalized experience every time 

customers deal with us. Thanks to these 

efforts, customer sen/ice has always been 

an important part of Just Energy's success. 

Ta lented peop le 

Just Energy employees are a source of 

pride for our company and the force 

behind our superior customer service. We 

aim to be a great place to work, where 

people enjoy what they do. develop their 

careers, and are recognized and rewarded 

for their contributions. 

Despite widespread layoffs at companies 

across North America, we have taken 

advantage of conditions to hire exceptional 

new talent, in fiscal 2009, we added top 

industry experts at our head office to 

manage the growth in our customer base. 

At year-end, our team of independent sales 

contractors had grown to 800, up from a 

low of just over 400 early in the year. 

We also maintained our commitment to 

training. New independent sales contractors 

receive extensive instruction on topics such 

as energy market trends, regulatory 

obligations, competitive positioning, and 

most importantly, how to develop and close 

sales in accordance with regulations in 

every jurisdiction. Similarly, customer sen/ice 

representatives are regulariy trained on 

the things that can truly differentiate our 

service, including telephone etiquette, 

product knowledge, and understanding and 

addressing customer needs and concerns 

quickly and efficiently. 

l i f e l o n g cus tomers 

Our objective is to create lifelong custom«^ 

who see the value and understand the 

peace of mind that comes with energy 

price protection. This means that we 

must work just as hard to keep existing 

customers as we do to sign new ones. 

Approximately one-fifth of our customer 

book is up for renewal every year. The 

renewal process is initiated about 

15 months before a contract matures 1:^ 

letters, telephone calls and face-to-face 

visits. Through these contacts, we remind 

customers of their contract, answer their 

questicms and promote renewals. 

In fiscal 20(^, we created a dedicated 

team to spearhead our renewal efforts. 

Their work involved targeting the darity 

and salability of our renewal message. 

While we do not guarantee cost savings 

from our fixed-rate products, some of the 

customers coming up for renewal had in 

fact saved money over the term of their 

contract and wwre more inclined to renew. 

At the same time, our renewal price is 

higher than the customer's former five-year 

price reflecting commodity price movements 

over the contract term. It is vital that we 

are able to clearly explain why our product 

still protects against volatility just as it did 

five years earlier. We are confident that our 

renewal team has the resources necessary 

to bring this message to our customers. 
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stability 

16.7% 
15.4 15 1 15.7 

06 07 08 09 

Gross margin 
percentage 

Just Energy is focused on providing stability and peace 

of mind - to both our customers and our investors. Year 

after year, we meet these commitments by delivering a 

reliable energy supply, paying stable distributions and 

growing our business at double-digit rates. 
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Stability 
$0,268' 

$0,101 0.103 0.103 0.103 

I I . I t i 
Apr/OS July Oct Jan/09 Mar 

Monthly distribution 
'includes J0.165/unit Special Distribution 

Dependable energy supply 

Customers count on Just Energy to meet 
their energy needs, day in and day out In 
our 12 years of operation, we have never 
failed to deliver a single molecule of gas or 

electron of electricity. 

Our track record is a testament to our 
low-risk business model which enables us 
to carefully match energy supply and 
demand, and lock in margins. Atthe 
beginning of each sales cycle, we purchase 
a five-year strip of commodity supply to 
match our expected marketing results. We 
then price our customer offering based on 
the known commodity price and the target 
margin. From there, the independent sales 
contractors go out and market until the 
supply is exhausted and the cyde begins 
again. Ongoing analysis of actual 
consumption patterns helps ensure that 
we always have enough contracted energy 
supply Based on weather consumption 
variance, we go to the open market and 
make small purchases or sales of additional 
energy to maintain our matched position. 

Strong commodity supplier relationships 
further ensure supply reliability. Just Energy 
spreads its contraas across a number of 
different high credit quality suppliers. We 
have longstanding relationships with large, 
stable organizations such as Shell, Bruce 
Power and BP, market leaders in gas and 
electridty supply in North America. 

ReHable investment 

Just Energy remains a predictable and 
reliable investment even in the midst of an 
economic downturn. 

It begins with a stable business, seliing an 
essential product. No matter how deep the 
recession, people need the natural gas and 
electricity we sell, and utility bills are the 
last to go unpaid. A low-risk business 
model, operational efficiency and superior 
customer service drive Just Energy's 
consistently solid performance - as does 
our demonstrated ability to grow. 

in fiscal 2009, in the midst of a recession 
that challenged even the seemingly 
strongest companies, Just Energy showed 
the same growth it has since its inception. 
We grew our gross margin and distributable 
cash after margin replacement by 16% 
and 15%, respectively. This is the eighth 
consecutive year in which v̂ fe have 
generated double-digit growth in our 
key financial measures. As always, our 
Unitholders again received reliable 
monthly distributions. 

Since our initial public offering in 2001, 
Just Energy has raised the distribution 
rate 29 times. In 2009, we increased 
the distribution rate to $1.24 per unit 
and declared a Special Distribution of 
$0.155 per unit, reflecting strong 
profitability over the year. With locked-in 
margins on all our contracts, we remain 
confident in the sustainabili^ of our 
distributions. And we take this commitment 
to our Unitholders seriously 

Consistent growth 

Over the years. Just Energy's consistent 
growth has been enhanced through 
strategic acquisitions. We maintain a solid 
finandal profile, with limited debt, putting 
us in a strong |K)sition to acquire the right 
companies at the right time. 

In fiscal 2009, we purchased the western 
Canadian commerdal and residential 
customer contracts of CEG Energy 
Options Inc., which was enmeshed in the 
SemCanada bankruptcy. The acquisition 
immediately added a commerdal capability 
to our business in British Columbia. The 
CEG customers also fit the profile of the 
stable larger commerdal customers we are 
targeting aaoss our markets. While not 
large, the transaction was immediately 
accretive to our Unitholders. 

Subsequent to year-end, we signed a 
definitive agreement to acquire Universal 
Energy Group. Universal is a competitor in 
Ontario and British Columbia and adds more 
than 580.000 customers to our book. We 
believe that our combined entity will be a 
mari<et leader in the provision of 
deregulated natural gas and electricity to 
customers across North America. Uriiversal 
Energy Group oxnes vaith 14 U.S. state 
licenses and has customers In six states 
w^ere we do not currently operate. With 
the addition of key members of the 
Universal Energy Group team, we expect to 
accelerate growth in these new markets. We 
also anticipate that tiie overlap in back office 
operations will ultimately lead to significant 
operating synergies. The transaction is 
expected to close in eariy July 2009. 
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YOUR FUND'S GOVERNANCE 

Officers (from left t o right): Darren Pritchett, Executive Vke President, Consumer Sales; Ken Hartwick, Chief Executive Officer 

and President Rebecca MacDonald, Executive Chair, Scott Gahn, Executive Vice President ~ U.S. Energy Savings; Beth Summers, 

Chief Findncial Officer, and Gord Potter, Senior Vice President and General Counsel. 

f U S t ^ 
energy 

l:Ntf^GV MADE £A5Y 

As an hKQm& fund and as an energy price protect ion company. Just Energy is tommi t ted t o providing stabil i ty and 

peace of mind. To reach these goals - and remain wor thy of i^e cor^ftdertce of our Unitholders ™ w e have established 

an active Board t o guide our operations ^nd make sure ths t they am transparent to investors. Our corporate governance 

fjieets the recommended standards established by the Canadian Securities Administrators. 

We ensure transparency by dearly communicating our targets for growing our business, describing in detail how we intend to meet 

these goals and then reporting on our performance against the targets with equal clarity. Similariy, we build trust by ensuring that 

management's interests are aligned with those of Unitholders. To make sure that management acts in the best interests of 

Unitholders, we mandate high unit ownership for all senior managers and align bonuses with strict performance measurements 

determined by our Board. Our unit compensation consists of fully paid unit appreciation rights, which are paid for by employees 

out of what would have been cash compensation. 

Your Board of Directors is made up of tiie Executive Chair and six outside directors and is monitored by our lead independent director, 

Hugh Segal. The Board committees are composed of external directors only 

Additional details of our governance can be found in the Just Energy 2009 Management Information Circular 
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OFFICERS 

Rebecca iVIacDoriaid 
Executive Chair 

Rebecca MacDonald was a founder of Just Energy (formerly 
Energy Savings) and has held the position of Chair of the Board 
and Executive Chair since the Fund's initial public offering ("IPO") 
in 2006. From the Fund's IPO in 2001 to March 2005, 
Ms. MacDonald also held the position of Chief Executive Officer. 

Ken Hartvyitk, c,A, 
Chief Executive Officer and President 

Ken Hartwick joined the company in April 2004 as Chief Finandal 
Officer, was promoted to President in 2006 and assumed the 
additional position of Chief Executive Officer in June 2008. Prior to 
this, Mr. Hartwick was Chief Financial Officer of Hydro One Inc. 

Beth Summers, CA. 
Chief Finandal Officer 

Beth Summers joined Just Energy in February 2009 as 
Chief Î inancial Officer Prior to this, Ms. Summers was Executive 
Vice President and Chief Finandal Officer of Hydro One Inc 

Scott Gahn 
Executive Vice President and Chief Operating Officer 

Scott Gahn was appointed to his current role in February 2009, 
and prior to this, since May 2007, held the position of Executive 
Vice President, U.S. Energy Savings. Prior to this, Mr. Gahn was 
Chief Executive Officer of Just Energy Texas LP 

Darrers i^ritchett 
Executive Vice President, Consumer Sales 

Darren Pritchett joined Just Energy as Executive Vice President, 
Consumer Sales, in April 2008. Prior to this, Mr Pritchett ran 
3 successful direct marketing organization, contracted by 
Just Energy 

6ord Potter 

Executive Vice President. Regulatory and Legal Affairs 

Gord Potter joined the Company in June 2003 and currently holds 
the position of Executive Vice President, Regulatory and Legal 
Affairs. Prior to this, Mr Potter held the positions of Director, 
Vice President and Senior Vice President within the Regulatory 
department within the time period of June 2003 to April 2009. 
Before joining Just Energy, Mr Potter was Director, Utility 
Relations, at Direct Energy Maiiteting Limited. 

OUTSIDE DIRECTORS 

The Honourable Hugh D. Segal 
Member of the Senate of Canada and Senior Fellow. 
School of Policy Studies, Queen's [Jr̂ iversity 

The Honourable Hugh Segal was appointed to the Senate of 
Canada in August 2005 and is a member of the Committees on 
Aboriginal Peoples, Agriculture and Forestry, and Foreign Affairs 
and International Trade. Mr. Segal served as President of the 
Institute for Research on Public Policy from July 1999 to May 2006. 
Mr. Segal was appointed Lead Director of the Fund's Board of 
Directors in January 2005. 

John A, Brussa 
Parfne*; Burnet, Duckworth & Palmer UP 

John Brussa is a Partner in the Calgary-based CTiergy law firm of 
Burnet, Duckworth & Palmer, spedaliztng in tiie area of energy 
and taxation. He is also a director of a number of energy and 
energy-related corporations and inccmne funds. 

The Honourable Gordon D. Gil f ln 
Seriior Partner, McKenna Long S Atdridge LLP 

The Honourable Gordon Giffin is a Senior Partner in the 
Washington, D.C. and Atlanta, Georgia-based law firm of 
McKenna Long & Aidridge. From 1997 to April 2001, 
Mr. Giffin served as United States Ambassador to Canada. 

Ronald V, Joyce 
Corporate Director 

Ron Joyce was appointed to the Board of Directors in June 2008. 
Mr. Joyce is best known as the co-founder of TDL Group Ltd., 
which licences Tim Mortons restaurants in Canada and the 
United States. He Is also the founder of the Tim Hortons 
Children's Foundation. Mr. Joyce remains actively involved in his 
Hamilton-based executive charter-airline company, Jetport. 

The Honourable Mkhael J.L Kirby 
Corporate Director 

The Honourable Michael Kirby is a corporate director. Mr. Kirby 
was a member of the Senate of Canada from 1984- to 2006. 
From 1999 to 2005, Mr. Kirby was Chair of the Standing 
Committee on Social Affairs, Sdence and Technology. 

The Honourabb R. Roy McMurtry, Q.c 
Counsel, Gowling iafleur Henderson LLP 

The Honourable R. Roy McMurtry currently sen/es as counsel 
to the national law firm of Gowling Lafleur Henderson LLP. 
From February 1996 until May 2007, Mr. McMurtry was the Chief 
Justice of Ontario. 

Brian R.D. Smith 
Federal Chief Treaty Negotiator and Energy Consultant 

Brian Smith is the Federal Chief Treaty Negotiator and Energy 
Consultant, a position he has held since June 2001. Prior to this, 
Mr. Smith was the Chair of British Columbia Hydro, a position 
he held from 1996 to June 2001. 
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MD&AAT-A-GLANCE 

This MD8^A at-a-glance highlights some of the more significant information found 
in the management's discussion and analysis, which follows on page 17. It is not 
intended to provide a complete summary of Just Energy's strategies, business 
environment or performance. 

HIGHLIGHTS 
Achieved 16% growth ir̂  seasonally adjusted gross 
margin year over year, and a 15% increase in 
distributable cash after gross margin replacement, 
both exceedsrig out 10% growth targets 

Added 4 W M Q new customers, up 22% from the 
nyniber added in fiscal 2008 

Adjusted net income per umt. increased by S% from 
S1.44/uriit m fiscal 20CISto SLSa/unlt 

Acquired the accretive CEC3 book from the 
SemCanada bankruptcy, and subsequent to year-
end, agreed to acquire Universal ?:riergy 6roup, 
another- accretivf^ transaction 

Safes of Green Energy Option ("GEO") efectrkity 
products increased by 700% year over year to 
161,000 MWh delivered. GEO gas sales were off to 
a great start w i th 710,000 GJ delivered 

Began providing Ontario residential customers wMh 
a long-term water hi^^tm rental program, offering 
tankless v^atcr heaters, high efficiency conventional 

dind power vented tanks 

Customer aggregation 

Natural gas 
Canada 
United States 

Total gas 

Electricity 
Canada 
United States 

Total electricity 

Combined 

April 1, 
200B 

761.000 
213.000 

Additions 

95,000 
90,000 

AttrititHi 

(77,<^0) 
(68.030) 

Failed 
to renew 

(35,0(iQ) 

March 31, 
2009 

743,000 
235.CKJ0 

974.000 

609,000 
f 04,000 

713,000 

1,687,000 

185,000 

65,000 
16S;P00 

233,000 

418,000 

(145,000) 

(68,000) 
(30,000) ; 

(^,000) 

(243,000) 

<36,0(^) 

(28.0(H)) 
: :; (8,0(fQ) 

m.m) 
02,m) 

978,000 

578,000 
234,000 

812,000 

1,790,000 

Gross customer additions for the year were 418,000, up 22% from the number added in fiscal 2008. Excluding the CEG acquisition, gross 
customer additions of 372,000 were up 9% from the previous year, as a result of opening new sales offices and improved recruiting 
success. Total net customer additions for the year were 103,000 in fiscal 2009. In fiscal 2008. net customer additions w/ere 28,000. 

Customer margins 
During fiscal 2009, we continued to see the positive impact of 
efforts to maintain strong margin per customer during challenging 
marketing periods. This table depicts the higher margins realized 
on customers signed in the year: 

'Customer sales price less cost of assodated supply and allov/ance for bad 
debt and U.S. working capital. 

Annual gross 
margin per 
customer' 

Customers added rn the 
Canada - gas 
Canada-electricity 
United States ~ gas 
United States - electricity 

year 

Fiscal 2009 

$ 1 
1 

2 
2 

66 
47 
08 

m 

Annual 
target 

fiscal 2009 

$ 170 

143 
170 
143 
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Jyst Energy intends to continye its geographic expansion into new markets In the 
United States through both organic growth and focused acquisitions. The licenses 
and customer bases acquired wi th UEG wil l accelerate this expansion. 

Gross margin 
(seasonally adjusted) 
(millions) 

S315.2 

272.2 

188.6 

2304 
I 

163.7 

f 

05 06 07 08 09 

Annual total grass margin per RCE for 
fiscal 2009 was $181. an increase of 
1 S% owr last year C$157 per RCE). 

Distributable cash after gross 
margin/customer replacement 
(millions) 

$195.5 

170.0 
152.8 

130.0 

102.1 

05 06 07 08 09 

Distrtoutable cash grew 15%, again 
reaching a record level. 

Attrition rates 

Natural gas 

Canada 

:United States 

Electricity 

Canada 

United States 

10% 

30 

1 1 % 

17 

Natural gas attrition in Canada was 10% for the year, in line with 

management's target of 10%. In the U.S., gas attrition was 30%, 

well above management's annual target of 20%, due to record 

home foreclosures and utility shutoffs. 

Electricity attrition in Canada for the year was 11 %, slightly 

above management's 10% target. Electricity attrition in the U.S. 

was 17%, below the 20% target. 

Renewal rates 
In fiscal 2009, the only contracts eligible for renewal were Ontario. 

British Columbia and Manitoba gas customers and Ontario 

electricity customers. 

Renewals for Canadian gas customers were 73%, below the 80% 

target. The renewal rate for Ontario electricity customers was 

67%, exceeding management's target. In the Ontario electricity 

market, there is no opportunity to renew a residential or small 

volume customer for a one-year term should the customer fail to 

positively renew or terminate his or her contract. As a result, 

management targets a 60% renewal rate for electricity customers. 

Outlook 
Managements best estimation is that Just Energy will again grow 

its key operating measures during fiscal 2010. despite weak North 

American economic conditions and cOT t̂inued turmoH in credit and 

financial marlcets. 

Gross margin and distributable c a * after gross margin replacement 

per unit are expected to grow by apfMXBtimateiy 5-10% during 

fiscal 2010, induding the acquisition of Universal Energy Group Ltd. 

("UEG"). Distributable cash after marketing expenses is expected to 

grow at a slightly lower rate due to increased marketing expenses 

associated with forecasted volume additions and GEO product growth. 

Total residential customer equivalents ("RCEs") are expected to 

grow after all atthtion and failure to renew. However, 

management is not in a position to provide guidance on the level 

of customer growth pending acquiation of the UEG sales force 

and its integration into Just Energy. 

Just Energy intends to continue its geographic expansion into new 

markets in the United States through both organic growth and 

focused acquisitions. The licenses and customer bases acquired 

with UEG will accelerate this expansion. We are re\flewing a 

number of further possible acquisitions, and continue to monitor 

the progress of the deregulated markets in various jurisdictions. 

Changes made to the Income Tax Act require certain income 

trusts, including Just Energy, to pay taxes after 2010, simitar to 

those paid by taxable Canadian corporations. We are analyzing 

potential restructuring options in preparation for conversion from 

a trust to a corporation on or before 2011. 
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MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

MAUAGEMEWT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS ("MDS^A") 
May 13. 2009 

O v e r v i e w 

The following discussion and analysis is a review of the financial condition and results of operations of Just Energy Income Fund 

("Just Energy" or the "Fund"), formerly known as Energy Savings Income Fund, following its name change effective June 1. 2009, 

for the year ended March 31, 2009, and has been prepared with all information available up to and including May 13, 2009. This 

analysis should be read in conjunction with the audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended March 31,2009. 

The financial information contained herein has been prepared in accordance with Canadian Generally Accepted Accounting 

Principles ("GAAP"). All dollar amounts are expressed in Canadian dollars. Quarterly reports, the annual report and supplementary 

information can be found under "Investor relations" on our corporate website at www.justenergy.com. Additional information 

can be found on SEDAR at www.sedar.com. 

Just Energy is an open-ended, limited-purpose trust established under the lav̂ /s of the Province of Ontario to hold securities and to 

distribute the income of its directly or indirectly owned operating subsidiaries and affiliates: Ontario Energy Savings L.P. ("OESLP"), 

Energy Savings (Manitoba) L.R ("ESMLP"), Energy Savings (Quebec) L.R ("ESPQ"). E5 (B.C.) Limited Partnership C^ESBC"), Alberta 

Energy Savings L.P ("AESLP"), Just Energy Illinois Corp. ("JE Illinois"), New York Energy Savings Corp. ("NYESC"), Just Energy 

Indiana ("JE Indiana"), Just Energy Texas L.R ("JE Texas") and Newten Home Comfort L.R ("NHCLP"). 

Just Energy^ business involves the sale of natural gas and/or dectricity to residential and commercial customers isnder long-term 

fixed-price and price-protected contracts. By fixing the price of natural gas or electricity under its fixed-price or price-protected 

program contracts for a period of up to five years, Just Energy's customers offset their exposure to changes in the price of these 

essential commodities. Just Energy, which commenced business in 1997, derives its margin or gross profit from the difference 

between the fixed price at which it is able to sell the commodities to its customers and the fixed price at which it purchases the 

associated volumes from its suppliers. A new partnership was entered into on July 18,2008, which involves the marketing, leasing, 

sale and installation of tankless and high efficiency water heaters. 

Forward-looking information 
This MD&A contains certain forward-looking information pertaining to customer additions and renewals, customer consumption 

levels, distributable cash and treatment under governmental regulatory regimes. These statements are based on current expectations 

that involve a number of risks and uncertainties which could cause actual results to differ from those anticipated. These risks 

include, but are not limited to, levels of customer natural gas and electricity consumption, rates of customer additions and renewals. 

customer attrition, fluauations in natural gas and electricity prices, changes in regulatory regimes, decisions by regulatory authorities 

and competition and dependence on certain suppliers. Additional information on these and other factors that could affect the 

Fund's operations, financial results or distribution levels are induded in the Fund^ annual information form and other reports on file 

with Canadian security regulatory authorities which can be accessed on our corporate website at www.justenergy.com or through 

the SEDAR website at www.sedar.com. 

Practice change 

Effective July 1,2008, the Fund changed its practice from treating future supply hedging positions as hedges for accounting 

purposes; all mark to market adjustments are now reflected in the consolidated statements of operations. In the \flew of 

management, the previous practice offered no greater clarity for the financial statement user and was very labour intensive and 

costly to produce. The new accounting practice consolidates all the unrealized, non-cash changes in value of future supply into a 

single line on the consolidated statements of operations. The Fund's MDSA reports the adjusted net income excluding all non-cash 

mark to market adjustments for all derivative instruments and the rdated tax effect. The expected future net margin from the supply 

and customer contracts is set based on the derivative instruments and is effectively unchanged with commodity market movements. 

Given commodity price volatility and the size of the Fund, the annual swings in mark to market on these positions can be in the 

hundreds of millions of dollars. 

Just Energy believes that the result of this accounting change and the associated MD&A disclosure is that actual period operating 

results will be more transparent for investors. 
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MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

Key terms 
"LDC" means a local distribution company, the natural gas or electricity distributor for a regulatory or governmentally defined 

geographic area. 

"RCE" means residential customer equivalent or the "customer", which is a unit of measurement equivalent to a customer using, as 

regards natural gas, 2,815 m^ (or 105 GJs or 1,000 Therms or 1,025 CCFs) of natural gas on an annual basis and, as regards eiearicity, 

10 MWh (or 10,000 kWh) of electricity on an annual basis, which represents the approximate amount of gas and electricity, respectively, 

used by a typical household in Ontario. 

"Attrit ion" means customers whose contracts were terminated primarily due to relocation or death, or cancelled by Just Energy due 

to delinquent accounts. 

"Failed to renew" means customers who did not renew expiring contracts at the end of their term. 

"Delivered volume" represents the actual volume of gas and electricity provided on behalf of customers to the LDCs for the period. 

"Annualized volume/Customers" represents the utility projection of the total volume of gas and/or electricity to be delivered for each 

12-month period for customers in place at a point in time. The period growth in annualized volume equates to the growth in 

Just Energy's customers for the same period. 

"Gross margin per RCE" represents the gross margin realized on Just Energy's customer base, induding both low margin customers 

acquired through various acquisitions and gains/losses from sales of excess commodity supply. 

Non-GAAP financial measures 

All non-GAAP financial measures do not have standardized meanings prescribed by GAAP and are therefore unlikely to be 

comparable to similar measures presented by other issuers. 

Seasorjal ly ad jus ted sales a n d seasonal ly ad jus ted gross m a r g i n 

Management believes the best basis for analyzing both the Fund's results and the amount available for distribution is to focus on 

amounts actually received ("seasonally adjusted") because this figure provides the margin earned on actual customer consumption. 

Seasonally adjusted sales and gross margin are not defined performance measures under Canadian GAAR Seasonally adjusted 

analysis applies solely to the Canadian gas market and specifically to Ontario, Quebec and Manitoba. In those markets, Just Energy 

is paid based on deliveries made to the LDCs evenly throughout the year. The seasonal adjustment is made to more closely align the 

gross margin to reflect cash received during the period. 

No seasonal adjustment is required for electricity as the supply is balanced daily. In the other gas markets, payments for supply by 

the LDCs are aligned with customer consumption. 

Cash Ava i l ab le f o r D i s t r i bu t i on 

"Distributable cash after marketing expense" refers to the net Cash Available for Distribution to Unitholders. Seasonally adjusted 

gross margin is the principal contributor to Cash Available for Distribution. Distributable cash is calculated by the Fund as seasonally 

adjusted gross margin, adjusted for cash items including general and administrative expenses, marketing expenses, capital tax, bad 

debt expense, interest expense, corporate taxes and other adjustments. This non-GAAP measure may not be comparable to other 

income funds. 

"Distributable cash after gross margin replacement" represents the net Cash Available for Distribution to Unitholders as defined above. 

However, only the marketing expenses associated with maintaining the Fund's gross margin at a stable level equal to that in place at the 

beginning of the year are deducted. Management believes that this is more representative of the ongoing operating perfonnance of the 

Fund because it includes all expenditures necessary for the retention of existing customers and the addition of new margin to replace 

those of customers that have not been renewed. This non-GAAP measure may not be comparable to other income funds. 

For reconciliation to cash from operating activities please refer to the "Cash Available for Distribution and distributions" analysts on 

page 21. 

A d j u s t e d n e t m c o m e 

"Adjusted net income" represents the net income (loss) removing the impact of mark to market gains (losses) ariwng from derivative 

financial instruments on our future supply Just Energy ensures that customer margins are protected by entering into fixed-price 

supply contracts. In accordance with GAAR the associated customer contraas are not marked to market, hut there is a requirement 

to mark to market the future supply contracts. This creates unrealized gains (losses) depending upon current supply pricing volatility. 
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MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

Management believes that these short-term mark to market non-cash gains (losses) do not impaa the long-term financial performance 

of the Fund. The related future supply has been sold under long-term customer contracts at fixed prices; therefore the annual 

movement in the theoretical value of this future supply is not an appropriate measure of current or future operating perfonnance. 

S tanda rd i zed D is t r i bu tab le Cash 

Standardized Distributable Cash is a non-GAAP measure developed to provide a consistent and comparable measurement of 

distributable cash across entities. 

"Standardized Distributable Cash" is defined as cash flows from operating activities, as reported in accordance with GAAR less an 

adjustment for total capita! expenditures as reported in accordance with GAAP and restrictions on distributions arising from 

compliance with financial covenants restrictive at the date of the calculation of Standardized Distributable Cash. 

For reconciliation to cash from operating artivities please refer to the "Standardized Distributable Cash and Cash Availabte for 

Distribution" analysis on page 23. 

Financial h i g h l i g h t s 

For the years ended March 31 

(thousands of dollars, except where indicated and per unit amounts) 

Fiscal 2003 

Per 
uDit Char^ge 

r\s:^l 2C0S 

Per 
unit Change 

Fiscal 2007 

unit 

Sales 

Net income (loss)̂  

Adjusted net income^ 

Gross margin (seasonally adjusted) 

Distributable cash 

After gross margin replacement 

After marketing expense 

Distributions 

(induding Special Distribution^) 

Distributions 

(exduding Special Distribution) 

General and administrative 

Distributable cash payout ratio^ 

(induding Speda! Distribution) 

After grossmargin replacement 

After marketing expense 

Distributable cash payout ratio^ 

(exduding Spedal Distribution) 

After gross margin replacement 

After marketing expense 

1,S32,317 $ I4.2S 

!93,912 $ 0.88 

lb l ,882 % 0.95 

$0 ,368 $ 2.15 

l b , 7 8 8 $ 1.42 

1129,984 $ 1.21 

156,604 $ t ^ (10)% 173,531 $ 1.60 60% 1|38,652 $ 1.01 

1.899413 
(1107^73) 

169,929 
315,193 

195,520 

169,353 

$ 
;$̂  

:̂ $: 

$ 

$ 
$ 

17;03 
(9.93) 

1.52 
2.83 

1.75 

1.52 

9% 

ft% 
16% 

15% 
1 1 % ; 

1.738.690 
152,761 
T56.722 

272.130 

169,997 
152.^4 

$ 16.04 
$ 1.41 
$ 1.44 

$ 2.51 

$ 1.57 
$ 1.41 

13% 

54% 
18% 

11% 

18% 

1 3 8 , 0 ^ S 1.24 7% 

59,586 S 0 . ^ 15% 

80% 

92% 

123,840 S 1.19 

51.638 $ 0.48 

102% 

114% 

19% 

23% 

ip8,e52 $ 1.01 

41,892 $ 0 . ^ 

7 1 % 

84% 

7 1 % 

82% 

76% 

: ^ % 
; 7 1 % 

: 84% 

^ Net income (loss) includes the impact of unrealized gains (losses) which represents the mark to market of future commodity supply acquired to cover 
future customer demand. The supply has been sold to customers at fixed prices greatly diminishing the realization of year-end rrark to maricet gains 
and losses. 

= Adjusted net income is a more appropriate measure of the performance of the Fund since the underlying supply is held to its mauirity, and therefore, 
mark to market gams and losses do not impact the long-term financial performance of the Fund. 

3 In calendar 2D08 and 3007, the Fund under-distributed its taxable income and the Board of Directors of 0E5C concluded that a fecial Distribution 
vw)uld be paid to ensure that all taxable income would be distributed. Refer to "Special Distribution" on page 35 for further information. 

" Management targets an annual payout ratio after all marketing expenses, excluding the Special Distribution, of less than 100%. 

Reconc i l ia t ion o f n e t i n c o m e (loss) t o ad jus ted n e t i ncome 

Net income (loss) 

Change in fair value of derivative InstrumCTtS 

Tax Impaa on change in fair value of cterivative instruments 

Adjusted net income 

Fiscal 2003 Ff̂ ica! 200S l"iscal 2C07 

$ { t « > 7 ^ 7 3 ) £ 152,1^1 $ 93,912 

1,336,976 m^ 7.619 

(59»574) 3,^30 351 

S 169,929 $ 156pl22 $ 101 ; 
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Ope ra t i ons 

Gas 

In each of the markets in which Just Energy operates, it is required to deliver gas to the LDCs for its customers throughout the year. 

Gas customers are charged a fixed price for the full term of their contract. Just Energy purchases gas supply in advance of 

marketing. The LDC provides historical customer usage to enable Just Energy to purchase an approximation of matched supply. 

Furthermore, in many markets. Just Energy mitigates exposure to customer usage by purchasing options that cover potential 

differences in customer consumption due to weather variations. The cost of this strategy is incorporated in the price to the 

customer. To the extent that balancing requirements are outside the options purchased. Just Energy bears the financial responsibility 

for fluctuations in customer usage. Volume variances may result in either excess or short supply. Excess supply is sold in the spot 

market resulting in either a gain or loss compared to the weighted average cost of supply. In the case of greater than expected gas 

consumption, Just Energy must purchase the short supply at ttie market price, which may reduce or increase the custcMDer gross 

margin typically realized. 

Ontai lo, Quebec and British Columbia 

In Ontario, Quebec and British Columbia, the volumes delivered for a customer typically remain constant throughout the year. 

Just Energy does not recognize sales until the customer artually consumes the gas. During the winter months, gas is consumed at 

a rate which is greater than delivery and in the summer months, deliveries to LDCs exceed customer consumptioh. Just Energy 

receives cash from the LDCs as the gas is delivered, which is even throughout the year. 

Manitoba and Alberta 

In Manitoba and Alberta, the volume of gas delivered is based on the estimated consumption for each month. Therefore, the 

amount of gas delivered in winter months is higher than in the spring and summer months. Consequently, cash received from 

customers and LDCs will be higher in the winter months. 

Alberta's regulatory environment is different from the other Canadian provincial markets. In Alberta, Just Energy is required to 

invoice and receive payments directly from customers. Just Energy entered into an agreement with EPCOR Utilities Inc. ("EPCOR") 

for the provision of billing and collection sen/ices in Alberta which was amended and extended in December 20(ffi. Pursuant to the 

amended agreement, EPCOR will continue to provide billing and collection services for AESLP until November 30, 2011. with 

respect to AESLP's existing customers. In the late summer of 2009, Just Energy intends to begin billing and collection services 

directly for all new customers signed and renewed customers. 

New York, HIirofS anti Indiana 

In New York, Illinois and Indiana, the volume of gas delivered is based on the estimated consumption and storage requirements for 

each month. Therefore the amount of gas delivered in winter months is higher than in the spring and summer months. 

Consequently, cash flow from the New York, Illinois and Indiana operations is greatest during the third and fourth (winter) quarters, 

as normally, cash is received from the LDCs in the same period as customer consumption. 

Electr ic i ty 

Ontario, Alberta, New York and Texas 

Just Energy does not bear the risk for variations in customer consumption in any of the eiectricity markets in which it operates other 

than the commercial customers acquired in Texas. In Ontario and New York, Just Energy provides customers with price proteaion 

for the majority of their eiearicity requirements. The customws experience either a small balancing charge or credit on eacti bill due 

to fluctuations in prices applicable to their volume requirements not covered by a fixed price. In ^berta. Just Energy offers a load-

following product for which it has acquired load-following supply and therefore does not have exposure to variances in customer 

consumption. Effectively all future offerings for Texas customers will be a load balanced produrt, and Just Energy will not bear the 

risk for variations in customer consumption. 

Cash flow from electricity operations is greatest during the second and fourth quarters (summer and winter), as eiearicity 

consumption is typically highest during these periods. 

W a t e r heaters 

NHCLP ("Newten") commenced providing Ontario residential customers with a long-term water heater rental program in the 

summer of 2008, offering tankless water heaters, high efficiency conventional and power vented tanks. Newten continues to ramp 

up its operations and as at March 31, 2009, had installed over 1,700 water heaters in residential homes and has commenced 

earning revenue from its installed base of customers. 
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Cash Available for Distribution and distributions 
For the years ended March 31 

(thousands of dollars, except per unit amounts) 

Reconciliation t o statements 
of cashf low 

Cash inflow from operations 
Add: 

Increase (decrease) ih non-cash 
working capital 

Tax impact on distributions to Class A 
preference shareholders 

Cash Available for Distribution 

Cash Available for Distribution 
Gross margin per financial statements 

Adjustments required to reflect 
net cash receipts from gas sales 

Seasonally adjusted grosis margin 

Less: 
General and administrative 

Capital tax expense 
Bad debt expense 
Income tax recovery (expense) 

Interest expense 
Other items 

Distributable cash before 
marketing expenses 

Marketing expenses to maintain 
gross margin 

Distributable cash after gross 

margin replacement 

Marketing expenses to add new 
gross margin 

Cash Available for Distribution 

Distributions 
(includes Special Distribution) 

Unitholder distributions 

Class A preference share distributions 
Unit appreciation rights and 

deferred unit grants distributions 

Total distributions 

Distributions 
(excludes Special Distribution) 

Unitholder distributions 

Class A preference share distributions 
Unit appreciation rights and 

deferred unit grants distributions 

Total distributions 

Diluted average number of 

units outstanding 

S 

L 

s 

~L 

172,767 

(6,181) 

2,767 

-ffi9,3Sa 

322,816 

(7,623) 

31S;193 

(59,586) 
(220) 

(13,887) 

(3,861) 
(3,857) 
3,664 

(77,747) 

237,446 

(41,926) 

195,520 

(26.167) 

169.3S3 

147,399 

7,660 

1,545 

156,604 

129.872 
6,791 

1,367 

138,030 

Fiscal 2009 

S 

;;$̂  

$ 

% 

2. 

_$^ 

-L 

Per unit 

2.90 

2.83 

2.13 

1.75 

1.52 

1.40 

1.24 

111.5m 

$ 

J_ 

$ 

S 

136,007 

n,879 

4,948 

152,834 

274.800 

(2,620) 

272,180 

(51,638) 
(827) 

(5,951) 
757 

(5.345) 
780 

(63,225) 

208,955 

(38,958) 

169,997 

(17,163) 

152,834 

158,511 

13,699 

1,321 

173,531 

117,720 

10,130 

990 

128,840 

Fiv • . J 2 0 m 

H r unit 

2.53 

2.51 

1.93 

1.57 

1.41 

1.60 

1.19 

108.4m 

$ 

J_ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

J__ 

$ 

_£_ 

1 

98.S54 

t 

2aiii 

3.319 

129.$84 

229,444 

$24 

230,168 

(41,$92) 

($50) 
(10,882) 

(?39) 

(3 , ^2 ) 

00 
(57.415) 

i 

172,^53 

i 
(20,165) 

152,788 

(22.304) 

129,964 

99.036 
9.188 

428 

108,^52 

99.036 

9.188 

428 

108,652 

1 

F 

% 

_L 

$ 

j _ 

-L 

-L 

±̂  

iiLdI 2007 

Per unit 

2.14 

2.15 

1.61 

1.42 

1.21 

1.01 

i;oi 

107.3m 
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Distributable cash 
Distributable cash after gross margin replacement for the cun'ent year was $195.5 million ($1.75 per unit), up 15% from 
$170.0 million ($1.57 per unit) in fiscal 2003. The growth reflerts a 16% increase in seasonally adjusted gross margin. Factors which 
aided margin growth included net customer additions, increased consumption due to the cold winter weather with lower supply 
costs to meet this demand and favourable U-S. exchange rates. 

The higher gross margins in the year were offset by increased general and administration costs and bad debt expenses. Increased 
general and administrative costs of 15%, over the prior comparable year, were primarily staffing costs in our corporate office to 
support our current and future growth, U.S. exchange rate impact on U.S. dollar denominated costs, an increase in collection costs, 
full year rent for our new customer sen/ice call centre and legal fees with respect to business operations in the U.S. Bad debt 
expense increased in fiscal 2009 compared to 2008, due to the increased revenue in those markets where the Fund bears the credit 
risk and the weak economic conditions in the U.S. maricets. In addition, during fiscal 2008, the Fund released excess bad debt 
resen/e, reducing the comparable bad debt expense for the year. 

Just Energy spent $41.9 million in marketing expenses to maintain its current level of gross margin, which represents 62% of the 
total marketing expense for the year A further $26.2 million was spent to increase future gross margin refleaing the 103,000 net 
RCE additions for fiscal 2009. Management's estimate of the future contracted gross margin grew to $1,020.3 million, up from 
$915.3 million in the third quarter of fiscal 2009. 

Distributable cash after all marketing expenses amounted to $169.4 million ($1.52 per unit) for fiscal 2009, an increase of 11% 
from $152.8 million ($1.41 per unit) in the prior comparable year. The increase is due to the higher gross margin offset by increased 
expenditures noted above. The lower rate of increase for distributable cash was due to the higher marketing costs associated with 
the significant increase in net customer additions year over year. Excluding Special Distributions, the payout ratio after deduction of 
all marketing expenses for the current year was 82%, versus 84% in fiscal 2008. 

For further information on the changes in the gross margin, please refer to "Sales and gross margin - Seasonally adjusted" on 
page 25 and "General and administrative expenses", "Marketing expenses", "Bad debt expense" and "Interest expense" are 
further clarified on pages 33, 34 and 35. 

Discussion of distributions 
For the years ended March 31 
(thousands of dollars) 

Cash flow from operations^ (A) 
Net income (loss) (B) 
Total distributions^ (C) 
Excess (shortfall) of cash flows from operating 
activities over distributions paid (A-C) 

Shortfall of net income Opss) 

over distributions paid:(B-C) 

Fiscal 2D09 

S 172,767 $ 
(1,107,473) 

156,604 
16,163 

(1,264,077) 

;coi: 

136,(f07 $ 98,354 

152,761 33,912 
173,331 108,652 
(37,324) (10,298) 

(20,:il70) (14,740) 

' Indudes non-cash working capital balances. 

' Indudes a one-time Special Distribution of $18,6 million in fiscal 2009 and $44.7 million in fiscal 2008. 

Net income (loss) indudes non-cash gains and losses associated wilti the changes in the current market value of Just Energy's 
derivative instruments. These instruments form part of the Fund's requirement to purchase commodity according to estimated 
demand and, as such, changes in value do not impact the distribution policy or the long-term financial performance of the Fund. 
Effective July 1, 2008, Just Energy eleaed to discontinue the practice of hedge accounting and all gains and losses on derivative 
instruments have been recorded in change in fair value of derivative instruments. 

Thechangeinfairvalueassociated with these derivatives included in the net loss was $1.3 billion for the 12 months ended 
March 31, 2009. In fiscal 2008, Just Energy had eleaed to use hedge accounting and thus was able to book the changes in fair 
value predominantly to other comprehensive income. The change in fair value for the year in fiscal 2008 was $76.9 million. 
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Fi5ca! 2009 6C3l 2Q0S Fiscal 2007 

As can be seen in the table above, the Fund has, in the past, paid out distributions ^at were higher than both financial statement 
net income (loss) and operating cash flow. In the view of management, the non-GAAP measure, distributable cash, is an appropriate 
measure of the Fund's ability to distribute funds, as the cost of carrying incremental working capital necessary for the growth of the 
business has been deduaed in the distributable cash calculation. Further, investment in the addition of new customers intended to 
increase cash flow is expensed in the financial statements while the original customer base was capitalized. Management brieves 
that the current level of distributions is sustainable in the foreseeable future. 

The timing differences between distributions and cash flow from operations created by the cost of carrying incremental working 
capital due to business seasonality and expansion are funded by the operating credit facility. 

Standardized Distributable Cash and Cash Available for Distribution 
For the years ended March 31 
(thousands of dollars, except per unit amounts) 

Reconciliation to Statements of cash flow 
Cash inflow from operations 
Capital expenditures^ 

Standardized Distributable Cash 

Adjustments to Standardized Distributable Cash 
Change in non-cash working capital 

Tax impaa on distributions to Class A preference shar^olders^ 
Capital expenditures' 

Cash Available for Distribution 

Standardized Distributable Cash - per unit basic 
Standardized Distributable Cash - per unit diluted 
Payout ratio based on Standardized Distributable CasW 
(includes Special Distribution) 

Payoutratio based on Standardized Distributable Cash 
(excludes Special Distribution) 

$ 172,767 $ 136,EJ07 $ 98,354 

(6,34^ (7.842) (3,726) 

i 156,422 $ 128,165 $ 94.628 

$ (6,181) $ 11^79 $ 28311 
2.767 4 , ^ 8 3319 

6345 7,042 3.726 

$ 169353 $ 152,^34 $ 129^84 

1.51 

94% 

83% 

i;i9 
ni8 

135% 

100% 

0.89 

0.88 

115% 

115% 

' Capital expenditures are funded out of the credit facility. 

^ Change in non-cash worl<ing capital is excluded from the calculation of Cash Available for Distribution as Ihe Fund cutren% has a $170.0 milliwi oredit fadiity 

which is available for use to fund working capital requirements. This eliminates the potential impact of timing distortions relating to the respective itwns. 

3 Payments to the holders of Class A preference shares are equivalent to distributions. The number of Class A preference shares outstanding is included 
in the denominator of any per unit calculation, 

•* The Special Distribution relating to 2008 and 2007 has increased the payout ratios for both comparable periods. Refer to "Specie^ Distribution" on 
page 35 for further details. 

In accordance with the CICA July 2007 interpretive release "Standardized Distributable Cash in Income Trusts and other Flow-
Through Entities", the Fund has presented the distributable cash calculation to conform to this guidance, tn summary, for the 
purposes of the Fund, Standardized Distributable Cash is defined as the periodic cash flows from operating activities, including the 
effects of changes in non-cash working capital less total capital expenditures as reported in the GAAP financial statements. 

Financing strategy 

The Bank of Nova Scotia joined the lending syndicate on Oaober 17, 2008, with funding totalling $20.0 million increasing the Fund^ 
credit facility to $ 170.0 million. The credit facility will be sufficient to meet the Fund's short-term working capital and capital 
expenditure requirements. Working capital requirements can vary widely due to seasonal fluctuations and planned U.S.-related 
growth. In the long term, the Fund may be required to access the equity or debt markets in order to fund significant acquisitions. 
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Productive capacity 

Just Energy's business involves the sale of natural gas and/or dectricity to residential and commercial customers under long-term, 
fixed-price contracts. As such, the Fund's productive capacity is determined by the gross margin earned from ttie contract price and 
the related supply cost 

The productive capacity of Just Energy is achieved through the retention of existing customers and the addition of new customers to 
replace those that have not been renewed. The produaive capacity also is maintained through independent contraaors, call centre 
renewal efforts and various mail campaigns to achieve customer growth. 

Effeaively all of the marketing costs related to customer contracts are expensed immediately but fall imo two categories. The 
first represents marketing expenses to maintain gross margin at pre-existing levels and therefore maintain produrtive capacity. 
The second categop/ is marketing expenditures to add new margin which therefore expands productive capacity. 

Financial statement analysis 
Sales and gross margin - Per financjai statements 
For the years ended March 31 
(thousands of dollars) 

Fiscal 2009 r:s,=:)i ;^:y;^ 

Sales Canada United States Total Canada United States Total 

Gas 

Eiectricity 

Increase 

Gross margin 

Gas 

Etectricity 

increase 5% ; ; 67% 17% 

Caaada 

Sales amounted to $1.3 billion for the year, effeaively unchanged from the same period in fiscal 2008. Gross margin was 

$231.7 million for fiscal 2009, up 5% from $220.2 million in the prior comparable year 

United States 

Sales and gross margin in the U.S. were $566.6 million and $91.1 million for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2009, an increase 
of 39% and 67%, respectively, from the same period last year 

For additional information, see "Sales and gross margin - Seasonally adjusted" on page 25. 

$ 814,275 $ 343,889 
5 1 8 , ^ 2 2 ^ 6 1 

11,33^663; 1 5«^S50 

0%: 39% 

Canada United states 

$ 154,171 $ 64.118 

77iW9 ;2fi37B 

$ 231^^0 $ : ̂ 1,096 

S 1,158,164 
741,049 

$ 1399,213 

$ 

S 

9% 

Total 

218,289 
104,527 

322.816 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

785,788 
544.278 

1.330,066 

Canada 

140.443 
79,804 

220,247 

+ — 
$ 247,463 

161.161 
$ 408,624 

1 

United Stajtes 

$ 38,m9 
1 6 , ^ 

$ 54,^3 

$ 1.033.251 
705,439 

$ 1,738,6^ 

$ 

$ 

Total 

178,592 

96,208 

274,800 
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Seasonal ly a d j u s t e d analys is 

Safes ^ n d gross margir^ - Seasonal ly a d j u s t e d ' 

For the years ended March 31 

(thousands of dollars) 

Sales 

Gas 

Adjustments' 

Electricity 

Increase 

Gross margin 

Gas 

Adjustments' 

Eledricity 

Increase 

For Ontario, Manitoba and Quebec gas markets. 

Canada United States 

Fiscal 2Q09 i iscsl 200Z 

Total Canada United Stites Total 

$ 

s 

814.275 

(10.480) 

803,795 

518.388 

% 1.322,183 

$ 

S 

%_ 

$ 

S 

$ 

343,889 

343,889 

222.661 

566,550 

0% 39% 

Canada United States 

154.171 

C7,623) 

146,548 

77.549 

224,097 

$ 

$ 

$ 

64,118 

64,118 

26.978 

91,096 

$ 1,158,164 

<10,480) 

$ 1,147,684 

741,049 

$ 1,888.733 

i 

s 

t 

9% 

Total 

218.289 

(7,623) 

2ia666 

104,527 

315,193 

$ 

$ 

785,788 

(8,085) 

777,703 

544,278 

$ 1,321,981 

$ 

$ 

$ 

Canada 

140,443 

a620) 

137,823 

79.804 

217,627 

$ 

$ 

$ 

247,te 

247,463 

161.161 

408,^24 
1 
! 

United States 

$ 

$ 

$ 

38, 49 

38.J49 
16.|04 

54.453 

$ 1.033,251 

(8,085) 

$ 1,025.155 

705,439 

$ 1.730.605 

$ 

$ 

$ 

Total 

178,592 

(2,620) 

175.972 

96,208 

272,180 

3% 67% 16% 

Gross rrsargm anaHysis 

For the years ended March 31 

(thousands of dollars) 

Gas 

Customer margin 

Loss from dispositions of excess 

supply and financial reconciliations' 

Gas margin 

Electricity 

Customer margin 

Loss from dispositions of 

excess supply^ 

Electricity margin 

Total 

Increase 

Canada United States 

Fiscal 2009 Fisal ̂ 003 

Total Canada United States Total 

S 146,798 $ 

(250) 

70,881 $ 

(6,763) 

217,679 $ 

(7,013) 

143,649 $ 

(5,826) 

40,179 S 183,828 

(2.030) (7,856) 

S 146,548 S 64,118 $ 210,666 $ 137,823 $ 38, 49 $ 175,972 

S 78,417 S 

(868) 

26,981 $ 

(3) 

105,398 $ 

(871) 

84,087 $ 

(4.283) 

16.$07 $ 100.694 

(i03) {4.485) 

S 77.549 $ 

S 224,097 $ 

26,978 $ 104,527 $ 79,804 $ 

91,096 $ 315,193 $ 217,627 $ 

16.404 $ 96,208 

54.$53 $ 272.180 

3% 87% 16% 

' Results from variances in customer demand and associated gas recondliations. 

^ Results from excess supply purchased in advance of customer usage or fluauations in customer usage attributable to remaining customers on load-
following contracts, 
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On a seasonally adjusted basis, sales increased by 9% to $1.9 billion as compared to $1.7 billion in fiscal 2008. Gross margins were 
$315.2 million in fiscal 2009, up 16% from the comparable prior year. 

Canatia 
Seasonally adjusted sales were $1.3 billion for the year, effectively unchanged from fiscal 2008. Seasonally adjusted gross margins 
were $224.1 million in fiscal 2009, an increase of 3% from $217.6 million in the prior fiscal year. 

Gas 
Canadian gas sales increased by 3% to $803.8 million from $777.7 million in the prior comparable year. In fiscal 2009, total 
customer delivered volumes were down 3% due to a 2% decline in the customer base. However, despite the drop in the customer 
base, customer revenue grew by 3% due to an increase in the contraa price for new customers signed compared to those 
customers lost through attrition. Gross margin totalled $146.5 million, up 6% from fiscal 2008 due to significant increases in tfie 
margin per customer and lower losses on sale of excess gas to third parties. Excess volumes sold during the year created a loss of 
$0.3 million in fiscal 2009 versus a loss of $5.8 million in the 12 months of fiscal 2008. 

After allowance for balancing and inclusive of acquisitions, average gross margin per customer ("GM/RCE") for the 12 months 
ended March 31, 2009, amounted to $210/RCE, compared to $193/RCE from the prior comparable year. The GM/RCE value 
includes an appropriate allowance for the bad debt expense in Alberta. 

IkKtrldty 

Eiearicity sales were $518.4 million for the year, a decrease of 5% from fiscal 2008. The reduced sales are attributable to a 9% 
decrease in total consumption partially attributable to a 5% dedine in the number of customers, year over year. Gross margin 
decreased by only 3% from the prior year to $77.5 million as improved supply management processes and increased Green Energy 
Option ("GEO") customers offset the decline in customer numbers and lower consumption. 

During the year, a small amount of excess volume was sold due to improved commodity management. The balancing losses for the 
year totalled $0,9 million, greatly reduced from a $4.3 million loss in the prior comparable year. 

Average gross margin per customer after all balancing and induding acquisitions for the year ended March 31, 2009, in Canada 
amounted to $131/RCE, up 6% compared to $124/RCE from the prior comparaWe year. The GM/RCE value includes an appropriate 
allowance for the bad debt expense in Alberta. 

Un i ted States 
Sales for the 12 months of fiscal 2009 were $556.5 million, an increase of 39% from $408.6 million in the prior year. Seasonally 

adjusted gross margin was $91.1 million, up 67% from $54.6 million in fiscal 2008. 

Ga^ 

Gas sales and gross margin in the U.S. for fiscal 2009 totalled $343.9 million and $64.1 million, respertively, versus $247.5 million 
and $38.1 million last year. The sales increase of 39% relates primarily to higher average prices, a 13% increase in customer 
consumption reflecting a 10% increase in customers and the impaa of colder weather. Sales and margins also benefited from an 
increase in the U.S. dollar exchange rate. The U-S. gas gross margin increased by 68% during the 12 months ended Warch 31, 
2009. The increase in gross margin for the year resulted from increased customers and higher weather-related consumption offset 
by the sale of a regional long position resulting in the third party losses of $6.8 million. 

Average gross margin after all balancing costs for the 12 months ended March 31, 2009, was $259/RCE, an increase of 48% over the 
prior year comparable period of $175/RCE. Strong customer consumption on an increased customer base as well as favouraWe 
exchange rates contributed to the increase. The GM/RCE value includes an appropriate allowance for bad debt expense in Illinois. 
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Bectrk.iiy 

Electricity sales and gross margin for the year were $222.7 million and $27.0 million, respeaively, versus the prior comparable year 
of fiscal 2008 in which sales and gross margin amounted to $161.2 million and $16.4 million. Sales and gross margin increased by 
38% and 54%, respectively, due to an increase in customers and contract prices, favourable exchange rates and higher per 
customer consumption due to colder weather in New York. 

Average gross margin per customer for eiearicity during the current quarter increased by 30% to $133fllCE compared to $102/RCE 
in the prior year comparable period. U.S. eiearicity margins benefited from improved supply management and the strong U.S. 
dollar. The GM/RCE value for Texas includes an appropriate allowance for the bad debt expense. 

Selected consolidated financial data 
(thousands of dollars, except where indicated and per unit amounts) 

The consolidated financial statements of the Fund are prepared in accordance with Canadian GAAP and are expressed in Canadian 
dollars. The following table provides seleaed financial information for the last three fiscal years. 

Statements of Operations data 
For the years ended March 31 
Sales per financial statements 
Gross margin (seasonally adjusted) 
Net income (loss) 
Adjusted net income 
Net income per unit - basic 
Net income per unit - diluted 

Adjusted net income per unit - basic -
Adjusted net income per unit - diluted 

2009 

$ 1,899,213 

315.193 

(1,107,473) 

169,929 

(10.03) 

(9.93) 

1.54 

1.52 

200S 

$ 1,738,$90 

2 72, i 80 

152,761 

155,722 

1,42 

1.41 

1.46 

1.45 

2007 

$ 1.532.317 

230.368 

93,912 

101,832 

0.88 

0.S8 

0.95 

0.95 

Balance sheet data 
As at March 31 

Total assets 

Long-term liabilities 

2009 2D08 ZDO'i 

$ 535,755 S 709,115 $ 357.227 

480.802 246,248 19,509 
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2009 c o m p a r e d w i t h 200B 

The increase in sales and gross margin is primarily a result of the increase in the customer base, mainly in Texas and New York and improved 

contract prices. In addition, on August 14,2008, Just Energy purchased substantially all of the commercial and residential customer 

contracts (46,000 RCEs) of CEG Energy Options inc. ("CEG") in British Columbia which contributed to Canadian sales and margin. 

The change in net income from a gain of $152.8 million to a loss of $1.1 billion relates primarily to the $1.3 billion loss representing 

the change in fair value of the derivative instruments. These instruments reflea the Fund's requirement to purchase commodity 

according to estimated demand and, as such, changes in value do not impaa the long-term financial performance of the Fund. 

Effective July 1,2008. Just Energy eleaed to discontinue the practice of hedge accounting and all gains and losses on derivative 

instruments have been recorded in the "Change in fair value of derivative instruments" caption on the Statement of Operations. In 

fiscal 2008, Just Energy had elected to use hedge accounting and tfius was able to book the changes in fair value predominantly to 

other comprehensive income. 

Adjusted net income increased to $169.9 million In fiscal 2009 from $156.7 million last year. The increase is a result of improved 

gross margin figures, offset by increases in general and administrative costs, bad debt expenses and marketing expenses. General 

and administrative expenses increases were primarily staffing costs in our corporate office to support our current and future growth, 

U.S. exchange rates, impact on U.S. dollar denominated costs, an increase in collection costs, full year rent for our new customer 

sen/ice call centre and legal fees with respect to business operations in the U.S. Bad debt costs increased primarily due to the large 

increase in total revenues for the year in the markets where Just Energy assumes the risk for accounts receivable collections. In 

addition, the increase in the U.S. exchange rate and higher default rates noted in the U.S. markets due to the recessionary 

conditions led to higher bad debt expense this fiscal year During fiscal 2008, improved collection procedures had resulted in a 

significant excess resen/e tor bad debt, which was released in that fiscal year lowering the bad debt expense. Marketing costs were 

up due to the impact of the growth in customer additions, higher U.S. exchange on our U.S.-based marketing costs and increased 

recruiting and corporate marketing overhead required to build our commercial sales team. 

Total assets decreased by 24% primarily as a result of the change in the other asset - long term. There has been B significant 

drop in the forward gas and power prices related to our derivative instruments noted above. As a result, there were far more 

commodity contracts with counterparties that would have resulted in a gain in the prior year, if sold on the open market. In fiscal 

2009, the situation is the opposite whereby there are far more contracts with counterparties that would result in a loss if sold on 

the open market. Therefore, the other asset - long term amount has decreased and the other liabilities - long term amount has 

increased. Long-term liabilities increased in fiscal 2009 primarily due to the change in mark to market valuation of our derivative 

instruments explained above. 

200S c o m p a r e d w i t h 2007 

The increase in sales and gross margin is primarily a result of the increase in the average sales price and customer base. The Fund 

acquired Just Energy Texas L.R in Texas on May 24, 2007, which contributed to the sales increase. The Fund also had a full 12 months 

of results from National Fuel Gas ("NFG") in New York and Northern Indiana Public Service Company ("NIPSCO") in Indiana which 

were two new jurisdictions entered in 2007. 

The increase in net income from $93.9 million to $152.8 million and in net income per unit is a result of an increase in gross margin 

per customer as well as a decrease in bad debt expense, offset by increases in general and administrative costs, marketing expenses 

and other expenses relating primarily to the change in market value of derivative financial instruments. Effective credit and collertion 

processes implemented during fiscal 2008 reduced the bad debt expense. In addition, collections from the winter billings of fiscal 

2007 were higher than anticipated which resulted in a reduaion in the associated resen/e. General and administrative expenses 

increased primarily as a result of the additional number of employees and infrastructure necessary to support the Fund's expansion 

into Texas, The increase in marketing expenses is due to higher overhead costs associated with opening additional offices and 

additional recruiting expenses. 

Adjusted net income increased by 54% from $101.9 million in fiscal 2007 to $156.7 million in fiscal 2008. In fiscal 2008 and 2007. 

Just Energy had elected to use hedge accoun-^ng and thus was able to book the changes in fair value of the Fund^ derivative insfruments 

predominantly to other comprehensive income. Therefore, the differences between adjusted net income and net income are not large 

since most of the unrealized and realized gains and losses were not flowing through the consolidated statement of operations. 

Total assets increased by 99% primarily as a result of the implementation of a new accounting standard for derivative financial 

instruments. Just Energy was required to record other assets and liabilities representing the estimated fair value on a mark to market 

basis of all derivative instruments effective fiscal 2008. In fiscal 2007, only certain derivative instruments were required to be fair 

valued and recorded in the consolidated financial statements. 
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Long-term liabilities increased in fiscal 2008 primarily due to the increase in other liabilities - long term as a result of the Implementation 

of a new accounting standard for derivative finandal instruments. In addition, there was a reclassification of the debt from current to 

long term on the change of the credit fadiity renewal period to three yeai^ from a previous annual renewal term. 

Summary of quarterly results 
(thousands of dollars, except per unit amounts) 

Fiscal 2009 

Sales per fmancial statements 

Gross margin (seasonally adjusted) 

Generatand administrative expense 

Net income (loss) 

Net income (loss) per unit - basic 

Net income (loss) per unit - diluted 

Adjusted net income 

Adjusted net income per unit - ba.sic 

Adjusted net income per unit - diluted 

Amount available for distribution 

After gross margin/customer replacement 

After marketing expense 

Payout ratio' 

After gross margin/customer replacement 

After marketing expense ^ ^ 

Fiscal 2G0S 

Sales per finandal statements 

Gross margin (seasonally adjusted) 

General and administrative expense 

Net income 

Net income per u n i t - basic 

Net income per uni t -di luted 

Adjusted net income . 

Adjusted net income per unit - basic 

Adjusted net income per unit - diluted 

Amount available for distribution 

After gross margin replacement 

After marketing expense 

Payout ratio' 

After gross margin replacement 

After marketing expense 

' Includes a one-time Special Distribution of $13.6 million in fiscal 2009 and $44,7 million in fiscal 2008. 

The Fund's results reflect seasonality as consumption is greatest during the third and fourth quarters (winter quarters). Vtfhile year 
over year quarterly comparisons are relevant, sequential quarters will vary materially The main impaa of this will be higher 
distributable cash with a lower payout ratio in the third and fourth quarters and lower distributable cash with a higher payout ratio 
in the first and second quarters excluding any Special Distribution. 

Armlysh of the fourth quarter 
Sales are typically higher in the third and fourth quarters because gas consumption is highest during the winter months and 
approximately 55% of the current customer base comprises gas customers. The 9% increase in sales compared to the prior 
comparable quarter is attributable to an increased customer base for the U.S., related consumption increases and favourable U.S. 
exchange rates during this time period. Adjusted net income which excludes the impact of the change in fair value of the Fund's 
derivative instruments increased by 1%to $88.7 million for the three months ended March 31, 2009. 
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Gross margin increased by 21 % in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2009 to $106.1 million from $88.0 million in the same period last 
year. Increased customer additions, change in the U.S. exchange rate and higher per customer consumption accounted for this 
increase. General and administration costs were $18.2 million for the quarter, an increase of 6% over $17.1 million last year. 

The distributable cash after customer gross margin replacement was $72.2 million, up 33% from $54.3 million in the prior 
comparable quarter. The increase in gross margin was due to an increased number of customers, favourable exchange rates and 
improved per unit margins quarter over quarter. 

After the deduaion of all marketing expenses, distributable cash totalled $62.5 million, up 16% from $54.0 million in the fourth 
quarter of fiscal 2008. Distributions for the quarter were $34.9 million, an increase of 5% over the same period last year. The 
payout ratio for the fourth quarter of fiscal 2009 was 56% versus 61 % for the same period last year 

Customer volumes 

The expansion of the business outside Ontario makes, in the view of management, the continued sole use of RCEs as a customer 
measurement inappropriate. With continued focus on commercial, small industrial customers and new markets where customer 
usage is materially different from Ontario, the Fund believes showing straight volumetric measurement of the customer base (annual 
GJ for natural gas and annua! MWh for eiearicity) will provide meaningful information for analysis. The Fund therefore reported 
volumetric measures for gas and electridty in Canada and the United States effeaive this fiscal year. Based on requests by external 
analysts and Unitholders, the Fund will continue to report RCE data going fonward as well. 

There are two measures of volume which are being reported - "Annualized volumes/Customers" and "Delivered volumes in the 
year" in the following two tables on page 30 and 31. The first measure, "Annualized volumes/Customers" represents the utility 
projection of the total volume of gas or electricity to be delivered for each 12-month period for customers in i:̂ aoe at a point in 
time. This is the best measure of the relative success of customer aggregation efforts and the long-term expectations for profitability 
of the customers. The second measure is "Delivered volumes in the year", which details the change in the actual growth of volumes 
delivered to customers for fiscal 2009 as compared to fiscal 2008. This measure tracks our adual financial results and reflects 
weather and other volume variances. 

Just Energy's published targets for fiscal 2009 were to increase natural gas volumes by 5% and eiearicity volumes by 15%. 

Annualissd volumes/Customers 
The following table identifies how the annualized volumes have changed from April 1, 2008 to March 31, 2009: 

Annualized AnnualS:sed Annualized Annualized Annualized 
vslume at voitane volume volumes not voluma as at % increase 

Apr i l l , 2008 increase attrition renewed Mar. 31,2009 (dscr«^s€) 

Natural gas (GJ) 
Canada 
United States 

Total gas 

Electricity (MWh) 
Canada 
United States 

Total electricity 

80,666,000 10.070.000 (8,162.000) (3,816,000) 78.758,qCM} 0 % 
22,578,000 9,540.000 (7,2Cm,0CM)) - 24,910,C|00 10% 

103.244.000 

6,090,000 

1,040,000 

7,130,000 

19.610.000 

550,000 
1.680,000 

2,330,000 

(15,37Q,0CM)) 

(680.000) 

(300,000) 

(980,000) 

(3.816.000) 

(280.000) 
(80,000) 

(360,000) 

1Q3.66S,d00 

5.780,(̂ 30 
2.340.11)0 

8,120,li)U 

0% 

(5)% 
125% 

14% 

For the 12-nionth period ended March 31, 2009, total gas customer numbers are fiat as compared to last year which reflects 
customer additions above targeted levels in the U.S. offset by higher than expeaed attrition in Canada. U.S. gas annualized volume 
additions increased by 10% due to strong growth in New York and Indiana. 

Total electridty annualized volumes were up 14% for the fiscal year All customer growth was in the United States with Canada 
lagging due to high relative five-year prices in Ontario. All elearidty conlracts entered into by the Province of Ontario since 
deregulation have been at prices far higher than the current regulated rate and management believes that, over time, regulated 
prices should move toward that of our five-year offering. U.S. electricity volumes were up 125% with strong growth in both 
New York and Texas, 
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RCE comparison 

In past periods. Just Energy has reported its customer volumes as RCEs. To allow continuity of comparison, the table below shows 
the growth of RCEs for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2009. 

Customer aggregation 

Long-term customers 

Natural gas 

Canada 

United States 

Total gas 

Eiearicity 
Canada 

United States 

Total eiearicity 

Combined 

Apri l l , 
20G8 

761.000 
213,000 

Additions 

- ::9Ŝ EK)0 

90,000 

Attrition 

(77.000) 
(68,000) 

FaHed 
to renew 

(36.000) 

March 31, 
2009 

743,000 
235.(X)0 

974,000 185,000 {U5,Q0Q) (36,000) 978,000 

609,000 

104,000 

713,000 

1,687.000 

65.000 

168,000 

. 233.000 

418,000 

(68,000) 
(30*000) 

(98,000) 

(243,000) : 

(28,000) 

;;(36,(|K^: 

m ^ ^ 

578,000 
23^000; 

812,000;;:: 

';=n7IO.Ooa;;:; 

Gross customer additions for the year, exduding the CEG acquisition, were 372,000, up 9% from 342,000 in fiscal 2008. This was 
due to the opening of additional sales offices in fiscal 2009 and improved recruiting success. Total net customer additions for the 
year excluding acquisitions were 57,000 in fiscal 2009. In fiscal 2008 the net customer additions were 28,000. 

The fourth quarter saw a substantial increase in customer additions compared to the prior year On an RCE basis, 85.000 gross 
customers were added in the quarter, up 57% from the fourth quarter additions of 54.000 in fiscal 2008. Net customer additions 
in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2009 were 15,000 compared to the same period in fiscal 2008 in which the Fund reported negative 
customer growth. 

Delivered volumes in the year 
The following table shows the artuai delivered volumes for the cunent and prior comparable year 

For the years ended March 3 7 

Natural gas (GJ) 

Canada 

United States 

Total gas' 

Electridty (MWh) 
Canada 
United States 

Total eiearicity' 

Fiscal 2009 

73,133,170 
23,433,805 

% increase 
Fi-̂ r/ii ?iyj8 (decrease) 

75.039,726 

20.707,436 

(3)% 

13% 

96.566,975 95.747,162 1 % 

5,802,096 
1,729,086 

6,3615,741 

6^7,540 
(9)% 

159% 

7,531,182 7,034^81 7% 

' Includes 709,736 GJ of GEO gas and 160.953 MWh of GEO electricity delivered in fiscal 2009. 

Gas deliveries increased by 1 % in the 12 months ended March 31, 2009, primarily due to colder weather conditions and increased 
U.S. customer base noted during the year. Eiearicity volumes increased by 7% over the prior comparable year due to strong 
customer additions in Texas and New York. 

Green Energy Option 

Sales of the GEO product continue to support and reaffirm the great demand for the GEO produa in all markets. The GEO program 
allows customers to choose to purchase units of green energy in the form of renewable energy or carbon offsets, in an effort to 
reduce greenhouse gas emissions. When a customer purchases a unit of green energy, it creates a contractual oWigation for 
Just Energy to purchase a supply of green energy at least equal to the demand created by the customer's purchase. A review was 
conducted by Grant Thornton LLP of Just Energy^ Renewable Energy and Carbon Offsets Sales and Purchases report for the period 
from January 1, 2007 through December 31, 2008, validating the Fund's purchases of renewable energy and carbon offsets. 
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Attr i t ion 
Matural gas 

Natural gas attrition in Canada was 10% for the year, inline with management's target of 10%. In the U.S., gas attrition for the 
trailing 12 months was 30%, above management's annual target of 20% but decreased from the 33% and 31% noted in the 
second and third quarters of fiscal 2009, respectively Annualized attrition for the fourth quarter was 7% for Canada but increased 
to 34% for the United States. 

Electricity 

Electricity attrition in Canada for the year was 11 %, slightly above management's target of 10%. However, annualized attrition for 
the fourth quarter was 9%, below our internal target. Eiearicity attrition in the United States was 17% over the last 12 months, 
below management's target of 20%. Annualized U.S. elearidty attrition for the fourth quarter was 22%, slightly above target. 

Failed to renew 

The Just Energy renewal process is a multi-faceted program and aims to maximize the number of customers who choose to sign a new 
contraa prior to the end of his or her existing contract temi. Efforts begin up to 15 months in advance of contraa expiry allowing a 
customer to re-contraa for an additional four or five years. Presently, the only contracts under whidi the terms are completed, and 
therefore are eligible for renewal, are the Ontario. British Columbia and Manitoba gas and Ontario electiicity customw .̂ 

During the year, renewals for Canadian gas customers in Ontario, British Columbia and Manitoba were 73%. In the Ontario gas 
market, customers who do not positively elea to renew or terminate their contraa receive a one-year fixed price for the ensuing year. 
This renewal rate is a blend of one-year and five-year contracts and 45% of the 75% of Ontario customers renewed were for a one-
year term. 

In the Ontario electricity market, there is no opportunity to renew a residential or small volume customer for a one-year term should 
the customer fail to positively renew or terminate his or her contraa. Management targets a renewal rate for electridty customers 
of 60%. For the fiscal year ended March 31, 2009, 67% of all expiring electricity customer volumes were successfully renewed. 

In fiscal 2010, management expeas to have the following annualized attrition and renewal rates: 

Natural gas 

Canada 
United States 

Eiearicity 
Canada 
United States 

Attrition 
fiscal 2010 

ijo% 
20 

ijo% 

Renewals 
fiscal 2010 

70% 

5 

65% 
60 

Gas B.n4 eiectricity contract renewals 

This table shows the percentage of customers up for renewal in each of the following years: 

Fiscal periad 

2010 

2011 
2012 
2013 
Beyond 2013 

Total 

Canada 
gas 

25% 
25 
21 
15 
14 

100%: 

Canada 
electricity 

7% 
22 
22 

30 
19. 

100% 

U.S. 
gas 

1H% 
lis 
13 

3D 
311 

U.S. 
electricity 

!4% 

8 
12 

15 
51 

1(ff)% 
I " l l • I l l " 

100% 

Just Energy continuously monitors its customer renewal rates and continues to modify its offering to existing customers in order to 
maximize the number of customers who renew their contracts. 
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Gross margin earned through new marketing efforts 
Annual gross margin per customer for new and renewed customers 
During fiscal 2009, the Fund continued to see the positive impart of continued efforts to maintain strong margin per customer 

during challenging marketing periods. The table below depicts the higher margins realized on customers signed in the year. 

Annual gross margin per customer^ 
Annual target 

Fiscal 20C9 fiscal 2009 

Customers added in the year ; 

Canada-gas $ ^ 166 $ 170 
Canada-electricity l i ? J ; 143 
United States - gas 208 170 
United States - electricity 206 143 

Customers lost in the year 
Canada-gas 184 
Canada-electridty li)5 
United StateS'-,gas 175 
United States ~ elearidty 102 

I Customer sales price less cost of assodated supply and allowance for bad debt and U.S. working capital. 

General and administrative expenses 
General and administrative costs were $59.6 million for the year, representing a 15% increase from $51,5 million in fiscal 2008. 
The increased expenses in fiscal 2009 were primarily staffing costs in our corporate office to support our current and future growth, 
U.S. exchange rate impaa on U.S. dollar denominated costs, an increase in coHeaion costs, full year rent for our new customer 
service call centre and legal fees with respea to business operations in the U.S. Corporate headcount increased by 25 to a total of 
700 full-time employees primarily to enable operations to prepare for the new Alberta customers to be billed internally, for sales 
support for our commercial expansion, and for customer sen/ice and IT to service our expanding customer base. CoHeaion costs 
were up in fiscal 2009 reflecting outsourced costs related to the Texas residential market expansion to address Increased collection 
activities. In addition, the call centre was operational for only five months of fiscal 2008 versus a full year this year. 
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Marketing expenses 
Marketing expenses, which consist of commissions paid to independent sales contractors for signing new customers as well as an 
allocation of corporate costs, were $68.1 million, an increase of 21 % from $56.1 million for the 12-mQnth period of fiscal 2008. 
The largest single component of the increase was the impaa of the higher U.S. dollar on our U.S.-based marketing costs. The 
increase also reflects the growth in customer additions, offset by higher costs related to commissions, recruiting and corporate 
marketing overhead required to build our commercial sales team. During the current fiscal year, management undertook a sales and 
marketing reorganization to accelerate the customer additions. We are seeing the impaa of this reorganization. Cu5toma"5 signed 
by our marketing sales force increased in fiscal 2009 to 372,000 compared to 342,000 additions in fiscal 2008, an increase of 9%. 

Marketing expenses to maintain gross margin are allocated based on the ratio of gross margin lost from attrition as compared to the 

gross margin signed from new and renewed customers during the fiscal year. Marketing expenses to maintain gross margin were 

$41.9 million, an increase of 8% from $39.0 million from fiscal 2008. 

Marketing expenses to add new gross margin are allocated based on the ratio of net new gross margin earned cm the customers 
signed, less attrition, as compared to the gross margin signed from new and renewed customers during the period. Marketing 
expenses to add new gross margin totalled $26.2 million, an increase of 52% from $17.2 million in the prior yea-comparable 
period. The large increase is consistent vAth the net customer additions of 57,000 in fiscal 2009 {excluding acquired customers) 
versus 28,000 net additions fiscal 2008. All marketing costs related to the GEO product offerings are allocated against new margin 
and there has been a significant increase in our GEO product in the current year. 

The actual aggregation costs per customer added compared to the fiscal 2009 target were as follows: 

Fiscal 2009 
Target 

fiscal 2009 

Natural gas 
Canada 
United States 
Total gas 

Electricity 

Canada 
United States 
Total elearidty 

$ 185/̂ CE 
199/F|CE 

$ 181/RCE 
146/FicE 

156/RCE $ u m a 

Actual total aggregation costs for gas and eiectricity customers to date for fiscal 2009 were $194 per customer for gas and $156 
per customer for elearidty. 

In Canada, gas and electricity aggregation costs were $185 and $181 per customer, respeaively. Gas and electiidty costs were 
above target due to lower than expeaed Canadian customer additions for the current year and therefore, higher corporate, 
marketing and customer service costs were allocated to each unit of volume. Approximately 40% of the total marketing expense 
relates to the costs assodated with corporate, marketing and customer service overhead. 

In the U.S., gas aggregation costs and electricity aggregation costs were $199 and $146 per customer which is above target for 
the year. U,S. customer additions were above expectations but the cost per RCE was higher than our target reflecting the higher 
exchange rate noted during fiscal 2009. U.S. customers (the Fund's highest grovrth market) were signed with a less than one-year 

margin payback period. 

Unit based compensation 
Compensation in the form of units (non-cash) granted by the Fund to the directors, officers, full-time employees 9nd service 
providers of its subsidiaries and affiliates pursuant to the 2001 unit option plan, the 2004 unit appreciation rights plan and the 
direaors' deferred compensation plan amounted to $4.1 million, an increase of 33% from the $3.1 million paid in fiscal 2008. The 
increased expense in fiscal 2009 is a result of the increase in the number of fully paid unit appreciation rights awarded to employees 

in fiscal 2009. 
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Bad debt expense 
In Illinois, Alberta and Texas, Just Energy assumes the credit risk associated with the collertion of all customer accounts. In addition, 

for large direct-billed accounts in B.C. and Ontario, the Fund is responsible for the bad debt risk. Credit review procesMS have been 

established to manage the customer default rate. Manag^nent factors default from credit risk into its margin expertations for all of 

the above-noted markets. 

Bad debt expense for fiscal 2009 was $13,9 million versus $7.0 million expensed in the prior comparable year. The bad debt 

expense increase of 100% was partially due to the 20% increase in total revenues for the year in the markets where Just Energy 

assumes the risk for accounts receivable collections. The increase in the U.S. exchange rate and increased defauK rates noted in 

the U.S. markets are due to the recessionary conditions. Also, during fiscal 2008, improved collertion procedures had resulted in 

a significant excess reserve for bad debt, which was released lowering the 2008 bad debt expense. Management integrates its 

default rate for bad debts within its margin targets and continuously reviews and monitors the credit approval process to mitigate 

customer delinquency. 

For the 12 months ended March 31.2009, the bad debt expense represents 2.6% of $543.5 million in revenues, near the midpoint 

of the Fund's 2-3% target range. Higher credit losses should be experted vwth the current North American recession. Management 

continues to target bad debt expense of approximately 2-3% during fiscal 2010 and believes that the upper end of the range will 

be adequate even during a severe and extended recession. 

For each of Just Energy's other markets, the LDCs provide collertion services and assume the risk of any bad d ^ t owing from 

Just Energy's customers for a regulated fee. 

Interest expense 

Total interest expense for the 12 months ended March 31, 2009, amounted to $3.9 million, a decrease from $5.3 million in fiscal 

2008. The decrease is due to reduced U.S. dirert borrowing costs under the credit facility agreement. The U.S. line was completely 

repaid at the end of fiscal 2009. Just Energy is required to meet a number of financial covenants under the credit fadiity agreement 

and as at March 31, 2009, all of these covenants were met. 

Foreign exchange 

Just Energy has an exposure to U.S. dollar exciiange rates as a result of its U.S. operations, and any changes in the applicable exchange 

rate may result in a decrease or increase in other comprehensive income (loss). For the year, a foreign exchange unrealized loss of 

$1.9 million was reported in other comprehensive income (loss) versus an unrealized gain of $4.0 million reported in the same period last 

year In fiscal 2009, all monies earned in the U.S. were redeployed in the U.S. to fund continued growth. Overall, the high U.S. dollar 

increases sales and gross margin but this is partially offset by higher operating costs denominated in U.S. dollars. 

Class A preference share distributions 
The remaining holder of the Ontario Energy Savings Corp. ("OESC") Class A preference shares (which are exchangeatrfe Into units 

on a 1:1 basis) is entitied to receive, on a quarterly basis, a payment equal to the amount paid or payable to a Unitholder on an 

equal number of units. The total amount paid for the 12 months ended March 31, 2O09, induding tax and the Spedal Distribution 

amounted to $7.7 million versus $13.7 million paid in fiscal 2008. The decrease in the preference share distributions resulted from 

the exchange of 1,442,484 shares into units over the past year and a lower Special Distribution paid in fiscal 2009. These 

distributions on the Class A preference shares are refierted in the Statement of Unitholders' Equity of the Fund's consolidated 

financial statements, net of tax. 

Special Distribution 

The Fund under-distributed its taxable income in calendar 2008 and would have been subject to tax at 46% for any undistributed 

taxable income. In order to ensure all of the taxable income is distributed to its Unitholders, the Board of Directors of OESC, as 

attorney and administrator of the Fund, conduded that it would be preferable to pay out a Special Distribution to effectivdy allocate 

all of the taxable income to the Unitholders. The Spedal Distribution of $18.6 million ($0.165 per unit) was funded by operating 

cash flow and the Fund's credit fadiity and was paid in cash on January 30, 2009. In fiscal 2008, a Special Distribution of 

$44.7 million ($0.41 per unit) was declared in the third quarter and included a combination of 50% cash and 50% units. 
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Normal course issuer bid 

During the third quarter of fiscal 2009. the Fund obtained approval from its Board of Direaors to make a normal course issuer bid 
to purchase up to 9,000,000 units, for the 12-month period commendng November 21, 2008, and ending November 20,2009, 
with a maximum of 44,754 units that can be purchased during any trading day In fiscal 2009, the Fund purchased and cancelled 
909,700 units for cash consideration of $5.6 million (an average price of $7.26 per unit). 

Recovery of income tax 

For the years ended March 31 
(thousands of dollars) 

Fiscal 2009 hi>LS\ 2008 

current income tax expense (recovery) ; , : : : : : : : : : ^ 3,9^^ % (757) 

Amount credited to Unitholders'equity 2,767 4.948 
Future tax recovery : ; <64,<^) (18,692) 

Recovery of income tax ; ; ; : : : $ (57,460} $ (14,501) 

The Fund recorded a current income tax expense of $3.9 million for the year versus a recovery of $0.8 million in the same period last 
year The change is mainly attributable to state income taxes that our U.S. entities paid, Canadian income tax expense and a small 
portion of U.S. withholding tax remitted. Also induded in the income tax provision is an amount relating to the tax impaa of the 
distributions paid to the Class A preference shareholder of OESC. In accordance with EIC 151. "Exchangeable Securities Issued by 
Subsidiaries of Income Trusts", all Class A preference shares are induded as part of Unitholders' equity and the distributions paid to 
the shareholder are included as distributions on the Statement of Unitholders' equity, net of tax. For the year ended March 31. 
2009, the tax impact of these distributions, based on an estimated tax rate of 33%, amounted to $2.8 million as compared to 
$4.9 million in fiscal 2008. During the year, the Fund had significant temporary differences attributed to the mark to market losses 
from the finandal derivatives. As a result, all of the future tax liability recorded during the year was offset by a portion of the mark 
to market losses. A future tax recovery of $64.1 million has been recorded for fiscal 2009. 

Effective January 1, 2011, the Fund will be taxed as a Canadian income Spedfied Investment Flow-Through ("SIFT") trust that 
has not been subject to a Canadian corporate income tax in the Canadian operating entities. Therefore, the future tax asset or 
liability assodated with Canadian assets recorded on the balance sheet as at that date will be realized over time as the temporary 
differences between the carrying value of assets in the consolidated finandal statements and their respertive tax bases are realized. 
Current Canadian income taxes will be accrued at that time to the extent that there is taxable income in the Fund or its underlying 
operating entities. 

The U.S.-based corporate subsidiaries are subjert to U.S. income taxes on their taxable income determined under U.S. income tax 
rules and regulations. As the U.S. subsidiaries had combined operating losses for tax purposes at March 31, 2009, no provision for 
current U.S. income tax has been made by those U.S. entities. 

The Fund follows the liability method of accounting for income taxes. Under this method, income tax liabilities and assets are 
recognized for the estimated tax consequences attributable to the temporary differences between the carrying value of the assets 
and liabilities on the consolidated financial statements and their respertive tax bases, using substantively enarted income tax rates. 
A valuation allowance is recorded against a future income tax asset if it is not antidpated that the asset wil! be realized in the 
foreseeable future. The effect of a change in the income tax rates used in calculating future income tax liabilities and assets is 
recognized in income during the period that the change occurs. 
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Fiscal 2009 

$ 172.767 $ 
(8,187) 
2^30 
2,691 

169,401 
(137,il7) 

31,^84 

27,il0 
$ 59,094 $ 

iy:al 2 j m 

136,007 
(41,242) 

58,033 
707 

153.505 
(142,981) 

10,524 

16,786 

27,310 
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Liquidity and capital resources 
Summary of tssh f lows 
For the years ended March 31 

(thousands of dollars) 

Operating activities 

Investing activities 

Financing activities, excluding distributions 

Gain on foreign exchange 

increase in cash before distributions 

Distributions (cashpayments) 

increase in cash ;; 

Cash- beginning:Of year 

Cash-end of year; 

Opc;rating activities 

Cash flow from operating artivities for the 12 months ended March 31, 2009, was 5172.8 million, an increase from $ 136.0 million in 

the prior comparable year. The increase is primarily attributable to an increase in gross margin during fiscal 2009. 

kives'ting sctiv^ties 

The Fund purchased capital assets totalling $6.3 million during the year, a decrease from $7.8 million in the prior year. In fiscal 2009, 

Just Energy's capital spending related to the water healer business and purchases of office equipment and IT software. Last year, 

purchases were primarily for IT systems assodated with customer sen/ice operations supporting the Fund's expanding customer 

base. During the second quarter. Just Energy purchased substantially all of the commercial and residential customer contracts of 

CEG in British Columbia for $1.8 million. CEG was a western Canadian marketer of natural gas wholly owned by SemCanada 

Energy Company, both of which filed for creditor protection under the Companies' Creditors Arrangement Ar t on July 30, 2008. 

The customer contracts had annualized volumes of approximately 4.9 million GJ or 46,000 RCEs. The remaining term of the 

contracts at the time of acquisition was estimated to be 20 months. In fiscal 2008, the fund completed the acquisition of 

Just Energy Texas L.R, induding all of its electricity contrarts for a total, net of cash, of $33.4 million, of which $18.1 million 

involved the issuance of units of the Fund. 

f inancing activities 

Financing activities excluding distributions relate primarily to an increase of the operating line for working capital requirements. 

During the current year. Just Energy had drawn a total of $87.7 million against the credit facility versus $97.3 million drawn last 

year. As Just Energy continues to expand in the U.S. markets, tiie need to fund working capital and security requirements will 

increase, driven primarily by the number of customers aggregated and to a lesser extent by the number of new markets. Based on 

the markets in which Just Energy currently operates and others that management experts to enter, funding requirements will be 

supported through the credit facility. 

The Fund's liquidity requirements are driven by the delay from the time that a customer contrart is signed until cash flow is generated. 

Approximately 50% of an independent sales contrartor's commission payment is made following reaffirmation or verbal verification of 

the customer contrart with most of the remaining 50% being paid after the energy commodity begins fiowing to tiie customer. 

The elapsed period between the times when a customer is signed to when the first payment is received from tfie customer varies 

with each market. The time delays per market are approximately two to nine months. These periods refiert the time required by 

the various LDCs to enroll, fiow the commodity, bill the customer and remit the first payment to Just Energy. In Alberta and Texas. 

Just Energy receives payment directly from the customer 

Distribmions (cash payments) 

Investors should note that due to the institution of a distribution reinvestment program ("DRIP") on December 20, 2007, a portion 

of distributions declared is not paid in cash. This program was suspended on December 1, 2008, with the commencement of the 

normal course issuer bid and was re-instituted on March 31, 2009. Under the program. Unitholders can elect to receive their 

distributions in units at a 2% (formally 5%) discount to the prevailing market price rather than the cash equivalent. During the year, 

the Fund made cash distributions to its Unitholders and Class A preference shareholder in the amount of $137.8 million, compared 

to $143.0 million in fiscal 2008. 
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Just Energy will continue to utilize its cash resources for expansion into new markets, growth in its existing customer base, 

acquisitions like the CEG customers as well as distributions to its Unitholders. 

At the end of the year, the annual rate for distributions per unit was $ 1.24. The Fund intends to make distributions to Its 
Unitholders, based upon cash receipts of the Fund, excluding proceeds from the issuance of additional Fund units, adjusted for costs 
and expenses of the Fund. The Fund's intention is for Unitholders of record on the 15th day of each month to receive distributions at 
the end of the month. 

In both fiscal 2009 and 2008, a Special Distribution was made to ensure that the Fund disti-ibuted all of its taxable income. See 
"Special Distribution" on page 35 for additional information. 

Balance sheet as at March 31 , 2009, compared to March 31, 2008 
Cash increased from $27.3 million as at March 31, 2008, to $59.1 million. The utilization of the credit facility increased from 
$67.6 million to $76.5 million as a result of normal injection of gas into storage and various other working capital requirements. 
Working capital requirements in the U.S. and Alberta result from the timing difference between customer consumption and cash 
receipts. For electridty, working capital is required to fund the lag between settiements with the suppliers and settlement with 
the LDCs. Under the terms of the credit fadiity, Just Energy is able to make use of Bankers' Acceptances and LIBOR advances at 
stamping fees of 1.5%, prime rate advances at Canadian and U-S. prime plus 0.5% and letters of credit at 1.5%. 

The increase in accounts receivable from $207.8 million to $249.5 million is primarily attributable to the improved margin and 
increased customers for both gas and electricity. Accounts payable and accrued liabilities has also increased from $128.7 million 
to $ 155,4 million relating to increased customer consumption assodated vwth the normal seasonality of the Fund. 

Gas in storage has increased from $4.3 million to $5.7 million for the year ended March 31, 2009. The increased balance reflects 
injections into storage for the expanding U.S. customer base. 

At the end of the year, customers in Ontario, Manitoba and Quebec had consumed more gas than was supplied to the LDCs for their 
use. Since Just Energy is paid for this gas when delivered yet recognizes revenue when the gas is consumed by the customer, tfie result 
on the balance sheet is the unbilled revenue amount of $57.8 million and accrued gas accounts payable of $41.4 million. At March 31, 
2008, Just Energy had unbilled revenues amounting to $47.3 million and acaued gas accounts payable of $38.5 million. 

Effective July 1. 2008, Just Energy elected to discontinue the prartice of hedge accounting. Previously, the Fund had elerted to use 
hedge accounting and thus was able to book the changes in fair value predominantly to other comprehensive income. The marie to 
market gains and losses can result in significant changes in net income and accordingly Unitholders' equity from quarter to quarter 
due to commodity price volatility. Given that the Fund has purchased this supply to cover future customer usage at fixed prices, 
management believes that these non-cash quarterly changes are not meaningful. 

Contractual obligations 

In the normal course of business, the Fund is obligated to make future payments for contrarts and other commitments that are 
known and non-cancellable. 

Paym-ents due by period 
(thousands of dollars) 

Property and equipmCTit lease agreement 
EPCOR billing and coliertiohs 
Gas and eiearicity supply purchase commitments 

Total 

25,498 
31,205 

3,549,055 

Less than 
1 year 

$ 5.499 

10.111 
1.343,509 

1-3 years 

$ 9,150 
21,094 

1,661,520 

4"5 years 

$ 5,034 

i 
531.174 

S 

After 
5 years 

5,815 
-

12,852 

$3.605.758 $1.359.119 $1.691,764 $ 536.|QB $ 18,667 

Other obligations 

In the opinion of management, the Fund has no material pending artions. daims or proceedings that have not been either included in 
its accrued liabilities or in the financial statements. In the normal course of business the Fund could be subjert to certain contingait 
obligations that become payable only if certain events were to occur. The inherent uncertainty surrounding the timing and financial 
impart of any events prevents any meaningful measurement, which is necessary to assess any material impart on future liquidity Such 
obligations include potential judgments, settlements, fines and other penalties resulting from artions, daims or proceedings. 
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Transactions w i th related parties 

The Fund does not have any material transartions with any individuals or companies that are not considered independent to the 

Fund or any of its subsidiaries and/or affiliates. 

Critical accounting estimates 

The consolidated financial statements of the Fund have been prepared in accordance with Canadian GAAR Certain accounting 
policies require management to make estimates and judgments that affert the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues, cost 
of sales, marketing and general and administrative expenses. Estimates are based on historical experience, current information and 
various other assumptions that are believed to be reasonable under the drcumstances. The emergence of new infonnation and 
changed drcumstances may result in artual results or changes to estimated amounts that differ materially from current estimates. 

The following assessment of critical accounting estimates is not meant to be exhaustive. The Fund might realize different results 
from the application of new accounting standards promulgated, from time to time, by various rule-making bodies. 

Unbilled revenues/Accrued gas accounts payable 

Unbilled revenues result when customers consume more gas than has been delivered by Just Energy to the LDCs. These estimates 
are stated at net realizable value. Accrued gas accounts payable represents Just Energy's obligation to the LDC with respert to gas 
consumed by customers in excess of that delivered. This obligation is also valued at net realizable value. This estimate is required for 
the gas business unit only, since elertridty is consumed at the same time as delivery. Management uses the current average 
customer contrart price and the current average supply cost as a basis for the valuation. 

Gas deltvered in excess of consumption/Deferred revenues 

Gas delivered to LDCs in excess of consumption by customers is valued at the lower of cost and net realizable value. Collertions 
from LDCs in advance of their consumption resuHs in deferred revenues which are valued at net realizable value. This estimate is 
required for the gas business unit only since electricity is consumed at the same time as delivery. Management uses the current 
average customer contrart price and the cun'ent average supply cost as a basis for the valuation. 

Allowance for doubtful accounts 
Just Energy assumes the credit risk assodated with the collection of customers' accounts in Alberta, Illinois and 1exas. In addition, 
for large dirert billed accounts in B.C. and Ontario, the Fund is responsible for the bad debt risk. Management estimates the 
allowance for doubtful accounts in these markets based on the finandal conditions of each jurisdiction, the aging of the receivables, 
customer and industry concentrations, the cun-ent business environment and historical experience. 

Goodwil l 

In assessing the value of goodwill for potential impairment, assumptions are made regarding Just Energy's future cash flow. If the 
estimates change in the future, the Fund may be required to record impairment charges related to goodwill. Am impairment review 
of goodwill was performed during fiscal 2009 and as a result of the review, it was determined that no impairment of goodwflll 
existed at March 31, 2009. 

Fair value of derivative financial instruments and risk management 

The Fund has entered into a variety of derivative financial instruments as part of the business of purchasing and selling gas, 

electricity and the GEO, Just Energy enters into contracts with customers to provide elearidty and gas at fixed prices and provide 

comfort to certain customers that a specified amount of energy will be derived from green generation. These customer contracts 

expose Just Energy to changes in market prices to supply these commodities. To reduce the exposure to the commodity market price 

changes. Just Energy uses derivative financial and physical contracts to secure fixed-price commodity supply to cover its estimated 

delivery or green commitment obligations. 

The Fund's business model objective is to minimize commodity risk other than consumption changes, usually attributable to 

weather. Accordingly, it is Just Energy's policy to hedge the estimated requirements of its customers with offsetting hedges of 

natural gas and elearidty at fixed prices for terms equal to those of the customer contracts. The cash flow from these supply 

contracts is expected to be effeaive in offsetting Funds' price ejqjosure and sen/es to fix acquisition costs of gas and elertridty to be 

delivered under the fixed-price or price-proterted customer conti^acts. Just Energy's policy is not to use derivative instruments for 

speculative purposes. 

Just Energy's expansion in the U.S. has introduced foreign exdiange-related risks. Just Energy has entered into foreign exchange 

forwards in order to hedge the exposure to flurtuations in cross border cash flows. 

The financial statements are in compliance with Section 3855 of the CICA Handbook, which requires a determination of fair 

value for all derivative finandal instruments. Up to June 30, 2008, the financial statements also applied Sertion 3865 of the 
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CICA Handbook, which permitted a further calculation for qualified and designated accounting hedges to determine the effertive 
and ineffective portion of the hedge. This calculation permitted the majority of the change in fair value to be accounted for in the 
statement of other comprehensive income. As of July 1, 2008. management dedded that the increasing complexity and costs of 
maintaining this accounting treatment outweighed the benefits. This fair value (and when it was applicable, the ineffertiveness) is 
determined using market information at the end of each quarter. Management believes the Fund remains econc»nically hedged 
operationally across all jurisdirtions. 

Preference shares of OESC and trust units 
As at May 13, 2009, there were 5,263,728 Class A preference shares of OESC outstanding and 106,170,109 units of the 
Fund outstanding, 

Taxability of distributions 
Cash and unit distributions received in calendar 2008 were allocated 100% to other income. Additional infomfiation can be found 
on our website at www.justenergy.com. Management estimates the distributions for calendar 2009 will be allocated in a similar 
manner to that of 2008. 

Adoption of new accounting policies 

On April 1, 2008, the Fund adopted three new accounting standards that were issued by the Canadian Institute of Chartered 
Accountants ("CICA"); Handbook Sertion 1535, Capital Disclosures; Handbook Sertion 3862, Financial Instruments- Disdosures; 
Handbook Section 3863, Financial Instruments - Presentation. Just Energy adopted these standards prospectively as required by 
the standards. 

Capital Disclosures 

Section 1535 requires disclosure of information related to the objectives, policies and processes for managing capital. In addition, 
the disclosure includes whether externally imposed capital requirements have been complied with. As this standard only addresses 
disclosure requirements, there was no impart on the financial position of the Fund. 

Financial Instruments - Disdosures and Finandal Instruments- Presentation 

Sertion 3862, Financial Instruments - Disdosures and Sertion 3863, Financial Instruments - Presentation replace Sertion 3861, 
Financial Instruments - Disdosure and Presentation. The new disclosure standards increase the emphasis on the risks associated with 
both recognized and unrecognized finandal instnjments and how those risks are managed. The new presentation standards carry 
forward the former presentation requirements. As these standards only address presentation and disdosure requirements, there was 
no impact on the financial position of the Fund. 

Credit Risk ar\d the Fair Value of Financial Assets and Finandal Uabillties 

On January 20, 2009, the Emerging Issues Committee of the CICA approved an abstrart (EIC 173, Credit Risk and the Fair Value of 
Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities), which darifies that own credit risk and the credit risk of the counterparty should be taken 
into account in determining the fair value of derivative instruments. Just Energy has adopted this standard retrospertively as required 
which resulted in a gain of $2,964 being recorded to its accumulated earnings. 

Recently issued accounting standards 
The following are new standards, not yet in effert, which are required to be adopted by the Fund on the effertive date. 

Goodwil l and Intangible Assets - CICA Section 3064 

As of April 1, 2009, the Fund will be required to adopt Sertion 3064, Goodwill and Intangible Assets, which establishes revised 
standards for recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure of goodwill and intangible assets. The new standard is 
effertive for fiscal years beginning on or after October 1, 2008. The Fund has not yet determined the impart of this standard on its 
finandal statements. 

Business Combinations 

In Ortober 2008, the CICA issued Handbook Section 1582, Business Combinations ("CICA 1582"), concurrently with CICA 
Handbook Section 1601, Consolidated Financial Statements ("CICA 1501"), and CICA Handbook Sertion 1602, Non-contralling 
Interest ("CICA 1602"). CICA 1582, which replaces CICA Handbook Sertion 1581, Business Combinations, establishes standards 
for the measurement of a business combination and the recognition and measurement of assets acquired and liabilities assumed. 
CICA 1601, which replaces CICA Handbook Sertion 1600, carries fon/vard the existing Canadian guidance on aspects of the 
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preparation of consolidated financial statements subsequent to acquisition other than non-controlling interests. CICA 1602 

establishes guidance for the treatment of non-controlling interests subsequent to acquisition through a business combination. These 

new standards are effertive for fiscal years beginning on or after January 1,2011. The Fund has not yet determined the impart of 

these standards on its consolidated financial statements. 

I n t e r n a t i o n a l F inanda l R e p o r t i n g S tandards 

In January 2006, the CICA Accounting Standards Board ("AcSB") adopted a strategic plan for the dirertion of accounting standards 

in Canada. As part of that plan, the AcSB confirmed in February 2008 that International Finandal Reporting Standards ("IFRS") will 

replace Canadian GAAP in 2011 for profit-oriented Canadian publicly accountable enterprises. 

Just Energy will transition to IFRS effeaive April 1, 2011, and intends to issue its first interim financial statement under IFRS for the 

three-month period ending June 30, 2011, and a complete set of financial statements under IFRS for the year ending March 31, 2012. 

Just Energy has Identified differences between Canadian GAAP and IFRS relevant to the Fund and an initial assessment has been 

made of the impart of the required changes to accounting systems, business processes, and requirements for personnel training and 

development. Based on the initial assessment of the differences applicable to the Fund, a projea team was assembled and a 

conversion plan was developed in March 2009 to manage the ti-ansition to IFRS. As part of the conversion plan, the Fund is in the 

process of analyzing the detailed impaas of these identified differences and developing solutions to bridge these differences. 

Just Energy is currently on target with its conversion plan. 

Pursuant to the requirements of CSA Staff Notice 52-320, the follov\flng is the high level summary of the key elements of the IFRS 

conversion plan; 

The Fund is currently analyzing various options available under IFRS induding options available under IFRS 1 (First-time Adoption of 

International Financial Reporting Standards). Areas that may have a significant impact on the Fund's financial statements as a result 

of adopting IFRS are IFRS 1, financial instruments, impairment of assets, intangible assets, business combinations and income taxes. 

Information technology and data systems will be assessed, documentation updated and system changes implemented as required. 

It is expected that, at a minimum some changes in systems may need to be enhanced. In addition, system options are under 

consideration to generate financial infonnation under both Canadian GAAP and IFRS. 

As part of the current solution development phase, changes in Internal Contrc^ over Financial Reporting ("ICFR") are being 

identified due to changes in the processes and systems. Concurrently with implementation of these changes, the ICFR 

documentation of internal controls will be updated as required, as will the test plans related to management's ongoing assessmwt 

of ICFR, 

Disclosure Controls and Procedures ("DCSP"), induding investor relations and external communications plans, will be assessed and 

documentation of DC&P will be updated as required, as will test plans related to management's ongoing assessment of DC&P 

(which indudes investor relations and external communication processes). 

Just Energy recognizes that training at all levels is essential to a successful conversion and integration. To date, finance staff, other 

relevant employees, induding certain members of senior management, have attended initial IFRS training sessions. Additional 

training and communication programs will be developed for delivery to the Audit Committee, Board of Dirertors, senior 

management and other stakeholders, as required. Finance staff and other relevant employees will continue to receive ongoing 

training, as needed, throughout the conversion process. 

While a detailed analysis of the impart of conversion on business activities is progressing, based on tiie diagnostic review, 

management does not anticipate any significant changes to the business artivities. As part of its review, the Fund will assess the 

impact of adopting IFRS on various items such as debt covenants and capital requirements. 

The above disdosure related to IFRS is based on managements current inteipretation of requirements and may change as new 

information becomes available. 
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Risk factors 

Described below are the principal risks and uncertainties tfiat Just Energy can foresee. It is not an exhaustive list, some future risks 
may be as yet unknown and other risks, cunently regarded as immaterial, could turn out to be material. 

Cmdit, commodity and other market-related risks 
Av-atlabiHty of supply and dependence on Shell Energy 
The risk of supply default is mitigated through credit and supply diversity anangements. Just Energy^ business model is based on 
contracting for supply to lock in margin. While Just Energy has the ability to selert alternative commodity suppliers, approximately" 
49% of its gas and 54% of its electridty supply contracts are currently with the Shell Entities. There is a risk that counterparties 
could not deliver due to business failure, supply shortage or be otherwise unable to perform their obligations under their agreements 
with Just Energy, or that Just Energy could not identify alternatives to Shell Entities. Just Energy continues to investigate opportunities 
to identify or secure additional gas suppliers and elertridty suppliers. In addition to the Shell Entities, Just Energy has contrarts with 
other commodity suppliers including the BP Entities, Bruce Power, Constellation and EPCOR. Other suppliers represent less than 
1 % and 2% of our gas and electricity supply, respertively 

Volatility of commodity prices - Enforcement 
A key risk to Just Energy's business model is a sudden and significant drop in the market price of gas or elertridty resulting in SOTne 
customers renoundng their contracts. Just Energy may encounter difficulty or political resistance for enforcement of liquidated 
damages and/or enactment of force majeure provisions in such a situation and be exposed to spot prices with a material adverse 
impact to cash fiow. Continual monitoring of margin and exposure allows management of Just Energy time to adjust strategies, 
pridng and communications to mitigate this risk. 

Av-aWablYity of credit 

Just Energy operates in the Illinois, Texas, Indiana and Alberta markets, which provide for payment by LDCs only when the customer 
has paid for the consumed commodity (rather than when the commodity is delivered). Also, in the Illinois and Indiana markets. 
Just Energy must injert gas inventory into storage in advance of payment. These factors, along with the seasondity of customer 
consumption, create working capital requirements necessitating the use of Just Energy's available credit. In addition, some of 
Just Energy's subsidiaries and affiliates are required to provide credit assurance, by means of providing guarantees or posting collateral, 
in connection with commodity supply contrarts, license obligations and obligations owed to certain LDCs. Cash flow and distributions 
could be imparted by the ability of Just Energy to fund such requirements or to provide other satisfartory credit assurance for such 
obligations. To mitigate credit availability risk and its potential impart to cash fiows. Just Energy has security arrangements in place 
pursuant to which commodity suppliers and the lenders under the credit facility hold security over substantially all of the assets of 
Just Energy (other than AESLP and Newten). AESLP in turn has similar arrangements in place solely vwth EPCOR. Other commodity 
suppliers' security requirements are met through cash margining, guarantees and letters of credit. The most significant assets of Just 
Energy consist of its contracts with customers, which may not be suitable as security for some creditors and commodity suppliers. To 
date, the credit facility and related security agreements have met the collateral posting and operational requirements of the business. 
just Energy continues to monitor its credit and security requirements. Just Energy's business may be adversely afferted if it is unable to 
meet cash obligations for operational requirements or its collateral posting requirements. 

Marked rhk 

Market risk is the potential loss that may be incurred as a result of changes in the market or fair value of a particular instrument or 
commodity Although Just Energy manages its estimated customer requirements net of contrarted commodity to zero, it is exposed 
to market risks associated with commodity prices and market volatility where estimated customer requirements do not match artual 
customer requirements or where it has not been able to exartly purchase the estimated customer requirements. Just Energy is also 
exposed to interest rates associated with its credit facility and foreign currency exchange rates associated with the repatriation of 
U.S. denominated funds for Canadian denominated distributions. Just Energy's exposure to market risk is affeaed by a number of 
factors, including accuracy of estimation of customer commodity requirements, commodity prices, volatility and liquidity of maiicets, 
and the absolute and relative levels of interest rates and foreign currency exchange rates. Just Energy enters into derivative 
instruments in order to manage exposures to changes in commodity prices and foreign cunency rates; current exposure to interest 
rates does not economically warrant tfie use of derivative instruments. The derivative instruments that are used are designed to fix 
the price of supply for estimated customer commodity demand in Canadian dollars and thereby fix margins such that Unitholder 
distributions can be appropriately established. Derivative instruments are generally transacted over the counter. The inability or 
failure of Just Energy to manage and monitor the above market risks could have a material adverse effea on the operations and 
cash fiow of Just Energy. 
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Market risk governance 

Just Energy has adopted a corporate-wide Risk Management Policy governing its market risk management and any derivative 

trading activities. An internal Risk Committee, consisting of senior officers of Just Energy monitors company-wide energy risk 

management activities as well ss foreign exchange and interest rate artivities. There is also a Risk Committee of the Board that 

oversees management. The Risk Office and the internal Risk Committee monitor the results and ensure compliance wilti the Risk 

Management Policy. The Risk Office is responsible for ensuring that Just Energy manages the market, credit and operational risks 

within limitations imposed by the Board of Directors in accordance with its Risk Management Policy. Market risks are monitored by 

the Risk Office and internal Risk Committee utilizing industry-accepted mark to market techniques and analytical methodologies in 

addition to company specific measures. The Risk Office operates and reports independently of the traders, Tfie failure or inability of 

Just Energy to comply with and monitor its Risk Management Policy could have an adverse effect on the operations and cash flow 

of Just Energy. 

brsergy ^rsKiing inherent risks 

Energy trading subjects Just Energy to some inherent risks associated with future contrartual commitments, induding market and 

operational risks, counterparty credit risk, product location differences, market liquidity and volatility. There is continuous monitoring 

and reporting of the valuation of identified risks to the internal Risk Committee, Executive Committee and the FUsk Committee of 

the Board of Directors. The failure or Inability of Just Energy to monitor and address the energy trading inherent risks could have a 

material adverse effect on its operations and cash fiow. 

Customer' credU. fi.sk 

In Alberta, Texas and Illinois, credit review processes have been implemented to manage customer default as Just Energy has credit 

risk in these markets. The processes are also applied to commerdal customers in other jurisdirtions. In addition, there is a credit 

policy that has been established to govern these processes. If a significant number of residential customers or a collertion of larger 

commercial customers for which Just Energy has the credit risk were to default on their payments, it could have a material adverse 

effert on the operations and cash flow of Just Energy. Management factors default from credit risk in its margin expectations for all 

customers in Illinois, Texas and Alberta and commerdal customers v^ere Just Energy has tfie credit risk. 

For the remaining customers, the LDCs provide collection services and assume the risk of any bad debts owing from Just Energy^ 

customers for a fee. Management believes that the risk of the LDCs failing to deliver payment to Just Energy is minimal. There is no 

assurance that the LDCs that provide these services wflll continue to do so in the future. 

Counte^'party cr'edi": risk 

Counterparty credit risk represents the loss that Just Energy would incur if a counterparty fails to perfonn under its contrartual 

obligations. This risk would manifest itself in Just Energy replacing contrarted supply at prevailing market rates thus impacting the 

related customer margin or replacing contrarted foreign exchange at prevailing market rates imparting the related Canadian dollar 

denominated distributions. Counterparty limits are established within the Risk Management Policy. Any exception to these limits 

requires approval from the Board of Dirertors of OESC. Ttie Risk Office and internal Risk Committee monitor cun'ent and potential 

credit exposure to individual counterparties and also monitor overall aggregate counterparty exposure. The failure of a counterparty 

to meet its contrartual obligations could have a material adverse effert on the operations and cash flow of Just Energy. 

Eiectricity supply - Salandncj risk 

It is Just Energy's policy to procure the estimated electricity requirements of its customers with offsetting elertridty swaps in advance 

of obtaining customers. Depending on several factors, including yveather. Just Energy's customers may use more or less elertridty 

than the volume purchased by Just Energy for delivery to them. Just Energy is able to invoice some of its existing electricity 

customers for balandng charges or credits when the amount of energy used is greater than or less than the amount of energy that 

Just Energy has estimated. For certain Texas and commerdal customers. Just Energy bears the risk of flurtuation in customer 

consumption. Just Energy monitors consumption and has a balancing and pridng strategy to accommodate the estimated 

assodated costs, In certain drcumstances, there can be balandng issues for which Just Energy is responsible when customer 

aggregation forecasts are not realized. 

Nati.!ra! gas supply - Balandng risk 

It is Just Energy's policy to procure the estimated gas requirements of its customers with offsetting gas physical fonwards in advance 

of obtaining customers. Depending on several fartors, including weather. Just Energy's customers may use more or less gas than the 

volume purchased by Just Energy for delivery to them. Just Energy does not invoice its natural gas customers for balandng and, 

accordingly, bears the risk of fluctuation in customer consumption. Just Energy monitors gas consumption and has an options 

strategy that covers forecast differences in customer consumption due to weather variations as well as forecast Î DC balandng 

requirements. The cost of this strategy is incorporated in the price to the customer. To the extent that forecast balancing 

requirements are outside the options purchased. Just Energy will bear financing responsibility, be exposed to market risk and, 
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furthermore, may also be exposed to penalties by the LDCs. The inability or failure of Just Energy to manage and monitor these 
balancing risks could have a material adverse effert on its operations and cash fiow. In addition, for certain commercial customers. 
Just Energy bears the risk of fluctuation in customer consumption. Just Energy monitors consumption and has a balandng and 
pricing strategy to accommodate for the estimated assodated costs. 

Operational risks 

tntormation technoio<3v systems 
Just Energy operates in a high-volume business with an extensive array of data interchanges and market requirements. Just Energy is 
dependent on its management information systems to track, monitor and conect or otherwise verify a high volume of data to 
ensure the reported finandal results are accurate. Management also relies on its management information systems to provide its 
independent contractors with compensation information and to electronically record each customer telephone interartion. 
Just Energy^ information systems also help management forecast new customer enrolments and their energy requirements, which 

help ensure that the Fund is able to supply its new customers' estimated average energy requirements without exposing the Fund to 
the spot market beyond the risk tolerances established by the Risk Management Policy. The failure of Just Energy to install and 
maintain these systems could have a material adverse effert on the operations and cash flow of Just Energy. 

Relian'.e on third p^rty stwite providers 

In all jurisdictions in which Just Energy operates, the LDCs currently perform billing and collection services except as follows: in the 
Province oi Alberta and State of Texas, where Just Energy is required to invoice and receive payments dirertly from its customers; in 
Illinois, where Just Energy is responsible for collection of defaulted amounts; in British Columbia, where Just Energy is required to 
invoice and receive payments from certain commerdal customers and in Ontario, where Just Energy would be responsible for 
collection of defaulted amounts in respert of certain large volume users in one utility territory. To date, no defaults have been 
experienced in this last category. In 2005, Just Energy entered into a five-year agreement with EPCOR for the provision of billing and 
collertion services for all of Just Energy's customers in Alberta which was amended and extended in December 2008. Pursuant to 
the amended agreement, EPCOR will continue to provide billing and collertion sen/ices for AESLP until November 30,2011. with 
respect to AESLP's existing customers. In the late summer of 2009, Just Energy intends to begin billing and collertion services dirertly 
for all new customers signed and renewed customers. If the LDCs cease to perform the^ services, Just Energy would have to seek a 
third party billing provider or develop internal systems to perform these functions. There is no assurance that the LDCs will continue 
to provide these services in the future. 

Out'^ouK'ing and offshoring arrangements 

Just Energy has outsource arrangements, predominantly to support the call centre's requirements for business continuity plans and 
independence for regulatory purposes. Contrart data input is also outsourced. Some of the outsourdng contract are offshore. As 
with any contractual relationship, there are inherent risks to be mitigated and these are actively managed, predominantly through 
quality control measures and regular reporting. 

Competition 

A number of companies (Direct Energy, Superior Energy and MX Energy) and incumbent utility subsidiaries compete with Just Energy 
in the residential, commerdal and small industrial market. It is possible that new entrants may enter the market as marketers and 
compete directly for the customer base that Just Energy targets, slowing or redudng its market share. If the LDCs are permitted by 
changes in the current regulatory framework to sell natural gas at prices other than cost, their existing customer bases could provide 
them with a significant competitive advantage. This may limit the number of customers available for marketers induding Just Energy. 

Depersdence on independent sales contractors 

Just Energy must retain qualified independent sales contractors despite competition among Just Energy's competitors. If Just Energy 
is unable to attraa a suffident number of independent sales contractors, Just Energy's customer additions and renewals may 
decrease and the Fund may not be able to execute its business strategy The continued growth of Just Energy is reliant on 
distribution channels, including the services of its independent sales contractors. There can be no assurance that competitive 
condition? will allow these independent sales contrartors, who are not employees of Just Energy or its affiliates, to achieve these 
customer additions. Lack of success in these marketing programs would limit future growth of the cash fiow of Just Energy 

Just Energy has consistently taken the position that its independent sales contractors art independently pursuant to their contracts 
for sen/ice, which provide that Just Energy does not control how, where or when they provide their sen/ices. On occasion, an 
independent contractor may make a claim that they are entitied to a benefit pursuant to legislation even though they have entered 
into a contract with Just Energy that provides that they are not entitled to benefits normally available to employees, and Just Energy 
must respond to these claims. Just Energy's position has been confirmed by regulatory bodies in many instances, but Just Energy is 
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currently appealing the findings of two regulatory bodies (one in Canada and one in the U.S.). Should Just Energy be unsuccessful in 

its appeals. Just Energy would be required to remit unpaid tax amounts plus interest and might be assessed a penalty. It could also 

mean that Just Energy would have to reassess its position in respert of other regulatory matters afferting its independent sales 

contractors such as income tax treatment. Such a dedsion could have a material adverse effert on the operations and cash flow of 

Just Energy. 

Eiectncity contract renewals and attr i t ion rtst&s 

As at March 31, 2009, Just Energy held long-term elertridty contracts reflecting approximately 812.000 long-term electricity RCEs. 

of which 8% renew in 2010. 18% renew in 2011,19% in 2012. 25% in 2013. and 30% beyond 2013. Although Just Energy has 

expenenced eledricity contract attrition rates of approximately 13% per year, there can be no assurance that this rate of annual 

attrition will not increase in the future or that Just Energy will be able to renew its existing elertridty contracts at the expiry of their 

terms. Changes in customer behaviour, government regulation or increased competition may affert (potentially adversely) attrition 

and renewal rates in the future, and these changes could adversely impact the future cash flow of Just Energy. 5ee discussion under 

"Failed to renew" on page 32. Just Energy's experience is that approximately 67% of its electricity customers have renewed atthe 

expiry of the term of their contrart. 

Gss contract renewdls and attr i t ion rates 

As at March 31, 2009, Just Energy had long-term gas contrarts reflecting approximately 978,000 long-temn gas RCEs, of which 

2 1 % renew in 2010, 22% renew in 2011, 18% in 2012,19% in 2013, and 20% renew beyond 2013. The experience of Just Energy 

is that approximately 73% of gas customers renew at the expiry of the term of their contract. Although Just Energy has experienced 

gas contract attrition rates of approximately 15% per year, there can be no assurance that this rate of annua! attrition will not 

increase in the future or that Just Energy will be able to renew its existing gas contracts at the oqairation of their terms. Changes in 

customer behaviour, government regulation or increased competition may affert (potentially adversely) attrition and renewal rates 

in the future and these changes could adversely impact the future cash flow of Just Energy. See discussion under "Failed to renew" 

on page 32. 

Cĉ sh distributions are not guaranteed and wil l f luctuate w i th the performance of iust Energy 

Although Just Energy intends to distribute the interest and other income it earns less expenses and amounts, if any, paid by 

Just Energy in connection with the redemption of units, there can be no assurance regarding the amounts of rscome to be 

generated by the Fund's affiliates and paid, directly or indirectly, to the Fund. The ability to distribute and ttie Srtual amount 

distributed in respert of the units will depend upor^ numeTOus fartors, mcluding profitabwlltv. fluctuations in vrorking capital; debt 

service requirements (including compliance with credit facility obligations); the sustainability of margins; the ability of Just Energy 

to procure, at favourable prices, its estimated commitment to supply natural gas and electridty to its customers; the ability of 

Just Energy to secure additional gas and elertridty contracts and other factors beyond the control of Just Energy. Management 

of Just Energy csnnot make any assurances that the Fund's affiliates vwll be able to pass any additional costs arising from legislative 

changes (or any amendments) on to customers. Cash distributions are not guaranteed and will flurtuate with the performance of 

the Fund's affiliates and other factors. 

[•ianMrnjivolatiHly 

Just Energy's business is seasonal in nature. In addition to regular seasonal flurtuations in its earnings, there is agnificant volatility in 

its earnings associated with the requirement to mark its commodity contrarts to market. The earnings volatili'ty assodated with 

seasonality and mark to market accounting may be misconstrued as instability, thereby impacting access to capitel. Management 

ensures there is adequate disclosure for both the mark to market and seasonality to mitigate this risk. 

Model risk 

The approach to calculation of market value and customer forecasts requires data-intensive modelling used in conjunction with 

certain assumptions when independently verifiable information is not available. Although Just Energy uses industry standard 

approaches and validates its internally developed models, results could change significantly should underlying assumptions prove 

incorrect or an embedded modelling error go undetected in the vetting process. 

Corrir icdity akcrnatives 

To the extent that natural gas and electricity enjoy a price advantage over other forms of energy, such price advantage may be 

transitory and consumers may switch to the use of another form of energy The inherent volatility of natural gas and elertridty prices 

could result in these other sources of energy providing more significant competition to Just Energy. 
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Capital as.<et and replacement risk 

The Fund does not invest in a significant capital asset program and the vast majority of capital asset expenditures are vwth respert to 

information technology including telephony. The capital asset expenditure cash flow in fiscal 2009 represents 4% of operating cash 

flow and has been funded through operations. Replacement of capital assets is not considered significant. 

Matorisl debt arrangements 

The Fund's credit facility is in the amount of $170.0 million. There are various covenants pursuant to the credit fadiity that govern 
most of the Fund's subsidiaries and affiliates. In addition, the Fund is required to submit monthly reporting covering, among other 
things, mark to market exposure, borrowing base certificate and a supply/demand projertion. To date, the Fund has met the 
requirements of the credit fadiity. Should the credit facility be unavailable, there would be a significant material adverse effert as the 
likely result would be either a replacement facility with increased costs or an inability to operate. 

Di^ryptiDrj> t.o infrastructure 

Customers are reliant upon the LDCs to deliver their contrarted commodity. LDCs are reliant upon the continuing availability of the 
distribution infrastructure. Any disruptions in this infrastrurture would result in counterparties and thereafter Just Energy enarting 
the force majeure clauses of their contrarts. Under such severe circumstances there would be no revenue or assodated cost of sales 
to report for the afferted areas. 

Expansion strategy <iri.6 future acquisitions 

The Fund plans to grow its business by expansion into additional deregulated markets through organic growth and acquisitions. 
The expansion into additional markets is subjert to a number of risks, any of which could prevent the Fund from realizing its 
business strategy 

Acquisitions involve numerous risks, any one of which could harm the Fund's business, induding difficulties in integrating the 
operations, technologies, produrts. existing contrarts, accounting processes and personnel of the target and realizing the 
anticipated synergies of the combined businesses; difficulties in supporting and transitioning customers, if any, or assets of the 
target company may exceed the value the Fund realizes, or the value it could have realized if it had allocated the purchase price or 
other resources to another opportunity; risks of entering new markets or areas in which Just Energy has limited or no experience or 
are outside its core competencies; potential loss of key employees, customers and strategic alliances from either Just Energy's current 
business or the business of the target; assumption of unanticipated problems or latent liabilities, such as problems with the quality 
of the products of the target; and inability to generate sufficient revenue to offset acquisition costs. 

Future acquisitions or expansion could result in the incurrence of additional debt and related interest expense, as well as unforeseen 
liabilities, all of which could have a material adverse effert on the Fund's business, results of operations and financial condition. The 
failure to successfully evaluate and execute acquisitions or othenwise adequately address the risks associated with acquisitions could 
have a material adverse effect on Just Energ/s business, results of operations and financial condition. Just Energy may require 
additional finandng should an appropriate acquisition be identified and it may not have access to the funding required for the 
expansion of its business or such funding may not be available to Just Energy on acceptable terms. There is no assurance that 
Just Energy will determine to pursue any acquisition or that such an opportunity, if pursued, will be successful, 

Legal, regulatory and secitrilies risks 

legislative and regulatory environment 

Just Energy operates in the highly regulated natural gas and elertridty retail sales industry in the provinces of Ontario, Manitoba, 
Quebec, British Columbia and Alberta and in the states of Illinois, Indiana, New York and Texas. It must comply with the legislation 
and regulations in these jurisdictions in order to maintain its licensed status and to continue its operations. There is potential for 
change to this legislation and these regulatory measures that may, favourably or unfavourably, impact Just Energy^ business model. 
As part of doing business as a door-to-door marketing company. Just Energy receives complaints from consumers which may involve 
sanctions from regulatory and legal authorities including those which issue marketing licences. Similariy, changes to consumer 
protection legislation In those provinces and states where Just Energy markets to non-commercial customers may, favourably or 
unfavourably, impart Just Energy's business model. Just Energy has a dedicated team of in-house regulatory advbors to ensure 
adequate knowledge of the legislation and regulations in order that operations may be advised of regulations pursuant to which 
procedures are required to be implemented and monitored to maintain license status. When new markets are entered, the team 
assesses the market and determines if additional expertise (internal or external) is required. There is also a team that monitors and 
addresses complaints with a view to mitigating underlying causes of complaints. 
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In addition to the complaints and dass actions referenced herein and litigation in the ordinary course of business. Just Energy may in 

the future be subject to class actions, other litigation and other actions arising in relation to its consumer contrarts and marketing 

practices. See the "Legal proceedings" sertion on page 48 of this report. This litigation is, and any such additional litigation could 

be, time consuming and expensive and could distrart our executive team from the conduct of Just Energy's daily business. The 

adverse resolution of any spedfic lawsuit could have a material adverse effect on our ability to favourably resolve other lawsuits and 

on the Fund's finandal condition and liquidity. 

InvesLrns^nt eligibil ity 

Just Energy will endeavour to ensure that the units continue to be qualified investments for registered retirement savings plans. 

deferred profit sharing plans, registered retirement income funds and registered education savings plans. The Tax Art imposes 

penalties for the acquisition or holding of non-qualified or ineligible investments and there is no assurance that the conditions 

prescribed for such qualified or eligible investments will be adhered to at any particular time. 

Nature of units 

Securities such as the units are hybrids in that they share certain attributes common to both equity securities and debt instruments. 

The units do not represent a dirert investment in tfie natural gas or electricity wholesale business and should not be viewed by 

investors as shares or securities in any of the Fund's affiliates. As holders of units, subject to the Trust Benefidaries' Liability Art, 

2004, Unitholders do not have the statutory rights normally associated with ownership of shares of a company including, for 

example, the right to bring "oppressive" or "derivative" artions. The units represent a fractional interest in the Fund. The Fund's 

primary assets are its direct and indirect interests in the securities of its affiliates. The price per unit is. among other things, a 

function of anticipated distributable income. 

Redemption nght 

It is antidpated that the redemption right will not be the primary mechanism for Unitholders to liquidate their investments. OESC 

Notes, Notes of OESC Exchangeco II Inc. ("Exchangeco 11"), a wholly owned subsidiary of ttie Fund, and the Fund Notes (of which 

none are outstanding), which may be distributed in specie to Unitholders in connection with a redemption, will not be listed on any 

stock exchange and no established market is expected to develop for such OESC Notes, Exchangeco II Notes and the Fund Notes. 

Cash redemptions are subject to limitations. 

Unitholder l imited iiability 

The Dedaration of Trust provides that no Unitholder will be subjert to any liability in connection with the Fund or its assets or 

obligations, and in the event that a court determines that Unitholders are subjea to any such liabilities, the liabiNties will be 

enforceable only against, and will be satisfied only out of. the Unitholders' shares of the Fund's assets. 

The Declaration of Trust further provides that the tnjstee and the Fund shall make all reasonable efforts to indude as a spedfic tenn of 

any obligations or liabilities being incurred by the Fund or the trustee on behalf of the Fund a contrartual provision to the effert that 

neither the Unitholders nor the trustee have any personal liability or obligations in respert thereof The Administration Agreement 

contains such provisions. Personal iiability may also arise in respert of claims against the Fund that do not arise under contracts, 

including claims in tort, claims for taxes and possibly certain other statutory liabilities. As the Fund^ artivities are generally limited to 

investing in securities issued by its affiliates, the possibility of any personal liability of this nature arising is considered remote. 

On December 16, 2004, the Government of Ontario passed the Trust Beneficiaries' Liability Act, 2004, which limits the liability of 

holders of trust units, in a manner similar to that afforded to holders of shares of Ontario incorporated limited liability corporations. 

The legislation provides that the beneficiaries of a trust are not as beneficiaries, liable for any art, default, obligation or liability of 

the trust or any of its trustees that arises after the act became law if, when the act or default occurs or the obligation or liability 

arises: (a) the trust is a reporting issuer under the Securities A a (Ontario) and (b) the trust is governed by the laws of Ontario. The 

Fund is a reporting issuer under the Securities A a (Ontario) and is governed by the laws of Ontario. However, the courts have not 

yet had an opportunity to consider this legislation. 

The operations of the Fund will be condurted, upon the advice of counsel, in such a way and in such jurisdiaions as to avoid as far 

as possible any material risk of liability on the Unitholders for claims against the Fund. 
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Di.^t,r!bLftJon of common shares and notes or\ termination of the Fund 

Upon termination of the Fund, the trustee may disti-ibute the common shares, Exchangeco common shares. OESC Notes, 

Exchangeco 11 Notes and the Fund Notes direaly to the Unitholders, subjea to obtaining all required regulatory approvals. There is 

currently no market for the common shares, Exchangeco common shares, Exchangeco II Notes, OESC Notes, or the Fund Notes. In 

addition, the common shares, Exchangeco common shares, Exchangeco 11 Notes, OESC Notes and the Fund Notes are not freely 

tradable and are not currently listed on any stock exchange. 

The Fund may l^sue additional unhs diluting existing Unitholder.^' interests 

The Declaration of Trust authorizes the OESC as administrator to cause the Fund to issue an unlimited number of units for such 

consideration and on such terms and conditions as shall be established by tfie Administirator without the approval of any 

Unitholders. Additional units have been and will be issued by the Fund on the exerdse of the Exchangeco 11 Exchange Rights relating 

to the Class A preference shares. 

Restrictions on potential growth 

The payout by the Fund's affiliates of the vast majority of all of their operating cash fiow will make additional capital and operating 

expenditures dependent on increased cash flow or additional finandng in tfie future. Lack of such funds could limit the future 

growth of Just Energy and its cash fiow. 

Changes in .securities legislation 

There can be no assurance that the treatment of mutual fund trusts will not be changed in a manner which adversely afferts 

Unitholders. If the Fund ceases to qualify as a "mutual fund trust" under the Tax Art, the units v\nll cease to be qualified investments 

for registered retirement savings plans, deferred profit sharing plans, registered retirement income funds and registered education 

savings plans. 

Legal p roceed ings 

On March 3, 2008, the Citizen's Utility Board ("CUB"), AARP and Citizen Action/Illinois filed a complaint before the Illinois 

Commerce Commission alleging daims very similar to those in the Illinois AG Complaint. Just Energy has commenced discussion 

with CUB to address and defend the allegations and intends to seek a construrtive resolution to the matter. 

On March 20, 2008, an Indiana resident filed a proposed consumer class artion against JE Illinois in Illinois also based on allegations 

similar to those made by the Illinois Attorney General. The court dismissed the artion and ordered the plaintiff to refile with proper 

jurisdiction cited (citizenship and quantum). The action has been restricted to Indiana plaintiffs on a limited basis. The plaintiff will 

now have to seek certification. 

On April 4, 2008, NYESC was served with a complaint initiated by a commerdal customer in New York that proposes a dass artion 

against NYESC, the Fund and the LDC (Consolidated Edison) on behalf of residents of New Yort< City. On December 16, 2008, the 

court dismissed the complaint against the Fund and the complaint against NYESC was referred to ari^iti-ation. The plaintiff^ 

representative filed an appeal but has yet, under state court rules, perfected it, which it has until July 15, 2009, to do so. 

Just Energy will resolve or vigorously contest the daims in these matters. Management believes that the pending legal artions 

against JE Illinois, NYESC or the Fund are not expected to have a material impact on the financial condition and liquidity of the Fund 

at this time. 

Cont ro ls a n d p rocedures 

Just Energy maintains appropriate information systems, procedures and controls to ensure that information disclosed externally is 

complete, reliable and timely Just Energy's Chief Executive Officer and Chief Finandal Officer evaluated, or caused an evaluation 

under their direct supervision of. the design and operating effectiveness of the Fund's disclosure controls and procedures (as defined 

in National Instrument 52-109, Certification of Disclosure in Issuer's Annual and Interim Filings^ as at March 31, 2009. and have 

concluded that such disclosure controls and procedures were appropriately designed and were operating effertively. 

Just Energy has also established adequate internal controls over financial reporting to provide reasonable assurance regarding the 

reliability of the Fund's financial reporting and the preparation of the financial statements for external purposes In accordance with 

GAAR Just Energy's Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer assessed, or caused an assessment under their direct 

supervision of, the design and operating effertiveness of the Fund's internal controls over financial reporting (as defined in National 

Instrument 52-109, Certification of Disdosure in Issuer's Annual and Interim Filings) as at March 31, 2009, using the Committee of 

Sponsoring Organizations Internal Control - Integrated Framework. Based on that assessment, it was determined that Just Energy's 

internal controls over financial reporting were appropriately designed and were operating effertively 
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Just Energy did not make any changes to the design of its internal controls over finandal reporting during the year ended 

March 31, 2009, that would have materially afferted or would reasonably likely to materially affert the Fund^ internal controls 

over finandal reporting. 

It should be noted that a control system, no matter how well conceived and operated, can provide only reasonable, not absolute, 

assurance that the objertives of the control system are met. Because of the inherent limitations in all control systems, no evaluation 

of controls can provide absolute assurance that all control issues, induding instances of fraud, if any, have been deterted. These 

inherent limitatic)ns include, among other items, (i) that management's assumptions and judgments could ultimately prove to be 

incorrect under varying conditions and drcumstances; (ii) the impart of any undeterted errors; and (iii) controls may be drcumvented 

by the unauthorized arts of individuals, by collusion of two or more peoii^e, or by management override. 

The design of any system of controls is also based in part upon certain assumptions about the likelihood of future events, and there 

can be no assurance that any design will succeed in achieving its stated goals under all potential future conditions. 

Corporate governance 

Just Energy is committed to transparency in our operations and our approach to governance meets all recommended standards. 

Full disdosure of our compliance with existing corporate governance rules is available on our website at www.justenergy.com and 

will be induded in the Fund's May 15,2009 management information circular. Just Energy actively monitors the corporate 

governance and disclosure environment to ensure timely compliance with current and future requirements. 

Outlook 

On April 22,2009 Just Energy announced that it entered into a definitive agreement to acquire by way of plan of arrangement 

(the "Arrangement") ali of the outstanding common shares of the Universal Energy Group Ltd. ("UEG"), a TSX listed marketer of 

deregulated natural gas and electricity The Arrangement will provide for a share exchange through which each outstanding share of 

UEG will be exchanged for 0.58 of a share (the "Exchangeable Shares") of a subsidiary of the Fund. Each Exchangeable Share will 

be exchangeable into one Just Energy trust unit at any time at the option of the holder for no additional consideration. The 

transaction is experted to dose in eariy July and is subject to certain conditions induding approval of UEG shareholders, compliance 

with the Competition Act, approval of Just Energy^ lenders and satisfartion of other customary approvals. The transaction would 

require the issuance of approximately 21.1 million Exchangeable Shares increasing the diluted units of the Fund to 132.6 million. 

The Fund has entered into support agreements (the "Support Agreements") with holders of 51 % of the outstanding shares of UEG. 

These Support Agreements require these holders to, among other things, (i) vote or cause to be voted, the holder^ UEG securities in 

favour of the proposed Arrangement at the UEG meeting; (ii) not to exercise any dissent rights or other rights available to delay, 

upset or challenge the Arrangement; (iii) not to sell or othenwise dispose of the holder's UEG securities; (iv) not to solicit or othenwise 

knowingly encourage any other acquisition proposal of UEG; (v) to refrain from taking or causing to be taken any artions that would 

reduce the likelihood of the Arrangement being successfully completed; and, with respect to certain holders, (vi) to enter into an 

escrow agreement at dosing under which 60% of the holder's Exchangeable Shares shall be escrowed as of closing and released as 

to 50% on the first anniversary of the dosing date and as to 50% on the second anniversary of the dosing date. 

Management believes that the acquisition of UEG will be immediately accretive to both gross margin and distributable cash per unit 

despite the transition costs of merging the operations. The full benefit of the acquisition will not be seen until fiscal 2011 when the 

savings from elimination of administrative overlap wili be fully realized. 

The UEG acquisition brings a total of 14 U.S. state marketing licenses which will provide an option for accelerated entry into 

attractive American markets. UEG currently supplies over 580,000 RCEs in Ontario, British Columbia, Michigan, California, Ohio, 

Pennsylvania, Maryland and New Jersey 

UEG operates a very successful home sen'ices business renting and selling water heaters and related produrts. This business will be 

merged with the Newten water heater business and management believes the growth of this business will accelerate significantly. 

UEG also owns a 66.7% interest in Terra Grain Fuels, a 150-mil lion-litre-capacity ethanol plant located In Belle Plaine, Saskatchewan. 

The plant is currently making repairs to its fadiity to move to full capadty produrtion. Management does not currently expea that 

ethanol will form a long-term segment of Just Energy's business. 

On February 7, 2008, the Attorney General for Illinois filed a complaint against JE Illinois (the "Illinois AG Complaint"). The Illinois 

AG Complaint alleged that independent sales agents used deceptive practices in their sale of Just Energy contrarts to Illinois 

customers. On May 12, 2009, a settlement of the action was reached subject to court approval. Under this settiement, JE Illinois will 

comply with several consumer safeguards, many of which JE Illinois has prarticed for more than a year In addition, $1,0 million will 

be paid to a limited number of customers in settlement of claims. 
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MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

The financial positions of the Fund's commodity suppliers remain sound based on analysis by management as are those of the banks 
participating in the credit facility. Management does not believe that weakness in the global credit markets will have any near-term 
impact on either existing business or the Fund's ability to grow in the future. 

Management's best estimation is that Just Energy will again grow its key operating measures during fiscal 2010. Gross margin and 
distributable cash after gross margin replacement per unit are expected to grow by approximately 5-10%, including the acquisition 
from UEG. Distributable cash after marketing expenses is experted to grow at a slightly lower rate due to increased marketing 
expenses associated with the forecasted volume additions and GEO product growth. Total RCEs are expected to grow after all 
attrition and failure to renew. However, management is not in a position to provide guidance on the level of customer growth 
pending acquisition of the UEG sales force and its integration into Just Energy Investors will be updated in future quarters on the 
customer growth expertations. 

The economies of Just Energy's markets are currently in the midst of a significant recession. These very weak North American 
economic conditions and the turmoil in the credit and financial markets have had a limited effect on Just Energy. In general, utility 
bills are among the last to go unpaid in times of finandal hardship. Impart on the Fund to date has been limited to higher than 
experted attrition in the United States due to record foreckssures and utility shutoffs. Bad debt losses increased in the third and 
fourth quarter but remain comfortably in the mid range of the Fund's 2-3% long-term target range. TTiere can be no assurance that 
bad debt losses will not increase further during an extended recession. The Fund does not bear bad debt risk in Ontario, Quebec, 
Manitoba, British Columbia (exduding large volume customers), New York and Indiana. These markets contain approximately 74% 
of Just Energy's customers. 

In the past, times of financial stress have increased the importance of accurate budgeting for homeowners and small businesses. 
This has, to date, been positive for Just Energy and its insurance-type contracts, and strong marketing results for the past three 
quarters bear this out. Finally, tight credit and a weak economy should increase the number of competitors that fail or are forced to 
sell out. This will be favourable for a well-capitalized company like Just Energy 

The Fund intends to continue its geographic expansion into new markets in the United States both through organic growth and 
focused acquisitions. The Fund is actively reviewing a number of further possible acquisitions. Just Energy continues to artively 
monitor the progress of the deregulated markets in various junsdictions. 

Changes made to the Income Tax Act require certain income trusts, induding Just Energy, to pay taxes after 2010, similar to those 
paid by taxable Canadian corporations. The payment of such taxes will, in the future, reduce the cash flow of the Fund, thereby 
reducing the amount available for distributions to unitholders. Just Energy is actively analyzing potential restrurturing options in 
preparation for conversion from a trust to a corporation on or before 2011. 
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MANAGEMENT'S RESPONSIBIUTY FOR FINANCIAL REPORTING 

MAMAGEIVIENrS RESFOMSIBIUTY FOR FINANCIAL REPORTING 

The accompanying consolidated finandal statements of Just Energy Income Fund and all the information in this annual report are 

the responsibility of management and have been approved by the Board of Dirertors. 

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared by management in accordance with Canadian Generally Accepted 

Accounting Principles. The consolidated finandal statements indude some amounts that are based on estimates and judgments. 

Management has determined such amounts on a reasonable basis in order to ensure tfiat the consolidated financial statements are 

presented fairly, in all material respects. Financial information presented elsewhere in this annual report has been prepared on a 

consistent basis with that in the consolidated financial statements. 

Just Energy Income Fund maintains systems of internal accounting and administrative controls. These systems are designated to 

provide reasonable assurance that the financial information is relevant, reliable and accurate and that the Fund's assets are properly 

accounted for and adequately safeguarded. 

The Board of Directors is responsible for ensuring that management fulfills its responsibilities for financial reporting and is ultimately 

responsible for reviewing and approving the consolidated finandal statements. The Board carries out this responsibility principally 

through its Audit Committee. 

The Audit Committee is appointed by the Board of Dirertors and is comprised entirely of non-management dirertors. The Audit 

Committee meets periodically with management and the external auditors, to discuss auditing. Interna! controls, accounting policy 

and finandal reporting matters. The committee revievw the consolidated financial statements with both management and the 

external auditors and reports its findings to the Board of Dirertors before such statements are approved by the Board. 

The consolidated financial statements have been audited by KPMG LLP, the external auditors, in accordance with Canadian generally 

accepted auditing standards on behalf of the Unitholders. The external auditors have full and free access to the Audit Committee, 

with and without the presence of management, to discuss their audit and their findings as to the integrity of the finandal reporting 

and the effectiveness of the system of internal controls. 

On behalf of Just Energy Income Fund by Ontario Energy Savings Corp., as administrator 

Ken Hartwick Beth Summers 

Chief Executive Officer and President Chief Financial Officer 

JUST ENERGY INCOME FUND 2009 ANNUAL REPORT 51 



AUDITORS' REPORT TO THE UNITHOLDERS 

AUDITORS* REPORT TO THE UNITHOLDERS 

We have audited the consolidated balance sheets of Energy Savings Income Fund as at March 31. 2009 and 2008 and the 

consolidated statement of operations, unitholders' equity (deficit), comprehensive income (loss) and cash flows for the years tiien 

ended. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion 

on these financial statements based on our audit. 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that we 

plan and perform an audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. 

An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit 

also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the 

overall financial statement presentation. 

In our opinion, these consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material resperts, the finandal position of the Company 

as at March 31, 2009 and 2008 and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with 

Canadian generally accepted accounting principles. 

^ / ^ A f ^ ^^"^ 

Chartered Accountants. Licensed Public Accountants 

Toronto, Canada 

May 13, 2009 
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CONSOUDATEO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS 
As af March 37 

(thousands of dollars) 

Assets 
Current 
Cash and cash equivalents 
Restrirted cash (Note 5} 
Accounts receivable 
Gas in storage 
Inventory 
Unbilled revenues 
Prepaid expenses 
Corporate taxes recoverable 
Other assets - current (Wofe I2a): 

Gas contrarts (less accumulated amortization - $710; 2008 - $nii) 
Elertridty contrarts (less accumulated amortization - $37,216; 2008 
Goodwill 
Capital assets fWote?) 
Other assets - long term (Wote i2a) 
Future income tax assets fWdte 9) 

L iabi l i t ies 
Current 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 
Customer rebates payable (Notes) 
Management incentive program payable 
Unit distribution payable 
Corporate taxes payable 
Accrued gas accounts payable 
Other liabilities - current (Note 12a} 

Long-term debt (Note 8) 
Deferred lease inducement 
Other liabilities - long term (Note I2a) 
Future income tax liabilities;{Atote 9) 

Non-controlling interest (Note 5b} 

Equi ty (def ic i t ) 
Deficit 
Accumulated other comprehensive income 

$32,401) 

Unitholders'capital 
Contributed surplus 

Unitholders' equity (deficit) 

Guarantees (Note 16), Commitments (Note 17), Contingendes (Note 18) 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements 

Approved on behalf of Just Energy Income Fund by Ontario Energy Savings Corp., as administrator. 

• " ^ 

2009 2C0R 

$ 59.094 $ 

7.«09 
2 4 9 ^ 

6.«90 

i57 
57,779 

2,020 

-
5.^44 

388,473 
1r?13 
3,$84 

117rd61 
19,^71 

5,'|53 
• -

S 535,755 $ 

$ 165,431 $ 
7,309 
1,093 

10,977 

1r906 
41,$79 

519,^52 

747,447 

76,500 

2382 
401,^20 

• -

1.228,049 

292 

$ (1,470,J77) $ 

364,566 

(1,105,711) 
398,454 

14,671 

(692.586) 

$ S35,T55 $ 

27,310 
4,749 

207,793 
4,268 

_ 
47,299 

2,343 
2,665 

193,398 

489,825 

1,527 

116,146 
16,637 

75,560 
9,420 

709,115 

128.682 
4,617 
2,235 

30,696 

-
38,522 
59,150 

263,902 

67,583 
2,817 

156,390 

19,458 

510,150 

-

(211,931) 

40,789 

(171,142) 

358,103 
12,004 

198,965 

709,115 

Rebecca MacDonald, Executive Chair Michael Kirby, Corporate Director 
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CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

COMSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF UNITHOLDERS' EQUITY (DEFICIT) 
For the years ended March 31 

(thousands of dollars) 

Accumulated earnings (deficit) 

Accumulated earnings, beginning of year 

Adjustment for change in accounting policy (2008 - net of income taxes of $49) (htoteSm) 

Net income (loss) 

Accumulated earnings (deficit), end of year 

Distributions 

Distributions, beginning of year 

Distributions 

Class A preference share distributions - net pf income taxes Of $2,767 (2008 - $4,948) 

Distributions, end of year 

Def idt 

Accumulated other comprehensive income 

Accumulated other comfM-ehensive income, beginning of year, 

Transitional adjustment Upon implementation:- derivative ir^struments designated as 

cash fiow hedges and derivative gains previous^cieferred ( 2 0 ^ - n ^ of incofhe taxes of $1,535) 

Adjustment upon conversion-unrealizedlosses on translatldnofself-sustaintegforeign operations 

Othercomprehensive income (loss): : ; ; 

Accumulated other comprehensive income, end o f yeeir 

Unitholders' capital (Note 10) 

Unitholders' capital, beginning of year 

Trust units exchanged 

Trust units issued on exerdse/exchange of unit compaisation (Note 1lc& 

Trust units issued 

Repurchase and cancellation of units 

Class A preference shares exchanged 

Unitholders' capital, end o f year 

Contributed surplus (Note l id) 

Unitholders' equity (deficit), end of year 

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements 

2009 

$ ^2^082 S 237302 

2J964 1319 
(1,107^73) 152,761 

(712J427) 

(604^013) 

(148.W4) 

<4J893) 

(757*50) 

(1,470.277) 

392,082 

(435,430) 

(159,832) 

^,751) 

<KJ4,013) 

011,931) 

40^*789 

323;777 

113,865 

(87) 

(72,989) 

364^66 

1 

35S..103 
3.606 

54778 
4l i l76 
(6.to3) 
a606) 

398,j»54 

14,1671 

$ (692,P86) 

40,789 

328,153 

5,000 

4,793 

25,157 

(5,000) 

358,103 

12.004 

$ 198,965 
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CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS 
Far the years ended March 31 
("thousands of do//ars, except per unit amounts) 

Sales 
Cost of sales 

Grossmargin 

Expenses 
General and administrative expenses 
Capital tax 
Marketing expenses 

Unit based compensation (Note lid) 
Bad debt expense 
Amortization of gas contracts 
Amortization of elertridty contrarts 
Amortization ofcapitat assets 

Income before the underrated 
Interest expense (Note 8) 

Change in fair value of derivative instruments {Abie 125) 
Other income 

Income Ooss) before income tax 
Recovery of income tax (Note 9) 
Non-controlling interest (Note 6b) 

Net income (loss) 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements 

Income per unit (Note 14) 
Basic 
Diluted 

2009 

$ 1.899il3 

1,576,J97 

322.816 

59,^86 

:»20 

68,(|93 

4,098 

13.887 

710 
2,884 

5,100 

154,578 

168,438 

3.^57 

1,336,S76 

(7^04) 

(1.164.^91) 

(57,460) 
<5B) 

$(1,107,^73) 

2003 

$ 1.738,690 

1.463,890 

274,800 

51.638 

827 
56.121 

3,076 

6,951 

177 
7.384 

5,110 

131,284 

143,516 

5,346 

331 
(921) 

138,250 

(14.501) 
... 

$ 152,761 

$ (lOiO?) $ 
$ (9J93) $ 

1.42 
1.41 

COI^SOUDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS) 
For the years ended March 31 
(thousands of dollars, except per unit amount) 

Net income (loss) 

Unrealized gain (loss) on translation of self-sustaining operations 
Unrealized and realized gain (loss) on derivative instruments designated as cash flow 
hedges prior to July 1, 2008, net of income taxes of $89,256 (2008 - $(15,266)) (Note I2a) 

Amortization of defened unrealized gain on discontinued hedges after July 1, 2008, 

net of income taxes of $38,805 (Note 123) 

Other comprehensive income (loss) 

Comprehensive income (loss) 

Sec accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements 

2009 2008 

$(1,107,473) $ 1S2.761 

(1.5(06) 3,^1 

498.^54 (76,9^) 

r 
323,^7 

QMm) 
$ (TS^jifQ I 79.772 
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CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

CONSOLIDATED STATEiVIENTS OF CASH FLOWS 
For the years ended March 31 

(thousands of dollars) 

Net inf low (outflow) of cash related to the fol lowing activities 

Operating 
Net income (loss) 

Items not affecting cash 
Amortization of gas contracts 

Amortization of electricity contracts 
Amortization of capital assets 
Unit based compensation 
Non-controlling interest 

Future income taxes (Wore 9J 
Other 
Change in fair value of derivative instruments 

Adjustments required to reflect net cash i'eceipts from gas sales (Note 19) 

Changes in non-cash working capital (Note 20) 

Cash inflow from operations 

Financing: 
Exercise of trust unit options (Wofe lid) 
Issue of trust units 
Distributions paid to Unitholders 
Distributions on Class A preference shares 

Tax impact on distributions to Class A preference ^arehoWers 
Units purchased for cancellation 
Issuance of long-term debt and increase in bank Indebtedness 
Repayment of long-term debt and bank indebtedness 
Restricted cash 

Investing 
Purchase of capital assets 
Acquisitions £Wofe6J 

Effect of foreign currency translation on cash balances 

Net cash inflow 
Cash, beginning of year 

Cash, end of year 

Supplemental information 
Interest paid 
Income taxes paid 

Supplemental disclosure relating to non-cash financing and investing activities 
Acquisition of capital assets through lease inducements 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements. 

2009 

$(1,107,473) $ 152,761 

710 
2,884 

5,100 
4,098 

(58) 
(64,088) 
(3,940) 

1336,976 

1,281,682 

(7.1523) 
6,181 

172.767 

4,1293 

-
(129,S57) 

(8,460) 

2,767 
(6,603) 
&7,!726 

(85,!731) 
(122) 

(135.487) 

(6,?45) 
(1,842) 

(8,187) 

2,691 

31,784 

27,310 

$ 59,094 $ 

177 

7.384 

5,110 
3.076 

-
(18.692) 

(141) 
831 

a.255) 

(2,620) 
(11,879) 

136,007 

4,053 
18,079 

(131,132) 
(11,849) 

4,948 

_ 
97,294 

(68,303) 

1,962 

(84,948) 

(7,842) 
(33,400) 

(41,242) 

707 

10.524 

16.786 

27,310 

$ 4iH}9 $ 5,545 
S 1,153 $ 1,251 

- $ 2,817 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOUDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
For the year ended March 31, 2009 

(thousands of dollars, except where indicated and per unit amounts) 

NOTE 1 OR6Ar^^lZATiO^J 

Just Energy Income Fund ("Just Energy" or the "Fund") which was formerly known as Energy Savings Income Fund changed its 

name effective June 1, 2009. 

Just Energy is an open-ended, limited-purpose tryst established under the laws of the Province of Ontario to hold securities and to 

distribute the income of its directly or indirectly owned operating subsidiaries and affiliates: Ontario Energy Savings L.R ("OESLP"), 

Energy Savings (Manitoba) L.R ("ESMLP"), Energy Savings (Quebec) L.R ("ESPQ"), ES (B.C.) Limited Partnership ("E5BC"), Alberta 

Energy Savings L.R ("AESLP"), Just Energy Illinois Corp. ("JE Illinois"), New York Energy Savings Corp. ("NYESC"), Just Energy 

Indiana Corp. ("JE Indiana"), Just Energy Texas LR ("JE Texas") and Newten Home Comfort LR ("NHCLP") (collectively the 

"Energy Savings Group"). 

NOTE 2 OPERATIONS 

The Just Energy Group 

Just Energy's business involves the sale of natural gas and/or electridty to residential and commercial customers under long-term 

fixed-price and price-protected contracts. By fixing the price of natural gas or electricity under its fixed-price or price-protected 

program contracts for a period of up to five years, Just Energy's customers offset their exposure to changes in the price of these 

essential commodities, Just Energy, which commenced business in 1997, derives its margin or gross profit from the difference 

between the fixed price at which it is able to sell the commodities to its customers and the fixed price at which it purchases the 

associated volumes from its suppliers. Just Energy also has environmentally friendly offerings of natural gas and electricity through 

its Green Energy Option ("GEO") program. 

NOTE 3 (i) S U M M A R Y OF SIGNIf lCANT ACCOUNTING POUOES 

{?-) Principles of consolidation 

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Canadian Generally Accepted Accounting Principles 

("GAAP"), and include the accounts of Just Energy Income Fund and its directly or indirectly owned subsidiaries and affiliates. 

(b) Cash sr\d rash equivalents 

All highly liquid temporary cash investments with an original maturity of three months or less when purchased are considered to be 

cash equivalents-

{<:) Unbilled revenues/accrued gas accounts payable or gas delivered in excess of consumption/deferred revenues 

Unbilled revenues are stated at estimated realizable value and result when customers consume more gas tiian has been deliva^ed by 

Just Energy to local distribution companies ("LDCs"). Accrued gas accounts payable represents the obligation to the LDCs with 

respect to gas consumed by customers in excess of that delivered to the LDCs. 

Gas delivered to LDCs in excess of consumption by customers is stated at the lower of cost and net realizable value. Collections 

from customers in advance of their consumption of gas result in deferred revenues. 

Due to the seasonality of our operations, during the winter months, customers will have consumed more than what was deliwred 

resulting in the recognition of unbilled revenues/accrued gas accounts payable; however, in the summer months, customers vwll have 

consumed less than what was delivered, resulting in the recognition of gas delivered in excess of consumption/deferred revenues. 

These adjustments are applicable solely to the Ontario, Manitoba and Quebec gas markets. 

(d) Gas In storage 

Gas in storage primarily represents the gas delivered to the LDCs in the states of Illinois, Indiana and New York. The balance will 

fluctuate as gas is injected or withdrawn from storage. Injections typically occur from April through November and withdrawals 

occur from December through March. 

In addition, a portion of the gas in storage relates to operations in the Province of Alberta. In Alberta, there is a month to montti 

carryover, which represents the difference between the gas delivered to the LDC within a month and customer consumption. The 

delivery volumes in the following month are adjusted accordingly. 

Gas in storage is stated at the lower of cost and net realizable value. 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

(e) inyerrtory 

Inventory, comprising water heaters, is stated at the lower of cost and net realizable value. 

(f) Capita* ai?et'5 

Capital assets are recorded at cost. Amortization is provided over the estimated useful lives of the assets, with the half year rule 

applied to acquisitions, as follows. 

Asset Basis Rats 

Furniture and fixtures Declining balance 20% 

Office equipment Declining balance 20% 

Computer equipment Declining balance 30% 

Computer software Declining balance 100% 

Commodity billing and settlement systems Straight line 5 years 

Water heaters Straight line 15 years 

Leasehold improvements Straight line Term of lease 

Capital assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an 

asset may not be recoverable. Recoverability of assets to be h^d and used is measured by a comparison of the carrying amount of 

an asset to the estimated undiscounted future cash flows expected to be generated by the asset, tf the carrying amount of an asset 

exceeds its estimated future cash flows, an impairment charge is recognized for the amount by which the carrying amount of the 

asset exceeds the fair value of the asset. 

iq) Asset retirernent obligations 

Asset retirement obligations. Including any restoration costs required in connection with leased assets or properties, are recognized 

at fair value in the period in which the obligations are incuned and a reasonable estimate of fair value can be made. Just Energy did 

not have any such obligations outstanding for the years ended March 31, 2009 and 2008. 

(h) Goodwill 

Goodwill, refleaing the excess of the acquisition and incremental costs over the fair value of assets purchased by the Fund, is not 

amortized. The carrying amount of goodwill is tested for impairment annually or more frequentiy if events or changes in 

circumstances indicate that the asset might be impaired. The impairment test is carried out in two steps; in the first step the carrying 

amount of the reporting unit including goodwill is compared with its fair value. When the fair value of a reporting unit including 

goodwill exceeds its carrying amount, goodwill of the reporting unit is not considered impaired and the second step of the 

impairment test is unnecessary. The second step is carried out when the carrying of a reporting unit exceeds its fair value, in which 

case the implied fair value of the reporting unit's goodwill is compared with its carrying amount to measure the amount of the 

impairment loss, if any The implied fair value of goodwill Is determined in the same manner as the value of goodwill is determined 

in a business combination. 

(i) <3ss contracts 

Gas contracts represent the original fair value of existing sales and supply contracts acquired by Just Energy on the acquisition of 

various gas contracts, These contracts are amortized over their average estimated remaining life. The Fund regularly evaluates 

existing gas contracts including the estimates of useful lives. 

(j) Electr!<:itv'contracts 

Electricity contracts represent the original fair value of existing sales and supply contracts acquired by Just Energy on the acquisition 

of various electricity contracts. These contracts are amortized over their average estimated remaining life. The Fund regularly 

evaluates existing electricity contracts including the estimates of useful lives. 

(k) Other assets (Habilities) - current/long term, change in fair value of derivative instruments and other comprehensive 

income (loss) 

Just Energy's various derivative instruments have been accounted for using Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants ("CICA") 

Handbook Section 3855, Financial Instruments - Recognition and Measurement. Effective July 1, 2008, the Fund ceased the 

utilization of hedge accounting. In accordance with CICA Handbook Section 3865, Hedges, the Fund is amortizing the accumulated 

gains and losses to June 30, 2008, from other comprehensive income in the same period in which the original hedged item affects 

the Statement of Operations, No retrospective restatement is required for this change. The derivatives are measured at fair value and 

booked to the consolidated balance sheets. Effective July 1,2008, all changes in fair value between periods are booked to change in 

fair value of derivative instruments on the consolidated statements of operations. 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOUDATEO RNANCIAL STATEMENTS 

Prior to July 1, 2008, financial instruments that met hedging requirements were accounted for under CICA Handbook Section 3865, 
Hedges. For derivative instruments accounted for under CICA Handbook Section 3865, Just Energy formally documented the 
relationship between hedging instruments and the hedged items, as well as its risk management objective and strategy for 
undertaking various hedge transactions. This process induded linking all derivative financial instruments to anticipated transactions. 
Just Energy also formally assessed, both at the hedge's inception and on an ongoing basis, whether the derivative financial 
instruments that were used in hedging transactions were highly effective in offsetting changes in cash flows of the hedged items. 
The derivatives were measured at fair value and booked to the consolidated balance sheets. Changes in fair value between periods 
were booked to other comprehensive income for the effective portion of the hedge with the remaining change being booked to 
change in fair value of derivative instruments. 

Just Energy enters into hedges of its cost of sales relating to its fixed-price electricity sales by entering into fixed for floating 
electricity swap contracts and physical fonward contracts, heat rate swap contî acts and financial and physical fonward gas contracts 
(to fulfill obligations under the heat rate swaps) with electricity and natural gas suppliers. These swaps and fon/vards are accounted 
for in accordance with CICA Handbook Section 3855. Prior to July 1, 2008, they were accounted for in accordance with CICA 
Handbook Section 3865 and, in some limited circumstances, CICA Handbook Section 3855. 

Just Energy enters into hedges of its cost of sales relating to its fixed-price gas contracts by entering into a combination of physical 
gas forwards, financial gas fonwards, physical transportation forwards and option contracts. Physical gas forwards and transportation 
fonvards are accounted for in accordance with CICA Handbook Section 3355. Prior to July 1, 2008, they were accounted for in 
accordance with CICA Handbook Section 3865. Option contracts and financial gas forwards are accounted for in accordance 
with CICA Handbook Section 3855. The premiums and settlements for these derivative instruments are recognized in cost of sales, 
when incurred. 

Just Energy enters into hedges for its foreign exchange risk relating to its anticipated repatriation of U.S. denominated currency by 
entering Into foreign exchange forward contracts with its lender Since April 1, 2007, Just Energy has accounted for these forward 
contracts in accordance with CICA Handbook Section 3855 by recording them on the consolidated balance sheet as either other 
assets or other liabilities measured at fair value, with changes in fair value booked to change in fair value of derivative instruments. 

(I) Derivative instruments 
Electricity: 

Just Energy has entered into contracts with customers to provide electi'lcity at fixed prices ("customer electricity contracts"). 
Customer electricity contracts indude requirements contracts and contracts vwth fixed or variable volumes at fixed prices. The 
customer electridty contracts expose Just Energy to changes in market prices of electricity and consumption. To reduce its exposure 
to movements in commodity prices arising from the acquisition of electricity at floating rates, Just Energy uses electricity derivative 
contracts ("electricity derivative contracts"). These electricity derivative contracts are fixed for floating swaps, physical electricity 
forward contracts or a combination of heat rate swaps and physical or financial forward gas contracts. 

Just Energy agrees to exchange the difference between the variable or indexed price and the fixed price on a notional quantity of 
electricity for a specified time frame in the fixed-for-floating contract arrangement. Just Energy takes title to electricity at a fixed 
price for scheduling into the power grid under the fon/vard contracts. Just Energy agrees to pay for certain quantities of power 
based on the floating price of natural gas under heat rate swaps. In order to cover the floating price of gas under these 
arrangements, prices for gas are fixed through either physical or financial fonward gas contracts. These contracts are expected to be 
effective as economic hedges of the electridty price exposure. Just Energy continues to monitor its effective hedging relationship 
between retail consumption and its supply contracts and prior to July 1,2008, after which the Fund ceased the utilization of hedge 
accounting, evaluated the effectiveness of this relationship on a quarterly basis to meet the criteria for hedge accounting. 

The fair value of the electricity derivative contracts is recorded in the consolidated balance sheet with changes in the fair value being 
recorded in change in fair value of derivative instruments on the consolidated statements of operations. Prior to July 1,2008, the 
changes in the fair value were recorded in other comprehensive income to the extent that the hedge measurement was effective 
with the remainder recorded in change in fair value of derivative instruments. Any electridty derivative contracts that did not qualify 
for hedge accounting or were de-designated as a hedge were recorded at fair market value with the changes in fair value recorded 
in current period income as a component of change in fair value of derivative instruments. 
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Any gains or losses accumulated up to the date that the electridty derivative contract was terminated or de-designated as a hedge 

were deferred in accumulated other comprehensive income ("AOCl") then recorded in cost of sales when the hedged customer 

electricity contract affected income. 

Gas: 

Just Energy has entered into contracts with customers to provide gas at fixed prices ("customer gas contracts"). The customer gas 

contracts expose Just Energy to changes in market prices of gas and consumption. To reduce its exposure to movements in 

commodity prices and usage. Just Energy uses gas physical and financial contracts ("gas supply contracts"). These gas supply 

contracts are expected to be effective as economic hedges of the gas price exposure. 

Just Energy continues to monitor its effective hedging relationship between retail consumption and its supply contracts, and prior to 

July 1, 2008, after which the Fund ceased the utilization of hedge accounting, evaluated the effectiveness of this relationship on a 

quarterly basis to meet the criteria for hedge accounting. 

Just Energy uses physical fonwards, transportation fonwards (together "physical gas supply contracts") and other gas financial 

instruments to fix the price of its gas supply Under tfie physical gas supply contracts. Just Energy agrees to pay a spedfied price per 

volume of gas or transportation. Other finandal instruments comprise finandal puts and calls that fix the price of gas in jurisdictions 

where Just Energy has scheduling responsibilities and tiierefore is exposed to commodity price risk on volumes above or below its 

base supply 

The fair value of physical gas contracts is recorded in the consolidated balance sheet with changes in the fair value being recorded in 

change in fair value of derivative instruments on the consolidated statements of operations. Prior to July 1, 2008, the changes were 

recorded in other comprehensive income to the extent that the hedge measurement was effective with the remainder recorded in 

change in fair value of derivative institjments. Any physical gas conti-act that did not qualify for hedge accounting or was de-designated 

as an accounting hedge together with the gas financial instruments were valued at fair market value with the changes in fair value 

recorded in current period income as a component of change in fair value of derivative instruments. Any gains or losses accumulated 

up to the date that the physical gas supply contract was terminated or de-designated as a hedge vwre deferred in AOCl then recorded 

in cost of sales when the hedged customer gas contrart affected income. 

Foreign exchange: 

To reduce its exposure to movements in foreign exchange rates, Just Energy uses foreign exchange forwards ("foreign exchange 

contracts"). These foreign exchange contrarts were expected to be effective as hedges of the antidpated cross border cash flow but 

were found to not be effective under GAAP accounting requirements during fiscal 2007. 

Up until September 30, 2006, unrealized gains on foreign exchange contrarts up to the date of de-designation of the hedging 

relationship were deferred to be recognized over the term of the contrart based on the timing of the underlying hedged 

transactions. As of December 31, 2006, these derivative financial instruments have been recorded on the balance sheet as either 

other assets or other liabilities measured at fair value, with changes in fair value recognized in income as other income (expense). 

The deferred gain was reclassified to AOCl as of April 1, 2007. 

(m) Revenue recognition 

Just Energy delivers gas and/or elertridty to end-use customers who have entered into long-term fixed-price ccffitrarts. Revenue is 

recognized when the commodity is consumed by the end-use customer or sold to third parties. The Fund assumes credit risk in only 

three jurisdirtions - Alberta, Illinois and Texas, where credit review processes are in place prior to commodity flowing to the customer 

Just Energy recognizes revenue from the monthly rental and sale of water heaters. 

(n) !Vl;^rketing expenses 

Commissions and various other costs related to obtaining and renewing customer contracts are charged to income in the 

period incurred. 
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!o) Foreign currency translation 

The operations of the Fund's U.S.-based subsidiaries are self-sustaining operations. Accordingly, the assets and liabilities of foreign 

subsidiaries are translated into Canadian dollars at the rate of exchange at the balance sheet date. Revenues and ejqaenses are 

translated at the average rate of exchange for the period. The resulting gains and losses are accumulated as a component of 

Unitholders' equity within AOCl. 

(p) Per unit amounts 

The computation of income per unit is based on the weighted average number of units outstanding during the year. Diluted earnings 

per unit is computed in a similar way to basic earnings per unit except that the weighted average units outstanding are increased to 

include additional units assuming the exercise of unit options, unit appreciation rights and deferred unit grants, if dilutive. 

(q) Unit based compensation plans 

The Fund accounts for ail of its unit based compensation awards using the fair value based method. 

Awards are valued at grant date and are not subsequently adjusted for changes in the prices ot the underiying unit and other 

measurement assumptions. Compensation for awards without performance conditions is recognized as an expense and a credit to 

contributed surplus over the related vesting period of the awards. Compensation for awards with performance conditions is 

recognized based on management's best estimate of whether the performance condition will be achieved. 

When options and other unit based compensation awards are exercised or exchanged, the amounts previously credited to 

contributed surplus are reversed and credited to Unitholders' equity. The amount of cash, if any, received from participants is also 

credited to Unitholders' equity. 

(r) Employee future benefits 

Just Energy established a long-term incentive plan (the "Plan") for all permanent full-time and part-time Canadiai employees 

(working more than 20 hours per week) for its affiliates and subsidiaries. The plan consists of two components, a Deferred Profit 

Sharing Plan ("DPSP") and an Employee Profit Sharing Plan ("EPSP"). For participants of the DPSP, Just Energy contributes an 

amount equal to a maximum of 2% per annum of an employee's base earnings. For the EPSP, Just Energy contributes an amount up 

to a maximum of 2% per annum of an employee's base earnings towards the purchase of trust units of the Fund, on a matching 

one for one basis. 

Participation in either plan is voluntary. The plan has a two-year vesting period beginning from the later of the plan's effective date 

and the employee's starting date. During the year, Just Energy contributed $739 (2008 - $647) to both plans, which was paid in full 

during the year. 

(s) txchangeabfs securities 

just Energy follows the recommendations of the Emerging Issues Committee ("BC") relating to the presentation of exchangeable 

securities issued by subsidiaries of income funds. The recommendations require that the exchangeable securities issued by a 

subsidiary of an income fund be presented on the consolidated balance sheet of the income fund as a part of Unitholders' equity if 

the following criteria have been met: 

• the holders of the exchangeable securities are entitied to receive distributions of earnings economically equivalent to distributions 

received on units of the income fund; and 

«the exchangeable securities ultimately are required to be exchanged for units of the income fund as a result of the passage of 

fixed periods of time or the non-transferability to third parties of the exchangeable securities without first exchanging them for 

units of the income fund. 

The Class A preference shares meet these criteria and have been dassified as Unitholders' equity. In addition, all disti-ibutions paid to 

the Class A preference shareholders must be recorded in Unitholders' equity, net of tax. The management incentive program, which 

is a bonus equal to the distribution amount received by a Unitholder, is additional compensation to senior management of Ontario 

Energy Savings Corp, ("OESC"), a wholly owned subsidiary of the Fund. 

it) Ui.t of estimates 

The preparation of the finandal statements, in conformity with Canadian Generally Accepted Accounting Principles, requires 

management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the finandal statements and accompanying 

notes. Actual results could differ from those estimates. In particular, valuation techniques such as those used in the preparation of 

fair values are significantly affected by the assumptions used and the amount and timing of estimates. The aggregate fair value 

amounts represent point-in-time estimates only and should not be interpreted as being realizable in an immediate settlement of the 

supply contracts. 
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(u) N'cotrie taxes 

The Fund is a taxable entity under the Income Tax Art (Canada) and is taxable on income that is not distributed or distributable to 

the Fund's Unitholders. Payments made between the Canadian operating entities and the Fund ultimately transfer both current and 

future income tax liabilities to the Unitholders. The future income tax liability associated with Canadian assets recorded on the 

balance sheet is recovered over time through these payments. 

Effective January 1, 2011, the Fund will be subjert to a Specified Investment Flow-Through ("SIFT") entities tax on distributions of 

Canadian taxable income that has not been subjert to a Canadian corporate income tax in the Canadian operating entities. 

Therefore, the future tax asset or liability associated with Canadian assets recorded on the balance sheet as at that date will be 

realized over time as the temporary differences between the carrying value of assets in the consolidated finandal statements and 

their respective tax bases are realized. Current Canadian income taxes will be accrued for at that time to the extent that there is 

taxable income in the Fund or its underlying operating entities. 

The U.S.-based corporate subsidiaries are subjert to U.S. income taxes on their taxable income determined under U.S. income tax 

rules and regulations. As the U.S. subsidiaries had combined operating losses for tax purposes at March 31, 2009, no provision for 

current U.S. income tax has been made by those U.S. entities. 

The Fund follows the liability method of accounting for income taxes. Under this method, income tax liabilities and assets are 

recognized for the estimated tax consequences attributable to the temporary differences between the carrying value of the assets 

and liabilities on the consolidated financial statements and their respective tax bases, using substantively enarted income tax rates. 

A valuation allowance is recorded against a future income tax asset if it is not anticipated that the asset will be realized in the 

foreseeable future. The effect of a change in the income tax rates used in calculating future income tax liabilities and assets is 

recognized in income during the period that the change occurs. 

(II) Adopt ion of new accounting standards: 
On April 1, 2008, the Fund adopted three new accounting standards that were issued by CICA; Handbook Sertion 1535, Capital 
Disclosures; Handbook Section 3862, Finandal Instruments - Disdosures; and Handbook Section 3863, Financial Instruments -
Presentation. Just Energy adopted these standards prospertively as required by the standards. 

Capital Disdosures 

Section 1535 requires disclosure of information related to the objertives, policies and processes for managing capital. In addition, 

disclosures include whether externally imposed capital requirements have been complied with. As this standard only addresses 

disclosure requirements, there is no impart on the finandal position of the Fund (Note 13). 

Finandal Instruments - Disclosures and Finandal Instruments - Presentation 

Section 3862, Financial Instruments - Disclosures and Sertion 3863, Finandal Instruments - Presentation, which replace Section 3861, 

Financial Instruments - Disclosure and Presentation, inaease the emphasis on the risks assodated with both reco^ized and 

unrecognized financial instruments and how those risks are managed. The new presentation standards carry fonward the former 

presentation requirements. As this standard only addresses presentation and disdosure requirements, there is no impart on the 

financial position of the Fund (Note 12). 

Credit Risk and the Fair \^lue of Financial Assets and Finandal Liabilities 

On January 20, 2009, the Emerging Issues Committee ("EIC") of the CICA approved an abstrart (EIC 173, Credit Risk and the 

Fair Value of Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities), which darifies that the company's own credit risk and the credit risk of 

the counterparty should be taken into account in determining the fair value of derivative instruments. EIC 173 is to be applied 

retrospectively without restatement of prior periods to all financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value in interim and annual 

financial statements for periods ending on or after the date of issuance of this abstract. The Fund incorporated the provisions of 

EIC 173 in the current year on a retrospertive basis without restatement of prior periods and recorded an adjustment to increase 

opening accumulated earnings of $2,964. 
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(III) Recent ly issued accoun t i ng star^dards 

The following are the new standards, not yet in effert, which are required to be adopted by the Fund on the effertive date. 

Goodwill and intangible Assets 

As of April 1, 2009, the Fund will be required to adopt CICA Handbook Sertion 3064, Goodwill and Intangible Assets, which 

establishes revised standards for recognition, measurement, presentation and disdosure of goodwill and intangible assets. The Fund 

has not yet determined the impact of this standard on its consolidated finandal statements. 

Business Combinations 

In Ortober 2008, the CICA issued Handbook Sertion 1582. Business Combinations ("CICA 1582"), concunently with CICA 

Handbook Section 1501, Consolidated Financial Statements ("CICA 1601"), and CICA Handbook Section 1602. Non-controlling 

Interest ("CICA 1502"). CICA 1582, which replaces CICA Handbook Sertion 1581. Business Combinations, establishes standards 

for the measurement of a business combination and the recognition and measurement of assets acquired and liabilities assumed. 

CICA 1601, which replaces CICA Handbook Sertion 1600, carries fonward the existing Canadian guidance on aspects of the 

preparation of consolidated finandal statements subsequent to acquisition other than non-controlling interests. CICA 1602 establishes 

guidance for the treatment of nQn<ontrolling interests subsequent to acquisition through a business combination. These new 

standards are effective for fiscal years beginning on or after January 1. 2011. The Fund has not yet determined the Impart of these 

standards on its consolidated finandal statements. 

International Financial Reporting Standards 

In February 2008, CICA announced that GAAP for publicly accountable enterprises will be replaced by International Finandal 

Reporting Standards ("IFRS") for fiscal years beginning on or after January 1, 2011. 

Just Energy will transition to IFRS effertive April 1,2011. and intends to issue its first interim finandal statement under IFRS for the 

three-month period ending June 30, 2011, and a complete set of financial statements under IFRS for the year ending March 31, 2012. 

Just Energy has identified differences between Canadian GAAP and IFRS relevant to the Fund and an initial assessment has been 

made of the impact of the required changes to accounting systems, business processes, and requiremwits for personnel training and 

development. Based on the initial assessment of the differences applicable to the Fund, 3 projert team was assembled and a 

conversion plan was developed in March 2009 to manage the transition to IFRS. 

As part of the conversion plan, the Fund is in the process of analyzing the detailed imparts of these identified differences and 

developing solutions to bridge these differences. Just Energy is currently on target with its conversion plan, 

NOTE 4 SEASOMAUTV OF OPERATIONS 

Just Energy's operations are seasonal. Gas consumption by customers is typically highest in October through March and lowest in 

April through September. Elertridty consumption is typically highest in January through March and July through September. 

Electricity consumption is lowest in Ortober through December and April through June. 

NOTE 5 RESTRICTE'D CASH/CUSTOMER REBATES FAYABLE 

Restricted cash and customer rebates payable represent, (i) funds held as security for payment of certain monthly charges in Texas, 

and (ii) rebate monies received from LDCs in Ontario as provided by the Independent Electricity System Operator ("lESO"). 

(i) ESTC is required to post collateral to wire owners to secure payment of future experted charges under the Texas Elertric Choice as 

required by the Public Utility Commission of Texas. 

(ii) OESLP is obligated to disperse the monies to eligible end-use customers in accordance with the Ontario Power Generation Rebate 

as part of OESLP's Retailer License conditions. 
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NOTE 6 ACQUISITIONS 

(a) Acquisition of CfcG Energy Options Inc.'s ("CEG") natural gas customers 

On August 14, 2008, Just Energy purchased substantially all of the commerdal and residential customer contracts of CEG in British 
Columbia. CEG was a Western Canada marketer of natural gas wholly owned by SemCanada Energy Company, both of which filed 
for creditor protection under the Companies' Creditors Arrangement Act on July 30, 2008. The customer contracts had annualized 
volumes of approximately 4.9 million GJ. 

The purchase price has been allocated as follows: 

Net assets acquired \ 
Gas contracts | $ 1,842. 

Consideration : : p : : : ^ ^ : : : : ; : - : 

Cash ^Z:.'::]:.:^.^^ S r : : r . k ^ : 

The gas contrarts will be amortized over the average remaining life of the contracts, which at the time of the acquisition was 20 months. 

(b) Partr-iership with Newter̂  Home Comfort Inc. 

On July 18, 2008, the Fund, through its affiliates, entered into a limited partnership to forni Newten Home Comfort L.R, a business 
involving the marketing, leasing, sale, and installation of tankless and high effidency water heaters. The Fund will hold 
approximately an 80% equity interest and will invest up to $1,400 as equity and up to $1,850 as convertible debt financing in 
Newten Home Comfort L.R As at March 31, 2009, the Fund had invested $1,000 as equity. 

{<) Acquisition of Just Energy Texas L.P. 

During the prior fiscal year, the Fund completed the acquisition of Just Energy Texas LR, including ail of its elertridty contracts. The 
aggregate cost of this transartion, including ti-ansartion costs, was US$34,165 induding cash acquired in the amount of US$3,373. 
Pursuant to the agreement, the Fund acquired approximately 1.3 million megawatt hours (M\Afli) of contrarted Customer usage. The 
acquisition was funded through a credit fadiity drawdown, of which $18,079 (US$18,362) including interest of $356 (US$362) was 
returned to the Fund on October 9, 2007, in exchange for 1.169,399 units of the Fund issued from treasury. The units are subjert to 
the terms of an escrow agreement for the benefit of the Just Energy Texas LR vendors and are being released to the vendors over a 
three-year period. 

The purchase price was allocated as follows: 

USS CAD$ 

Net assets acquired 
Working capita! (induding cash of US$3,373, CAD$3,659) 
Elertricity contracts 
Goodwill 
Capital assets 
Long-term liabilities 

Consideration 
Cash 

$ 

$ 

$ 

7,235 
11,400 
17,825 

18 
(2.315) 

34,S65 

34.^65 

$ 

$ 

$ 

7,849 
12,365 
19,336 

20 
(2.511) 

37,059 

37.059 

The acquisition of Just Energy Texas L.R was accounted for using the purchase method of accounting. The Fund allocated the 
purchase price to the identified assets and liabilities acquired based on their fair values at the time of acquisition. 

The electricity contrarts acquired are amortized over the average estimated remaining life of the contracts. During the first quarter 
of fiscal 2009, upon finalization of the purchase price allocation, there was an increase of $3,457 (US$3,187) in intangible assets 
relating to electricity contrarts and a corresponding reduction in goodwill. 
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NOTE 1 CAPITAL ASSETS 

2009 

Furniture and fixtures 

Office equipment 

Computer equipment 

Computer software 

Commodity biliing and settlement system 

Water heaters 

Leasehold improvements 

Cost 

3,770 

11,119 

5.387 

2.565 

6.993 

2.324 

7,603 

Accumulated 
amortization 

$ 1,889 

3,959 

2,|S43 

1,^50 

6,654 

77 

2,818 

Net book 
value 

$ U 8 1 
7,160 
2,844 

815 

339 
2,247 
4,685 

$ 39.761 $ 19,|79Q $ 19.971 

Furniture and fixtures 

Office equipment 

Computer equipment 

Computer software 

Commodity billing and settlement system 

Leasehold improvements 

Cosl 

3.345 

9,051 

3,145 

1,196 

6,563 

7,451 

Accumulated 
atT'o 

$ 

ftizatiun 

1,iM4 

2,f*33 

2.1160 

603 

:..%m... 
1,997 

Net book 
VSIUP 

$ 1,901 

6,613 

985 
593 

::1:.086: 

; , J ' L L ; : : 5 , ^ ; 
$ 30,751 14,114 $ : 16^37 

NOTE a L0N(3 -T£Ry DEBT 

A credit facility in the amount of $170,000 is available to Just Energy to meet working capital requirements. Interest is payable on 

outstanding loans at rates that vary with Bankers' Acceptance, LIBOR, Canadian bank prime rate or U.S. prime rate. Under the terms 

of the operating credit facility, Just Energy is able to make use of Bankers' Acceptances and LIBOR advances at stamping fees of 

1.5%, prime rate advances at bank prime plus 0.5%, and letters of credit at 1.5%. As at March 31, 2009, the Canadian prime rate 

was 2.5% and the U.S. prime rate was 3.25%. As at March 31, 2009, Just Energy had drawn $76,500 (2008 - $67,583) against the 

fadiity and total letters of credit outstanding amounted to $8,459 (2008 - $8,149). Just Energy has $85,041 of the fadiity 

remaining for future working capita! and security requirements. Just Energy's obligations under the credit fadiity are supported by 

guarantees of certain subsidiaries and affiliates and secured by a pledge of the assets of Just Energy and the majority of its operating 

subsidiaries and affiliates. Just Energy is required to meet a number of finandal covenants underthe credit fadlily agreement. As at 

March 31, 2009 and 2008, all of these covenants have been met. Interest expense for the year ended March 31 , 2009, was $3,833 

(2008 - 55,346). Interest is expensed at the effertive interest rate. 
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NOTE 10 UNITHOIOERS'CAPITAL 

Trust umXs of the Fund 

An unlimited number of units may be issued. Each unit is transferable, voting and represents an equal undivided beneficial interest 

in any distributions from the Fund whether of net income, net realized capital gains or other amounts, and in the net assets of the 

Fund in the event of termination or winding-up of the Fund. 

The Fund intends to make distributions to its Unitholders based on the cash receipts of the Fund, exduding [^ooeeds from the 

issuance of additional Fund units, adjusted for costs and expense of the Fund, the amount which may be paid by the Fund in 

connection with any cash redemptions or repurchases of units and any otiier amount that the Board of Dirertors considers necessary 

to provide for the payment of any costs which have been or will be incurred in the activities and operations of the Fund. The Fund's 

intention is for Unitholders of record on the 15th day of each month to receive distributions at the end of the month, excluding any 

Special Distributions. 

Cla^s A preference shares c f OESC 

The terms of the unlimited Class A preference shares of OESC are non-voting, non-cumulative and exchangeable into trust units in 

accordance with the OESC shareholders' agreement as restated and amended, with no priority on dissolution. Pursuant to the 

amended and restated Declaration of Trust which governs the Fund, the holders of Class A preference shares are entitled to vote in 

all votes of Unitholders as if they were the holders of the number of units that they would receive if they exercised their shareholder 

exchange rights. Class A preference shareholders have equal entitlement to distributions from the Fund as Unitholders, 

2008 "ijUS 

Issued and outstanding 

Trust units 

Balance, beginning of year 

Options exercised 

Unit appredation rights exchanged 

Distribution reinvestment plan 

Units issued 

Units cancelled 

Exchanged from Class A preference shares 

Balance, end of year 

Class A preference shares 

Balance, beginning of year 

Exchanged into units 

Balance, end of year 

Unitholders'; capital, end of year 

DE5,tribution reinvestment program 

Under the Fund's distribution reinvestment program ("DRIP"), Unitholders holding a minimum of 100 units can elect to receive their 

distributions (both regular and spedal) in units rather than cash at a 2% discount to the simple average closing price of the units for 

five trading days preceding the applicable distribution payment date, providing the units are issued from treasury and not purchased 

on the open market. 

Units cancelled 

During the year, the Fund obtained approval from its Board of Dirertors to make a normal course issuer bid to purchase up to 

9,000,000 units for the 12-month period commencing November 21, 2008 and ending November 20, 2009. A maximum of 

44-,754 units can be purchased during any trading day. 

During the year, the Fund purchased and cancelled 909.700 units for a cash consideration of $6,603. 

Units issued 

During the year, the Fund issued 1,336,115 units for the 50% portion of the Special Distribution declared, to be paid in units, in the 

prior fiscal year. 

Units/Shares 

102.152,194 $ 
355«000 
65,036 

1,697,394 
1,336,115 

(909,700) 
1,442,484 

106,138.523 

6,706,212 
i^M2AM) 

5,263,728 

111/402.251 S 

341,337 

4,840 
938 

18,863 
22.313 
<6.603) 

3.606 

385,294 

16.766 
(3.606) 

13,160 

398,454 

Units^hBres 

98.082,1535 $ 

345J33 
17,|868 

536,^59 
1,169.&99 

: _ 

2.(m,m 
102,152 194 

8,7(^.212 

{2.^m,m) 

6,706,^12 

108,858,1406 $ 

306.387 

4,556 
237 

7,078 
18,079 

-
5,000 

341,337 

21,766 
(5.00O) 

16,766 

358,103 
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NOTf 11 UMIT BASED COMPENSATION PLANS 

(iO Uru\ opUon plan 

The Fund grants awards under its 2001 unit option plan to dirertors, officers, full-time employees and sen/ice pro\flders (non-

employees) of Just Energy In accordance with the unit option plan, the Fund may grant options to a maximum of 11,300,000 units. 

As at March 31, 2009, there were 758,666 options still available for grant under the plan. Of the options issued, 555,500 options 

remain outstanding at year-end. The exercise price of the unit options equals the closing market price of the Fund^ units on the last 

business day preceding the grant date. The unit options will vest over periods ranging from three to five years from the grant date 

and expire after five or ten years from the grant date. 

• A summary of the changes in the Fund^ option plan during the year and status at March 31. 2009, is outlined below. 

Balance, beginning of year 

Granted 

Forfeited/cancelled 

Exerdsed 

Balance, end of year 

' The weighted average exercise price is calculated by dividing the exercise price of options granted by the number of options granted. 

^ The w/eighted average grant date fair value is calculated by dividing the fair value of options granted by the number of options granted, 

Outstanding 
options 

970,500 

50,000 

(110,000) 

(355.000) 

555.500 

Range of 
exercise pHces 

$ 11.25-$ia70 

12.70 

15.11*17.15 

11.25-12.17 

$ 11.25-$18.70 

$ 

$ 

Weighted 
average 
exercise 

price' 

i4« 
I2L7D 
1^77 

12[09 

1^88 

Weighted 
average 

grant date 
fair vaiue^ 

$ 0.91 

2009 

Range of exercise prices 

$12.69-SI 5.63 

$15.90-$18.70 

Balance, end of year 

Range of exerdse prices 

$11.25-$12.59 

$15.09-$15.63 

$15.90-$18.70 

Balance, end of year 

Options available for grant 

Balance, beginning of year 

Add: cancelled/forfeited during the year 

Less: granted during the year 

Balance, end of year 

Number 
outstanding 

330.500 

225,000 

555>500 

Number 
outstanding 

360,000 

335,500 

275,000 

970,500 

Options 

Weighted 
average 

remaining 
contractual 

life 

1.95 

1.76 

1i88 

Optic r 

Weighted 
average 

remaining 
contrartual 

life 

a53 

2.72 

2.76 

1.92 

outstanding 

$ 15.05 

17.10 

$ 15.88 

i outii tan ding 

Wei^ted 
average 
exerdse 

price 

$ 12.10 

15.46 

16,99 

$ 14,64 

0|»tions exercisable 

Number 
exercisable 

158.700 

154,000 

312.700 

$ 

S 

Weighted 
average 
exercise 

price 

15.55 

17.08 

16,30 

Options exercissbie 

Number 
exerclsaible 

356,(j00 

112.^00 

84,((00 

552.^00 

2Q09 

698,^66 

110,000 

<50,000) 

758,^66 

$ 

$ 

Wet ted 
average 
exercise 

price 

T2.G9 

15.61 

17.10 

13.57 

2008 

312,666 

44,000 

(1^.000) 

6^,666 
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The Fund uses a binomial option pridng model to estimate the fair values. The binomial model was chosen because of the yield 

associated with the units. Fair values of employee unit options are estimated at grant date. Fair values of non-employee unit options 

are estimated and revalued each reporting period until a measurement date is achieved. The fcJIowing weighted average assumptions 

have been used in the valuation for fiscal 2009: 

Risk-free rate 3.13% 

Expected volatility 27.31 % 

Expected life 5 years 

Expected distributions $1.24 per year 

{b} i)m{ appreciation rights 

The Fund grants awards under its 2004 unit appreciation rights ("UARs") plan to senior officers, employees and service providers of 

its subsidiaries and affiliates in the form of fully paid UARs. In accordance with the unit appredation rights plan, the Fund may grant 

UARs to a maximum of 2,000,000. As at March 31, 2009, there were 374,668 UARs still available for grant under the plan. Of the 

UARs issued, 1,388,896 UARs remain outstanding at March 31, 2009. Except as othenvise provided (t) the UARs vest from one to 

five years from the grant date providing, in most cases, on the applicable vesting date the UAR grantee continues as a senior officer, 

employee or sen/ice provider of the Fund or any affiliate thereof; (ii) the UARs expire no later than ten years from the grant date; 

(iii) a holder of UARs is entitled to disti-ibutions as if a UAR were a unit; and (iv) when vested, the holder of a UAR may exchange 

one UAR for one unit. 

UAfe available for grant 2009 20QS 

Balance, beginning of year 804/|l70 78,277 

Less: granted during the year (455J21S) (284,704) 

Add: increase in UARs^aiJahle for grant : - 1,000,000 

Add: cancelled/forfeited during the year 25J713 10,597 

Balance, end :of year : : 374,|668 804,170 

{c) Deferred unit grants 

The Fund grants awards under its 2004 Dirertors' deferred compensation plan to ail indepCTident dirertors on the basis each 

director is required to annually receive $15 of his compensation entitlement in deferred unit grants ("DUGs") and may elert to 

receive all or any portion of the balance of bis annual compensation in DUGs. In accordance with the deferred compensation plan, 

the Fund may grant DUGs to a maximum of 100,000. The DUGs vest on the eariier of the date of the Dirertor's resignation or tiiree 

years following the date of grant and expire ten years following the date of grant. As of March 31, 2009, there were 31,568 DUGs 

available for grant under the plan. Of the DUGs issued, 62,530 DUGs remain outstanding at March 31, 2009. 

DUOsavsiisble for grant 2009 2003 

Balance, beginning of year ;56^37 ' " ' • :.. 71,1-4|l 

Less: granted during the year (24iSBS9> fi4iem^ 
Balance, end of year '^:; ^i::^,;::>:;;;,...,,3lJ5e8'^':-^::;LS6^537 

iti) Co-r)tr'm<iUHi surplus 

Amounts credited to contributed surplus indude unit based compensation awards, UARs and DUGs. Amounts ch^ged to contributed 

surplus are awards exercised during the year 

Contributed surplus 2iKJ9 2003 

Balance, beginning Of year S 12,j004 $ 9,633 

Add: unit based compensation awards 4j098 3,076 

non-cash deferrecJ unit grants distributions i 55 35 

Less: unit based awands exerdsed (1J486) (740) 

Balance, end of year $ 14J671 $ 12,004 

Total amounts credited to Unitholders' capital in respect of unit options and deferred unit grants exercised or exchanged during the 

year ended March 31, 2009, amounted to $5,778 (2008 - $4,793). 

Cash received from options exercised for the year ended March 31, 2009, amounted to $4,293 (2008 - $4,053). 
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NOTE 12 FINANCIAL ir^STRUMENTS 
id) Fair v>3h.je 

The Fund has a variety of gas and elertricity supply contracts tiiat are captured under CICA Handbook Sertion 3855, Financial 
Instruments - Measurement and Recognition. Fair value is the estimated amount that Just Energy would pay or receive to dispose of 
these supply contrarts in an arm's length transartion between knowledgeable, willing parties who are under no compulsion to art. 
Management has estimated the value of electricity and gas swap and forward contrarts using a discounted cash flow method which 
employs market forward cun/es that are either dirertly sourced from third parties or are developed internally based on third party 
market data. These cun/es can be volatile, thus leading to volatility in the marie to market values, but there is no impart to cash 
flows. Gas options have been valued using the Black option value model using the applicable market forward cun/es and the implied 
volatility from other market-traded gas options. 

Effertive July 1, 2008, the Fund ceased the utilization of hedge accounting. Accordingly, all the mark to market changes on the Fund's 
derivative instruments are recorded on a single line on the consolidated statements of operations. Due to the commodity price volatility 
and size of the Fund, the quarterly swings in mark to market on these positions will inaease the volatility in the Fund^ earnings. 

The following table illustrates the (gains)/losse5 related to the Fund's derivative finandal instruments classified as held-for-ft-ading, 
recorded against other assets and other liabilities with their offsetting values recorded in change in fair value of derivative instruments. 

Change- m. fair value of derivative instruments 

Canada 

Fixed-for-floating electricity swaps (i) 
Renewable energy certificates (ii) 
Options (iii) 
Physical gas forward contracts (iv) 

Transportation f onward contrarts (v) 

United States 

Fixed-for-floating elertricity swaps (vi) 
Physical elertricity forwards (vii) 

Unforced capacity fonward contracts (vlli) 
Renewable energy certificates (ix) 

Verified emission-redurtiion certificates (x) 
Options (xi) 

Physical gas forward contrarts (xii) 

Transportation fonward contracts (xiii) 
Fixed finandal swaps (xiv) 
Heat rate swaps (xv) 
Foreign exchange fonward contracts (xvi) 

Amortization of deferred unrealized gains of discontinued hedges 

Change in fair value of derivative instruments 

For the;year 
ended 

March 31, 
2009 

S 223.191 
527 

(4.847) 
7713CK) 

(5.059) 

96,031 

130,911 
5,249 
(104) 

8 
790 

336,831 
(6,252) 

(242) 
(251) 

978 
(211,776) 

$ 1,337;i85 

For the year 
ended 

March 31, 
2009 (USD) 

S n/a 

n/a 
n/a 
n/a 

n/a 

84,666 

116,116 
4,730 

(68) 

-
1,068 

299,516 
(4,992) 

(191) 
(228) 

n/a 

For the year 
er^ed 

March 31, 
2008 

$ 5,^35 
f54) 

f30 
i -

i 

i 

1 _ 

139 
|(75) 
i ^ 

(139) 
i „ 

_ 
i -

! ~ 
(4,'72) 
3,!44 

$ 3,^08 

For the year 
ended 

March 31, 
2008 (USD) 

$ n/a 

n/a 
n/a 
n/a 
n/a 

„ 

-
42 

(75) 

-
(264) 

-
-
-
-

n/3 
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The following table illustrates the (gains)4os5es representing the ineffertive portion of the Fund's designated hedges prior to 

July 1, 2008. recorded against other assets and other liabilities with their offsetting values recorded in change in fair value of 

derivative instruments. 

Change in fair value of derivative instruments 

Canada 

Fixed-for-floating electricity swaps (i) 

United States 

Fixed-for-floating elertrici^ swaps (vi) 

Change in fair value of derivative instrumerrts 

Total change in fair value of derivfftiye;inStrumehtS 

For the year For the year For the year For the year 
ended ended eroded ended 

M a n * 31, March 31, March;31. March 31, 
2009 2009 (USD) 2008 2008 (USD) 

(476) $ 

167 

n/a $ (3,!I16) $ 

164 439 

n/3 

423 

(309) (2,677) 

$1^36,976 ^31 

The following table illustrates the (gains)/losses related to the Fund's designated hedges prior to July 1, 2008. recorded against other 
assets and other liabilities with their offsetting values recorded in other comprehensive income. 

Other comprehensive income ("OO") 

Canada 

Fixed-for-floating electricity swaps (i) 

Renewable energy certificates (ii) 
Options (iii) 
Physical gas forward contracts (iv) 
Transportation fonward contracts (v) 

United States 

Fixed-for-floating electridty swaps <vi) 
Physical electricity fonwards (vii) 
Unforced capacity forward contracts (via) 
Renewable energy certificates (ix) 
Verified emission-redurtion certificates (x) 
Options(xi) 
Physical gas fonward contracts (xli) 
Transportation fonward contrarts (xiii) 
Fixed finandal swap (xiv) 
Heat rate swaps (xv) 

Foreign exchange fonward contracts (xvi) -. >" 

Amortization of deferred unrealized gains-of discountHd^hedges; 

Other comprehensive incOTie .. 

OCI-
For the year 

ended 
March 31, 

2009 

$ (75,354) 

-
-

(313,071) 
(5,958) 

(40,473) 

(30.573) 
(4,743) 

Fiscal 2009 

OCi-
For the year 

ended 
March 31, 

2009 (USD) 

$ n/a 
n/a 
n/a 
n/a 
n/a 

(39,808) 
(30,071) 

(4,665) 

Fortbej^r 

March 31, 

2 m 
T 

$ 103,^31 

, _ 
: -

40,117 
(3.) 64) 

(18,$22) 

03,*11) 

_ 

Fiscsl 230S 

OCI-
Forthey^r 

erKfed 
MaR^3l, 

2008 (USD) 

$ n/a 
n/a 
n/a 
n/a 

n/a 

(18,745) 

(14,344) 

-

(124,760) 
7,022 

(4,550) 

(122,711) 
6.907 

n/a 

(43.133) 

(3,?44) 

(44,576) 

n/a 

$ (592.460) 61,$74 
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The following table summarizes the nature of the financial assets and liabilities recorded in the financial statements as at 
March 31,2009. 

Canada 
Fixed-for-floating electricity swaps (i) 

Renewable energy certificates (ii) 
Options (iii) 
Physical gas fonward contracts (iv) 

Transportation fonward contrarts (\̂  

United States 
Fixed-for-floating elertricity swaps (vi) 

Physical electricity fonwards (vii) 
Unforced capacity fonward contrarts (viii) 
Renewable energy certificates (ix) 
Verified emission-redurtion certificates (x) 
Options (xi) 
Physical gas fonward contracts (xil) 
Transportation forward contrarts :&<iii) 
Fixed financial swaps (xiv) 
Heat rate swaps (xv) ^ 

Foreign exchange forward contrac^:(xvi) 

As at March 31, 2009 

Other assets Other assets 
(current) (long term) 

Other Other 
llabiHUes iiabifities 
(cuitent) Oong term) 

$ - $ 
94 

792 
-

787 

_ 
-

19 

57 

395 
-

\ 4 

-
y"''l 72 

3,324 

- $ 
251 
23 
-

2.160 

_ 
-

213 

191 

_ 
_ 
-

869 

1,171 

275 

149.1476 S 

-
237 

198,^29 
927 

34.d37 

48J242 
366 

19 

204 

84,010 
961 
B28 

P56 

158,289 
23 

997 

103,734 
163 

24,577 

41,456 

-
48 

1,349 
69,627 

1,457 

-
« 

-

$ 5,544 $ 5,153 $ 519,^52 $ 401,720 

March 31, 2008. 

Canada 
Fixed-for-floating electridty swaps (i) 
Renewable energy certificates (ii) 
Options (iii) 
Physical gas fonward contracts (iv) 
Transportation forward contrarts (v) 

United States 
Fixed-for-floating electricity swaps (vi) 

Physical electricity forwards (vii) 
Unforced capacity forward contracts (viii) 
Renewable energy certificates (ix) 
Verified emission-reduction certificates:(x) 
Options (xi) 

Physical gas fonward contracts (xii) 
Transportation fonward contrarts <xiii) 
Fixed financial swaps (xiv) 
Heat rate swaps (xv) 

Foreign exchange fonward contracts (xvi) 

As at March 31, 2008 

liabilities recorded in the finar 

OthÊ r ssspts 
(current) 

$ 13,344 

222 
-

125.669 
520 

1,117 

12.637 

Other a^spti 
ilong term) 

$ 12,517 

632 
-

36,270 

-

232 
2,715 

cial statements as at 

Other 
lî b.lities 
(OJjnent) 

i 

$ 49^65 
; „ 

1.037 
; -

5,P15 

_ 
-

( 

$ 

Other 
liabilities 

ionri term) 

139,695 

-
3,442 
5,228 

2,903 

3,939 

-

10 

1,510 
35.832 

2,325 

67 

20,875 

2.252 

43 

290 1,183 

$ 193,286 $ 75.560 $ 59.|i50 $ 156,390 
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The following table summarizes financial instruments classified as held for ti-ading as at March 31. 2009. to which the Fund 

is committed: 

Cot^tiiif-t typs 

Canada 

(i) Fixed-for-fioating 
electricity swaps* 

(ii) Renewable energy 

certificates 

(iii) Options 

(iv) Physical gas fonward 

, , contrarts 

(v) Transportation 

iorwsrd corttracts 

United States 

(vi) Fixed-for-floating 

electricity swaps 

(viO Physicaf electri city 

forwards -

(viii) Unforced capacity 
fixed physical contract 

(viii) Unforced capacity 

forward contracts 

(ix) Renewable energy 
certificates / 

(x) Verified emission-

redurtion certificates 

(xi) Options 

(xii) Physical gas fonward 
contracts 

(xiii) Transportation 

forward contracts 

(xiv) Fixed financial swap. 

(xv) Heat rate swaps . .]:] 

(xv!) Foreign exchange 
fonward contracts" 

Notional 
volume 

0.0001-35 
MWh 

10-25.100 
MWh 

46-40,500 

GJ/month 

0.14^.809 
GJ/day 

33-15.500 
. GJ/day 

0.10-14.70 
MWh 

1.0-25.0 
MWh 

1.1-112.4 

MWCap 

5-40 
MWCap 

2,000-40,000 
MWh 

10,000 
Tonnes 

5-73,000 
mmBTU/month 

5-4,207 
mmBTU/day 

380-10.500 
mmBTU/day 

100-4.500 

•: mmSTU/day 

1-15 

;; Mvyh 

$i.982-$2,276 
(US$2,000) 

Total 
remaining 

volume 

13,464,104 

MWh 

499,322 
MWh 

8,711.942 

GJ 

155,443.652 

GJ 

85.858.757 

GJ 

1.868,707 

MWh 

3,437,488 
MWh 

214 
MWCap 

2,180 
MWCap 

474,400 
MWh 

60,000 
Tonnes 

7.598,033 

mmBTU 

47,425,538 
mmBTU 

33,370.625 

mmSTU 

4,116,400 

mmBTU 

1.414.213 
MWh 

n/a 

Maturity date 

Apr i l l , 2009 -
August 1,2015 

Dec. 31 .2009-
Dec.31,2014 

April 3 0 , 2 i m -
Feb. 28,2014 

April 30 ,2009-

Afff i l30,20l5 

April 1,2009-
Ortober31.20t3 

April 30 ,2009* 
March 31,2014 

April 1,2009-
May 31,2014 

April 30, 2009 -
April 30. 2009 

April 30, 2009 -
Nov. 30.2012 

Dec. 31 .2009-
Dec. 31,2013 

Dec. 31, 2009 -

Dec.31,2012 

April 30, 2009 ~ 

May 31,2013 

April 30,2009 -
April 30,2014 

April 1 ,2009-

Jan. 31,2013 

Nov, 30 ,2009-
May 31,2014 

Jdy31 ,2009-
May31,2014 

April 7,2009 -
April 7,2010 

Fixed price 

$55.2^$12a.13 

$3.00-$9.00 

$5.50-$ 13.20 

$3.55~$10.K) 

$0 .01 -$1 . ^ 

$54.24-$172.48 
(US$43.00-$136.75) 

$28.25-$139.06 
(US$22.40-$110.25) 

$378.39-$945.98 
(US$300-$750) 

$3,784-$ 10,091 

(US$3.000-$8,000) 

$5.S0-$28.38 

(US$4.6(>-$22.50) 

$10.41 
(US$8.25) 

$6.94-$ 17.41 

(US$5.50-$13.80) 

$4.10-$ 14.98 
(US$3.25-$ 11.88) 

$0.01-$0.76 

(US$0.01-$0.60} 

$7.62-$9.l3 

(US$6.04-$7.24) 

$30.53-$82.22 
(US$30.53~$65.19) 

$0.9g-$1.1381 

Fair value 
favourable/ 

(unfavourable) 

($307,:^5) 

! 
i 

$ ^ 2 

($4119) 

($302,063) 

1 

$i,8b 
1 

($59,5^) 
{US($47.2te) 

($89,6fe^ 
(US ($71,ill 6)) 

($h) 
iKiSm) 

(%m) 
(US($&7)) 

$1^1 
(US$143) 

$-
(USS-) 

(Si.ife® 
(US ($9(9)) 

($153,637) 
(US ($121,^8)) 

($2.4 4) 
(US ($1,9 4)) 

($2^1) 
<US$1|(1) 

(US$2l8) 
i 

$3,599 

Notional 
value 

$1,012,783 

$2,284 

$15,145 

$1,240,440 

$79,189 

$219,344 

(US$173,90^ 

$3CK),023 
{US$237,S68) 

$165 
(US$131) 

$14,650 
(US$11,165) 

$4,626 
(U5$3,66B) 

$624 
(US$495) 

$16,812 

(US$13,329) 

$509,151 

(US$403,672) 

$6,997 

mSBMT) 

$33,871 

(US$26.S54) 

$ 9 0 , 1 ^ 

^$71 ,292 ) 

$55,126 
(US$52,<K)0) 

' The electridty fixed-for-floating contracts related to the Province of Alberta are predominantly load-following, wherein the quantity of electricity 
contained in the supply contract "follows" the usage of customers designated by the supply contract. National volumes associated with these 
contracts are estimates and subject to ciiange with customer usage requirements. There are also load-shaped fixed-for-floating contracts In Ontario 
wherein tine quantity of electricity is established but varies throughout the term of the contracts. 

Hedge accounting was applied to most of these forwards up to September 30, 2006. Hovi/ever, the hedge was de-designated and a loss of $195 for 
the year ended March 31, 2007, was recorded in other liabilities. As the required hedge accounting effectiveness was achieved for certain quarters of 
fiscal 2007, a $ 1.933 gain was deferred and recorded in AOCl 3nd is being recognized in the Statement of Operations over the remaining term of 
each hedging relationship. 
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The following table summarizes the nature of financial assets and liabilities recorded in the financial statements. 

Loss on 
cash flow 

hedges 
transfen-ed 
from other 

comprehensive 
income to the 

Statement of 
Operations 

Fiscal 2009 

Unrealized 
gain recorded 

in other 
comprehensive 

income 

uAon 
cash (low 

tran^j^ 
fromt^her 

comprehei&slve 
income to the 
Statemerit of 
Operations 

Fiscal 2C08 

Ifeirealiffid 
ga«Feccffded 

in other 
compr̂ tenspffi 

income 

Canada 
Fixed-for-floating electricity svvaps (i) 
Physical gas fonward contracts and transportation 
fonward contracts (iv) 

$ (19,208) $ 94,562 $ (93,999) $ (9,490) 

<135,808) 454.837 (523,116) 485,965 

United States 
Fixed-for-fioating elertricity swaps (vi) 
Physical elertricity fonwards (vii) 
Unforced capacity fonward cc)ntracts (viii) _ . . 
Physical gas fonward contrarts and transpOrtatipn 
fonward contracts (xi) 

Amortization of deferred unrealized gains of 
discontinued hedges 

Total realized and unrealized gains/(los5e5) 

The estimated amortization of deferred gains and losses reported in AOCl that is expected to be amortized to net income within the 
next 12 months is a gain of $218,052. 

(b) Classification of financial assets and liabilities 

The following table represents the fair values and carrying amounts of finandal assets and liabilities measured at fair value or 
amortized cost. 

(13.826) 
(30.659) 

-

(26,184) 

(211,776) 

$ (437,461) $ 

54,299 

61,232 
4,743 

143.922 

-

813,595 

(53,$62) 
(87.416) 

-

(165,012) 

3,i44 

$ (919,$61) $ 

72,339 
101,215 

-

208,158 

_ 

858.187 

As at March 31, 2009 

Cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash. 
Accounts receivable 

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities, customer rebates payable, 
management incentive program payable and unit distribution payable 

Long-term debt 

For the years ended 

Interest expense on finandal liabilities not hdd for trading 

Carrying amount 

'̂.^" '̂/:$'̂ r:?mfe 
:/;V:r'T,249.480.. 

Fair value 

249,480 

184,$09 184,®^ 
76.500 7fi;s6o 

2009 2008 

The carrying value of cash, restricted cash, accounts receivable, accounts payable and accrued liabilities, management incentive 
program payable and unit distribution payable approximate their fair value due to their short-term liquidity. 

The carrying value of the long-term debt approximates its fair value as the interest payable on outstanding amounts at rates that 
vary with Bankers' Acceptance, LIBOR, Canadian bank prime rate or U.S. prime rate. 
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ic) iVianagomont of I'isks arising from financial instruments 

The risks associated with the Fund's finandal instruments are as follows: 

(i) Market risk 

Market risk is the potential loss that may be incurred as a result of changes in the market or fair value of a particular instrument or 
commodity Components of market risk to which the Fund is exposed are discussed below. 

Foreign currency risk 
Foreign currency risk is created by flurtuations in the fair value or cash flows of financial instruments due to changes in foreign 

exchange rates and exposure as a result of investment in U.S. operations. 

A portion of Just Energy's earnings is generated in U.S. dollars and is subjert to currency flurtuations. The performance of the 
Canadian dollar relative to the U.S. dollar could positively or negatively affert Just Energy's earnings. Due to its growing operations 
in the U.S., Just Energy expects to have a greater exposure in the future to U.S. flurtuations than in prior years. 

The Fund may, from time to time, experience losses resulting from fluctuations in the values of these foreign currencies, which could 
adversely affert operating resuhs. 

With respect to translation exposure, as at March 31, 2009, if the Canadian dollar had been 5% stronger or weaker against the 
U.S. dollar, assuming that all the other variables had remained constant, net income for the year ended March 31, 2009, would 
have been $20,295 higher/lower and other comprehensive income would have been $4,289 lower/higher. 

interest rate rhk 
Just Energy is also exposed to interest rate flurtuations associated with its floating rate credit fadiity. Just Energy^ current exposure 
to interest rates does not economically warrant the use of derivative instruments. 

The Fund's exposure to interest rate risk is relatively immaterial and temporary in nature. As such, the Fund does not believe that this 
long-term debt exposes it to material finandal risks and has determined that there is no need to set out parameters to actively 

manage this risk. 

A 1 % increase (decrease) in interest rates would have resulted in a decrease (increase) in income before taxes for the year ended 

March 31, 2009, of approximately $270. 

Connnodity price rî ;k 
Just Energy is exposed to market risks assodated with commodity prices and market volatility where estimated customer requirements 
do not match actual customer requirements. Just Energy's exposure to market risk is afferted by a number of fartors, including 
accuracy of the estimation of customer commodity requirements, commodity prices, volatility and liquidity of markets. Just Energy 
enters into derivative instruments in order to manage exposures to changes in commodity prices. T^e derivative instruments that are 
used are designed to fix the price of supply for estimated customer commodity demand in Canadian dollars and thereby fix margins 
such that Unitholder distributions can be appropriately established. Derivative instruments are generally transarted over the counter. 
These derivative financial instruments create a credit risk for Just Energy since they have been Iransarted with a limited number 
of counterparties. Should any counterparty be unable to fulfill its obligations under die contracts, Just Energy may not be able to 
realize the other asset balance recognized in the finandal statements. The inability or failure of Just Energy to manage and monitor the 
above market risks could have a material adverse effert on the operations and cash flows of Just Energy. 

Other assets and other liabilities on the consolidated balance sheets represent the fair value of the derivative instruments. As a result 
of commodity volatility and the size of the Fund, annua! swings in the mark to market on the Fundus positions could have a 
significant impart on these balances. 

As at March 31, 2009, if the electridty prices had risen (fallen) by 10%, assuming that all the other variables had remained constant, 
income before taxes for the year ended March 31, 2009, would have increased (decreased) by $90,661 ($90,36© primarily as a 
result of the change in the fair value of the Fund's derivative instalments. 

As at March 31, 2009, if the natural gas prices had risen (fallen) by 10%, assuming that all the other variables had remained 
constant, income before taxes for the year ended March 31, 2009, would have increased (decreased) by $121,149 ($120,219) 
primarily as a result of the change in the fair value of the Fund's derivative instruments. 

Changes in gas and electricity prices will not significantly Impact the Fund^ gross margin percentage due to its fixed-price contracts 
with its customers. 
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(ii) Credit risk 

Credit risk is the risk that one party to a finandal instrument fails to discharge an obligation and causes finandal loss to another 
party. Just Energy is exposed to credit risk in two specific areas: customer credit risk and counterparty credit risk. 

Customer credit risk 

In Alberta, Texas and Illinois, Just Energy has customer credit risk, and therefore, credit review processes have been implemented to 
perform credit evaluations of customers and manage customer default. If a significant number of customers were to default on ttieir 
payments, il could have a material adverse effert on the operations and cash flow of Just Energy. Management fartors default from 
credit risk in its margin expectations for Illinois. Texas and Alberta. 

As at March 31, 2009, accounts receivables from Alberta, Texas and Illinois with a carrying value of $ 17,022 (March 31, 2008 -
$14,285) were past due but not doubtful. As at March 31. 2009, the aging of the accounts receivables from Alberta, Texas and 
Illinois was as follows. 

Current •/"•'"• 
1-30 days ,:, • -
31-60 days 
61-90 days 
Over 90 days 

' $ 

! 

$ 

\ $ 
\ 
1 
i 

1 $ 

44,745 
13,590 

6,591 
2,276 

1,221 

68,423 

9.162 
13,837 

(15,075) 
683 

8,657 

For the year ended March 31, 2009, changes in the allowance for doubtful accounts were as follows: 

Balance, beginning of period 
Provision for doubtful accounts 
Bad debts written off 
Others 

Balance, end of period 

For the remaining markets, the LDCs provide collertion sen/ices and assume the risk of any bad debts owing from Just Energy^ 
customers for a fee. Management believes that the risk of tiie LDCs failing to deliver payment to Just Energy is minimal. There is no 
assurance that the LDCs that provide these sen/ices will continue to do so in the future. 

dnmimpany aeMlt risk 

Counterparty credit risk represents the loss that Just Energy would incur if a counterparty fails to perform under its contrartual 
obligations. This risk would manifest itself in Just Energy replacing contracted supply at prevailing market rates thus imparting the 
related customer margin or replacing contrarted foreign exchange at prevailing market rates imparting the related Canadian dollar 
denominated distributions. Counterparty limits are established within the Risk Management Policy. Any exception to these limits 
requires approval from the Board of Directors of OESC. The Risk Office and Risk Committee monitor current and potential credit 
exposure to individual counterparties and also monitor overall aggregate counterparty exposure. However, the falure of a 
counterparty to meet its contrartual obligations could have a materia! adverse effert on the operations and cash flows of Just Energy. 

As at March 31, 2009, the maximum credit risk exposure amounted to $3,617,478. representing the notional value of its derivative 
financial instruments and accounts receivable. 

i'm) liquidity risk 
Liquidity risk is the potential inability to meet financial obligations as they fall due. The Fund manages this risk by monitoring 
detailed weekly cash flow forecasts covering a rolling six-week period, monthly cash forecasts for the next 12 months, and quarterly 
forecasts for the following two-year period to ensure adequate and effident use of cash resources and credit facHities. 

(iv) Supplier risk 

Just Energy purchases the majority of the gas and elertridty delivered to its customers through long-term contrarts entered into vwth 
various suppliers. Just Energy has an exposure to supplier risk as the ability to continue to deliver gas and elertricity to its customers 
is reliant upon the ongoing operations of these suppliers and their ability to fulfill their contrartual obligations. Just Energy has 
discounted the fair value of its financial assets by $2,055 to accommodate for its counterparties' risk of default. A significant portion 
of these gas and electridty purchases is from Shell Energy North America and its affiliates. 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

NOTE 13 CAPITAL DISCLOSURES 

Just Energy defines capital as Unitholders' equity (exduding accumulated other comprehensive income) and long-tenn debt. The 
Fund's objertives when managing capital are to maintain flexibility between: 

(i) enabling it to operate effidently; 

(ii) providing liquidity and access to capital for growth opportunities; and 

(iii) providing returns and generating predirtable cash flow for distribution to Unitholders. 

The Fund manages the capital structure and makes adjustments to it in light of changes in economic conditions and the risk 
chararteristics of the underlying assets. The Board of Dirertors does not establish quantitative return on capital criteria for 
management, but rather promotes year over year sustainable profitable growth. The Fund's capital management objertives have 
remained unchanged from the prior year. The Fund is not subject to any externally imposed capital requirements other than finandal 
covenants in its credit fadiity, and as at March 31. 2009. all of these covenants have been met. 

NOTE 14 INCO^^E (LOSS) Pm UhliT 

Basic income (loss) per unit 

Net income (loss) available to Unithplcfers 

Weighted average number of units outstanding 

Weighted average number of Class A preference shares 

Basic units and shares outstanding 

Basic income (loss) per unit 

Diluted income (loss) per unit 
Net income (loss) availabte to Unitholdws 

Basic units and shares outstanding 

Dilutive effert of:: 
Unit options 
Unit appreciation rights 
Deferred unit grants 

Units outstanding on a diluted basis 

Diluted income floss) per unit 

20Q9 2008 

i wmJffî ^Z^M:̂ ^ 
1Q434t1{lOO 98,830,000 

5>623̂ <̂ 0O 8,701,000: 

110,464,000 107;531,00d 

(i(i(B)$ 1:42 

$ (1,107/473)$ 152.761 

110,464,(M)0 107,531,000 

16,000 
1 , 0 2 1 ^ 

45^900 

115,000 
766,000 
28,000 

111,546,000 108,440,000 

% <9i93)$ 1.41 (9^93) 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

Cansds United States Consolidated 

$ 814,275 $ 343,689 $ 1,158,164 
518,388 222,661 741,049 

$ 1,332,663 $ 566,550 $ 1«899,213 

NOTE 15 REPORTABLE BUSINESS SEGMENTS 
Just Energy operates in two reportable geographic segments, Canada and the United States. Reporting by geographic region is in 
line with Just Energy's performance measurement parameters. Both the Canadian and the U.S. operations have gas and elertricity 
business segments. 

Just Energy evaluates segment performance based on gross margin. 

The following tables present Just Energy's results by geographic segment: 

2009 

Sales gas 

Sales elertricity 

Sales 

Gross margin 
Amortization of gas contracts 
Amortization of elertricity contrarts 
Amortization of capital assets 
Other operating expenses 

Income before the undernoted 

Interest expense 
Change in fair value of derivative instruments 
Other income 
Non-controlling interest 
Recovery of income tax 

Net loss 

Additions to capital assets 

Total goodwill 

Total assets 

231,720 
710 
178 

4,660 
89,889 

91,096 $ 

2,i06 
440 

55,095 

322,816 
710 

2,884 

5,100 
145,884 

136,283 
2,479 

872,402 
(7.S74) 

(58) 

31,955 
1^78 

464,^74 

168,238 
3,857 

1336,976 
<7.6Q«) 

$ 
$ 
$ 

s 

(1.971) 

(728,995) $ 

6,169 S 

94,576 $ 

368,873 $ 

<55,489) 

(378,478) 

176 

2 2 , ^ 

m ^ 

(57,460) 

$(1,107,473) 

$ 6,345 

$117,061^ 

:l;;;;5t5,7S(|;:L 

2 008 

Sales gas 

Sales electridty ^ 

Sales 

Gross margin 
Amortization of gas contrarts 
Amortization of etectricity contracts 
Amortization of capital assets 
Other operating expenses 

Income (loss) before the undernoted 
Interest expense 

Change in fair value of derivative instruments 
Other income 
Recovery of income tax 

Net income 

Additions to capital assets 

Total goodwill 

Total assets 

C^n^d.i 

$ 785,788 

544,278 

$ 1,330,066 

$ 220,247 
177 

1,284 

3.647 

56,438 

148,701 
2,174 
(566) 

(680) 

(3,353) 

Un 

$ 

$ 
$ 

led Stite'i 

247,463 

161,161 

408.624 

54.353 

; " 
6.100 
1.463 

52,t75 

(5,185) 
3,172 
1,397 
(241) 

(11.148) 

Cf 

$ 

nsoii dated 

1,033,251 

705,439 

$ 1,738.690 

$ 274,800 
177 

7384 

5,110 

118,613 

143,516 
5,346 

831 

(921) 
(14,501) 

$ 
$ 
$ 
$ 

151,126 

7,143 

94,576 

520,384 

$ 
$ 
$ 
$ 

1.(35 

iQ9 

21,^0 

183,^1 

$ 
$ 
$ 
$ 

152,761 

7,842 

116,146 

709,115 
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NOTES TO THE CONSaiDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

NOTE ISSUARAMTEES 

U') Qilkc^f'iimd directors 

Corporate indemnities have been provided by the Fund to all dirertors and certain officers of its subsidiaries and affiliates for various 

items induding, but not limited to, all costs to settle suits or artions due to their association with the Fund and its subsidiaries and/or 

affiliates, subject to certain restrictions. The Fund has purchased dirertors' and officers' liability insurance to mitigate the cost of any 

potential future suits or artions. Each indemnity, subjert to certain exceptions, applies for so long as the indemnified person is a 

director or officer of one of the Fund's subsidiaries and/or affiliates. The maximum amount of any potential future payment cannot 

he reasonably estimated. 

i'o) Opsratfcns 

In the normal course of business, the Fund and/or the Fund's subsidiaries and affiliates have entered into agreements that indude 

guarantees in favour of third parties, such as purchase and sale agreements, leasing agreements and transportation agreements. 

These guarantees may require the Fund and/or its subsidiaries to compensate counterparties for losses incurred by the 

counterparties as a result of breaches in representation and regulations or as a result of litigation daims or statutory sanrtions that 

may be suffered by the counterparty as a consequence of the transartion, The maximum payable under these guarantees is 

estimated to be $77,000. 

NOTE 1?C01SflMiT3V1ENTS 

Commitments for each of the next five years and thereafter are as follows: 

2010 

2011 

2012 

2013 

2014 
Thereafter 

Premises and 
equipment 

leasing 

$ 5,499 
4,877 

4,273 
2.937 
2,097 

5,815 

$ 25,498 

Master 
S&rvices 

Agreement 
with 

EFCOa 

$ 10,^11 
13,233 

7,«61 

1 ~ 
1 -

1 "" 
$ 31.?05 

Long-term 
gasS 

electridty 
contracts 

w i th various 
supF^iers 

$ 1,343,509 

1.014.596 

546,924 

376.666 

154.508 

12.B52 

$ 3,549.055 

Just Energy is also committed under long-term contracts with customers to supply gas and electricity. These contracts have various 

expiry dates and renewal options. 

NOTE IgCONIINGErMCIES 

During the prior year, the Citizen's Utility Board, AARP and Citizen Artion^llinois filed a complaint before the Illinois Commerce 

Commission alleging daims that independent sales agents used deceptive practices in their sale of Just Energy contracts to Illinois 

customers. Just Energy has commenced discussions with the various parties to address and defend the allegations and intends to 

seek a construrtive resolution to the matter. 

At this time, the likelihood of damages or recoveries and the ultimate amounts, if any, with respect to this litigation is not 

determinable; however, an estimated amount has been recorded in these consolidated finandal statements as at March 31, 2009. 

NOTE 19 ADJUSTMENTS HEQUIRED TO REFLECT MET CASH RECEIPTS FROM GAS SALES 

Changes in: 

Accrued gas accounts payable 

Unbilled revenues 

2009 2C0S 

$ 2,^57 $ 5,465 

(10,480) (8,085) 

(7,623) $ (2,620) 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOUDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

NOTE 2D CHANGES IH NDM-CASH WORKING CAPITAL 

Accounts receivable 
Gas in storage 

Prepaid expenses 

Corporate taxes recoverable 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 
Management incentive pre^ram payable 
Inventory 

Other 1,|132 (415) 

2009 

<i7,a5i) $ 
(1,388) 

381 
4,447 

20,131 
(1.142) 
([229) 

2D08 

(14,887) 
1,609 
(134) 
1,661 
(594) 

981 
-

6,181 $ (11,879) 

NOTE 21 COI^PARATIVECOMSQLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

Certain figures from the comparative financial statements have been reclassified from statements previously presented to conform 
to the presentation of the current year's consolidated financial statements. 

NOTE 22 SUBSEQUENT EVENT 

On April 22, 2009, Just Energy and Universal Energy Group Ltd. ("UEG") jointly announced that they have entered into a definitive 
agreement pursuant to which Just Energy v\flll propose to acquire ali of the outstanding common shares of UEG. The plan of 
arrangement provides for a share exchange through which each outstanding share of UEG will be exchanged for 0.58 of a share 
of a subsidiary of Just Energy, which will be exchangeable into one Just Energy trust unit at any time at the option of the holder, 
for no additional consideration. The transaction will result in a corresponding adjustment to the conversion feature of UEG's 
outstanding 5% convertible unsecured subordinated debentures (TSX: UEG.DB) in accordance with their terms. 

The transartion is experted to dose in eariy July and is subjert to cert:ain conditions including approval of UEG shareholders, compliance 
with the Competition Act, approval of Just Energy's lenders, and satisfaction of other customary approvals including regulatory. 

stock exchange and court approvals. 

During the prior year, the Attorney General for Illinois filed a complaint against JE Illinois (the "Illinois AG Complpint"). The Illinois 
AG Complaint alleged that independent sales agents used deceptive prartices in their sale of Just Energy ccmtracts to Illinois 
customers. On May 12, 2009, a settlement of the action was reached subjert to court approval. Under this settlement, JE Illinois will 
comply with several consumer safeguards, many of which JE Illinois has prarticed for more than a year. In addition, $1,000 will be 
made available to a limited number of customers in settiement of claims. 
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How do you become a Leader? 

In fiscal 2010, Just Energy showed why it continues to be 

the leading company in Its industry. We have -

Revitalized ; 
the independent sales force resulting in the aggregation of a record 505, 
customers in the United States and Canada 

000 

Integrated i \ 
Universal Energy with its 430,000 customers, saving more than $10 millioh in annual 
combined general and administrative ("G&A") costs j 

I 

Expanded | 
into new markets and new sales channels I 

Became 
one of the largest competitive retailers of green energy in North Americ^ 

Embraced 
innovative new products 

Delivered o 
on our commitments to customers and investors 

Just Energy's business involves the jale of natural gas aiid'or electricity to residential and cominerdat custwners under long-term lixed-pnce and pm'qe^fft^cted 
contracts. By fixing the price of natural gas or electricity under its f i j ^ -p r i ce or price-protected program contracts for a pwiod of up to Ive y&arsi Just i f v s t ^ s 
customers offset their exposure to changes Sri the price of these essential commodities. Just Energy, which commenced business in 1997, de ives its mai^ f t ©T SP̂ 'SS 
profit from the difference between the fixed price at which it is able to seB the commodities to its customers and ti ie fixed price at vs^ich it ffurchases theEBSOdated 

volumes from its suppliers. 

The Fund also offers green products through its JustGreen program. The electticity JustQreen product offers the customer the opt ionof hiwngdl<irapCHl;t<stof 
his or her electridty sourced from renewable green sources such as wind, run of the river hydro or Worrass. The gas JustGreen product offi « cai1»»i o f fm i credits 
which will allow the customer to reduce or eliminate the carbon footprint far their home or business. Management believes that t+iese produce wBt rtOt-oftl^^MW 

to profits but wil! also increase sales receptivity and imprwe renewal rates. 

In addition, through National Home Services, the Fund sells and rents high effidency and tanld^s water heaters, NHS began offwing the r^itta! o f air condit|<«iea 

and furnaces to Ontario residents in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2010. Through its sub^ ia ry Terra Grain Fuels, the Fund (MTxIuces ar*d sel^ wheat-based «thanot. 



2010 HIGHLIGHTS 

Customer base reached 2,293,000 residential customer 

equivalents ("RCEs"), up 28% year overyear. Gross 

additions through marketing (excluding acquired 

customers) were 505,000, up 36% from 372,000 in 

fiscal 2009, and up 6 1 % f rom 313,000 In fiscal 2008. 

Net customer additions through marketing were 73,000 
for the year, up from 57,000 last year. The continued 
vi/eak U.S. economy resulted in U.S. natural gas attrit ion 
of 30%, far higher than the Fund's target of 20%. 

Sales (seasonally adjusted) up 24% to $2.3 bi l l ion. 

Gross margin (seasonally adjusted) of $425.9 mil l ion, 

up 35% year over year (16% per unit). 

Distributable cash after gross margin replacement of 

$230.0 mil l ion ($1.78 per unit), up 18% year overyear 

(2% per unit). Distributable cash after all marketing 

of $197.0 mil l ion, up 16%. 

Continued success of JustGreen, w i th 39% of new 

customers taking an average of 8 1 % green supply 

under the program. 

Acquired Hudson Energy Service, a New York-based 

natural gas and electricity marketer t o commercial 

customers w i t h approximately 680,000 customers in 

four states effective May 1, 2010. The acquisition 

was funded through the issuance of $330 mill ion 6% 

convertible debentures. 

TOTAL CUSTOMERS 

2,293,000 
(thousands) 

1,659 1-68'' 

SEASONALLY ADIUSTED SALES SEASONALLY ADJUSTED 
GROSS MARGIN 

($ millions) 2,344.2 

1.8S3.7 
1,730.6 

1,530.1 

1,225,9 

06 07 08 09 10 06 07 08 09 10 

{$ mil l ions) 

DISTRIBUTABLE CASH AFTER 
GROSS MARGIN REPLACEMENT 

$2,344.2 million $425.9 million $230.0 million 
425.9 

230.4 272.2 

{$ millions) 

195.5 

170.0 fg 

130,0 ^I I I 
;i;̂  ^ M % 

^ i ^ i S? 

06 07 oa 09 10 
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MESSAGE FROM THE EXECUTIVE CHAIR 

D e a r f e l i o w U n i t h o l d e r s : 

It is with great pnde Ihat we report our 

results for the year ended March 31, 2010. 

For the ninth consecutive annual report. 

Just Energy has generated growing 

distributable cash and disthbulions to 

our Unitholders. Our theme this year 

is Leadership, a goal Just Energy pursues 

in every market we enter. 

The year had a number of highlights. 

The acquisition of Universal Energy Group 

was the largest in the history of Just Energy. 

Universal had been our most aggressive 

competitor in our key markets and was 

the prime alternative for prospective sales 

contractors. Universal also had a start-up 

water heater sales and rental business and 

a new ethanol business. 

When we made the acquisition, we said it 

would be accretive to Unitholders and it is 

accretive. We said we would reduce our 

combined general and administrative cost 

base by $10 million per year through the 

elimination of overlap expenses. We have 

reduced costs by more than $10 million. 

We said we would bring production at the 

ethanol plant toward full capacity, up from 

60%. The plant now is operating at over 

73% of total production capacity with 

further improvements to come. Wc said the 

water heater business would be a profitable 

new product line. Now self-financing, 

National Home Services is well on its way 

to being a $100 million business. 

Having transitioned the sales forces of 

Universal and Just Energy into a single team, 

we have looked to build our commercial 

business to match our residential core. 

The recently announced acquisition of 

Hudson Energy Services does exactly that. 

Hudson specialized in the aggregation 

of commerdal customers through the 

broker sales channel in four U.S. states, 

a marketing channel not utilized much 

by Just Energy Hudson grew rapidly 

building a base of 680,000 customers, 

85% of which are commercial. 

Hudson brings advanced systems and a 

strong broker network, which will enable 

the Just Energy sales force to improve 

its penetration of commercial customers 

in Canada as well as in new U.S. markets, 

which will be ready for entry in fiscal 2011 

and beyond. With the acquisition, we have 

established ourselves as leaders both in 

residential and commercial marketing 

in every jurisdiction In which we operate. 

Not only does Hudson bring strategic value 

and customers, but with the US$304 million 

price we paid, the acquisition will be 

immediately accretive to UnithoWers. 

EXPANDED COMMERDAL 

CUSTOMER BASE 

(thousands of total customers) 

Canada - Commerda 

Canada - Residential 

U.S. - Commercial 

U.S. - Residential 

Total 

Just Energy 

581 

913 

192 

607 

2,293 

Hudson 

590 

90 

680 
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WHAT WE PROMISED 
FOR FISCAL 2010 

WHAT WE DELIVERED 
IN FISCAL 2010 

A larger, stronger sales force 

Increase per unit seasonally adjusted 
gross nnargin and distributable cash after gross 
margin replacement by 5% to 10% 

Added a record 505,000 new customers 

Increased per unit seasonally adjusted 
gross margin by 16% and distributable cash 
after gross margin replacement by 2% 

Combine operations with Universal and 
generate $10 million In annua! general 
and administrative ("G&A") savings 

Smooth amalgamation of Universal's 
480,000 customer base with annual 
G&A savings in excess of $10 million 

Increase penetration of the 
commercial market 

Acquired Hudson Energy Services effective 
May 1, 2010 and its 680,000 customers, 
85% of which are commercial 

Conversion to a corporation 

As you are aware. Unitholders will be asked 
to approve the conversion of Just Energy 
from an income trust to a high-dividend-
paying corporation at the Fund's Annual and 
Special Meeting of Unitholders scheduled for 
June 29, 2010. 

This is a major step forward for Just Energy. 
We have advised our Unitholders of our 
intention to convert to a corporate structure 
for several quarters and stated that we 
hoped to be able to do so without the need 
to reduce the pre-tax monthly cash payout 
whether it is in the current form of 
distribution or the future form of monthly 
dividends. I am pleased to say we should be 
able to do so, 

Upon completion of the reorganization, 
the Board intends to implement a 
dividend policy where monthly dividends 
will be initially set at $0.1033 per share 
($1.24 annually), equal to the current 
distributions paid to Just Energy Unitholders. 

In anticipation of the need for conversion, 
the Fund has not increased its rate 
of distribution since early 2008, despite 
substantial grovi/th in its business. 
The decision not to continue distribution 
increases and the continued gnDwth of 
Just Energy have given your Fund the 
flexibility to pay a dividend equal to the 
current monthly distributions following 
the reorganization. 

As I write this letter, our unit price fails 
to reflect Just Energy's real value. While 
our Unitholders have received predictable 
and growing distributions throughout the 
history of your Fund, the unit price has 
seldom reflected the growth and income 
inherent in Just Energy. It is my hope that 
the conversion from an income trust to 
a high-yielding corporation will result in a 
broader potential investor base and more 
careful scrutiny of the value of Just Energy. 

In the past year, we paid out over $187 million 
in distributions. At the same time, we 
continued to build long-term value. The future 
value of our contracted margins contained 
within our customer book grew by 18% 
year over year to $ 1.2 billion, despite a sharp 
decline in the U.S. dollar, and the resulting 
reduction In the value of our fast-growing 
U.S. customer book. Consistent witii our 
track record. Just Energy has again paid out 
a substantial yield and, again, built value in 
our business. 

This value should be recognized by equity 
investors, and the ctwiversion of your Fund 
should be the catalyst for a fairer valuation 
of your unit^hare interests. 

Thank you for your support. 

Yours truly. 

{signed) 

Rebecca MacDonald 
Executive Chair 
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MESSAGE FROM THE CEO 

4 t...i t : • r ^ m f ^ ' ^ n 

Dear f e l l o w U n i t h o l d e r s : 

As Rebecca VacDonald fias noted, fiscal 

2010 was a year in which Just Energy proved 

yet again, that regardless of economic 

conditions, weather or currency movements, 

your Fund will deliver growlh and predictable 

income year in and year out. 

The most important factor in our success 

was the rejuvenation of our sales force-

As noted in past messages, a tight labour 

market had seen our force of independent 

contractors fall to a low of 400 from almost 

580 in 2008. We have renewed our efforts 

in recruiting and have successfully 

amalgamated the Universal sales force with 

ours, leading to a year-end contractor 

count of over 1,100, an increase from 

800 at the start of fiscal 2010. 

The result was a record 505,000 customer 

additions through our independent sales 

contractors, up 36% from fiscal 2009 and 

61 % from fiscal 2008. The chart on the 

following page shows how Just Energy has 

turned around its marketing. 

While adding customers is a vital aspect of 

our business, retaining existing customers is 

every bit as important. Fiscal 2010 was very 

challenging (or the Fund. Weak economic 

conditions were in place throughout the year 

in our key northern U.S. markets. Levels of 

home foreclosures remained at record levels, 

and we chose to return many customers to 

utility system supply because they were 

unable to pay their utility bills, often because 

of lost employment. The result was a 30% 

attrition rate for our U.S. gas customer base, 

far above our target of 20%. 

Along with our growth in customer 

aggregation, came grovt^h in our sale of 

JustGreen electricity and gas products. 

A total of 39% of our new customers 

elected green supply for an average of 81 % 

of their commodity consumption. While 

JustGreen remains a small portion of our 

overall book, it is more than doubling each 

year. JustGreen contracts are significantly 

more profitable than "brown" contracts and 

reflect the strong desire of consumers to do 

their part to support renewable generation. 

Here are some other examples of v/hat our 

team delivered in fiscal 2010: 

• Increased margin per new customer. 

Our fiscal 2010 new customer margin 

averaged $208 per year. That is an increase 

of 11 % over the fiscal 2009 margin of 

$187 per year and 22% over the fiscal 2008 

margin of $171 per year. Driving this 

improvement was the tremendous success 

and acceptance of our JustGreen products. 

• Managed bad debt expense. 

With the recession taking its toll on 

customers in those markets where we bear 

credit risk, our bad debt losses crept up 

above our 2 % to 3% target in the third 

quarter of fiscal 2010.1 am happy to 

report that careful screening of our existing 

customer base and prudent review of 

potential new customers have brought 

losses back down to an average of 2.8% 

for the year. 
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CUSTOMERS ADDED THROUGH MARKETING 

5 0 5 , 0 0 0 , up 36% from 2009 
(thousands) 

505 

424 

348 
372 

290 
313 

Cf) 06 07 DS 09 10 

Excluding acquired customers(2008 -29,000; 2009-46,000; 2010-430,000). 

• Built a substantial water heater business. 

Just Energy purchased a newly founded, 
yet successful, water heater sale and rental 
business called National Home Services 
("NHS"). While still in its early stages, 
we have gone from an installed base of 
1,700 water heaters at year-end last year to 
77,000 installed at the end of fiscal 2010. 
Combined with a non-recourse financing 
program entered in January, NHS is a 
self-funding second-growth engine for 
Just Energy. We believe tremendous value 
is being built in this business. 

Despite these positive outcomes, our 
distributable cash after gross margin 
replacement growth at 2% per unit was 
not at the level we expected. While this 
growth comfortably supported our 
$1.24 annual distribution, it was below 
our initial growth expectations. The lower 
distributable cash growth resulted from 
a combination of economy-driven high 
attrition, a record warm winter, start-up 
costs at NHS and Ten̂ a Grain Fuels, taxes 

paid in the U.S. and for Universal entities, 

as well as the decline of the U.S. dollar. 

As we approach fiscal 2011, our last 
year as an income trust we are at a 
key point in the history of Just Energy. 
We have built a solid base in the U.S. 
and expect sales and cash flow from that 
market will exceed the Canadian market 
next year. Our sound base and diverse 
footprint has allowed us to smoothly 
Integrate Universal. The same is expected 
with Hudson Energy. We expect other 
opportunities to add customers will be 
available in years to come. 

What Just Energy will del iv^ 
In fiscal 2011 

The acquisition of Hudson is the largest yet 
taken on by Just Energy. It is too early to say 
what the exact impact wil! be in the first 
year of joint operation, but we are confident 
that the result will be accretion both in the 
first and subsequent years as we accelerate 
our growth in the commercial market. 

Overall, we are confident that 5% to 10% 
growth in distributable cash after margin 
replacement on a fully diluted basis 
is a reasonable expectation for the coming 
year. As always, Just Energy remains a 
grovtrth company 

I look forwanJ to seeing as many of you 

as possible at our Annual Meeting on 

June 29,2010. 

Yours truly. 

(signed) 

Ken Hartwick 
Chief Executive Officer 
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BEING A LEADER 

Since its inception in 1997, Just Energy has built itself into a multi-billion 
dollar company and emerged as a leader in the deregulated utility 
services market. 

Deregulation opened natural gas and electridty markets and as competitors 
have come and gone, Just Energy has prospered and grown. We have 
regularly expanded into new markets, increased our customer base, 
improved gross margins, built up our sales force and added new 
product lines - while providing our investors with stable and growing 
returns. Today, we are the dominant energy supplier in every region in 
which we compete. We are one of the largest competitive retailers of 
green energy in North America. We have consolidated Universal Energy 
as an accretive acquisition and have just completed a second purchase, 
Hudson Energy Services. We are poised for accelerated growth. 
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GENERATING GROWTH 

Strong operat ing performance 

We have always considered Just Energy a unique 

growth company and have the track record to 

prove it. Consistent expansion has been achieved 

by building our customer base and making 

strategic acquisitions. 

In 2010, we added a record 505,000 new 
customers, a 36% increase over the number 
added through marketing in fiscal 2009. A further 
430,000 customers came through the Universal 
acquisition bringing our net customer increase to 
28% year over year. Customer additions remain at 
record levels and we are looking at further 
geographic expansion in fiscal 2011. 

Strong sales performance in the year was in part 
offset by continued high attrition in the U.S., 
where the number of home foreclosures and 
customers who could no longer pay their utility 
bills remained at unprecedented levels. Higher 
than targeted attrition has reduced what would 
have been othen/vise strong customer growth 
for the year. 

Seasonally adjusted gross margin increased by 
35% (16% per unit), with an 11 % increase in 
average margin per new customer over fiscal 2009 
and a 22% increase over fiscal 2008. This was 
largely due to growing sales of our profitable 
JustGreen electricity and gas products. 

Distributable cash after gross margin replacement 
was up 18% (2% per unit) due to our continued 
growth, offset by higher taxes, a record warm winter 
reducing gas consumption, start-up costs at 
National Home Services ("NHS") and Terra Grain Fuels 
("TGF") as well as the decline of the U.S. dollar. 

Stable Investor returns 

In fiscal 2010, Just Energy proved once again to be 
a resilient engine of growth and income despite 
weak economic conditions. We declared a Special 
Distribution of $0.20 per unit, over and above our 
regular $0.1033 monthly distribution. We also 
announced our intent to maintain our current 
annual payout of $1.24 per unit as a dividend 
following conversion of the income fund to a 
corporation in fiscal 2011. Just Energy is one of 
the very few trusts in a position to do so. 

AVERAGE GROSS MARGIN 
PER NEW CUSTOMER ADDED 

$208 
(in dollars per year) 
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i 
JK 

j 1 
1 1 I I % 1 K 1 
09 10 

JUST ENERGY INCOME FUND » WJNUAL MPORT 2010 



BECOMING GREENER 
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Leading green retailer 

Just Energy has become one of Vre largest 

compeiitive retailers of green electricity m fJorth 

America, selling moro man S64,000 megawatt 

hours ("MWh") in fiscal 2010 alone. To date, our 

Ju5tGreen rarbon offset program offset more than 

135,000 tonnes of carbon emissions. 

While our green energy cuslomers are still a 

small proportion of our overall customer base, 

JustGreen products make up the fastest-growing 

segment of our business. JustGreen electricity 

delivered volumes rose 250% over 2009 and 

JustGreen gas delivered volumes w/ere up 285%. 

For the year, 39% of new customers elected green 

supply, taking on average 81 % of their 

consumption through JustGreen products. 

JustGreen products drive environmentally 

responsible energy consumption. The electricity 

product gives customers the option to have all or a 

portion of their electricity sourced from renewable 

sources such as wind, run of the river hydro or 

biomass. With the gas product, customers can 

purchase carbon offset credits to reduce or 

eliminate their carbon footprint 

For Just Energy, the JustGreen product line helps 

build strong relationships with cuslomers who 

have Willingly paid a premium for their commodit/ 

to benefit the environment, JustGreen also 

generates higher per customer margins. As well, it 

opens new doors, allowing our agents to approach 

homes and businesses that would not otherwise 

purchase from a door-to-door salesperson. 

Green s u p p l y 

Quality supplier relationships are critical to the 

success of our green energy business. In fiscal 

2010, we signed a five-year agreement with 

Iberdrola Renewables, a world leader in wind 

power development, to purchase wind power 

produced by state-of-the-art wind farms in New 

York. We also established a partnership with 

Integrated Gas Recovery Services ("IGRS") to offer 

consumers in Ontario another way to reduce their 

carbon footprint by applying verified emission 

offsets from the IGRS landfill gas collection project. 

Just Energy will buy 50,000 metric tonnes of 

emissions offset per year through 2013 from the 

IGRS landfill. 

JU5TGREEN ELECTRICITY 

564,000 Mvvi-
thousands) 

03 09 10 

JUSTGREEN NATURAL GAS 

2,732,000 GJ 
(thousands) 

2,732 

710 

08 09 10 
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OFFERING NEW PRODUCTS 

Water heater sales and rentals 
Just Energy aims to be the leader in bringing 

innovative energy options to the market. In 

addition to green energy products, we recently 

added energy-efficient home products and 

services, offered by our National Home Sen/ices 

division in Ontario. 

National Home Sen/ices specializes in leasing high-

effk:iency natural gas water heaters. By renting a 

water heater, customers get a new water heater that 

is usually more energy efficient than their existing 

unit and they pay one monthly charge for rental and 

sen/ice. Similar to our core electricity and natural gas 

offerings, the water heater program offers peace of 

mind and superior service. 

A growing part of the business is in tankless water 

heaters which save energy and reduce costs by 

heating water only when it is needed. Unlike a 

traditional tank-style heater, when the demand for 

water ceases, the unit shuts down and uses no 

energy. Tankless heaters have been the standard in 

Europe and Asia for decades and are becoming 

more common in North America with rising 

consumer interest in energy conservation. 

In addition. National Home Services recently 

began offering the rental of air conditioners 

and furnaces to Ontario residents. 

Promising start 

Just Energy's water heater business was launched 

in fiscal 2009. By year-end 2010, we had already 

installed 77,000 units, bolstered by the addition 

of Universal's water heater business and sales 

force. While Canadian sales of our core electricity 

and natural gas products were slow for the year, 

independent contractors were redeployed Into the 

National Home Services division. 

Recognizing National Home Services as a stable 

and profitable long-term addition to our product 

portfolio, we entered into a long-term financing 

agreement with Home Trust Company in fiscal 

2010. The agreement positions the business for 

rapid growth, as a self-financing, freestanding unit. 

INSTAltED WATER HEATERS 

77,000 
77,000 

1.700 

m 
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EXPANDING REACH 

Revitalized sales force 
Maintaining and growing quality sales and 
customer service people is key to the long-term 
growth of the company. 

Our team of independent sales contractors has 
proven that door to door remains at the core of 
signing up customers. Our sales people educate 
consumers on the benefits of energy deregulation, 
inform them of the various energy options 
available to them, and ensure that they 
understand and feel good about what they are 
buying from us. Over the past three years, 
we increased the number of sales agents from 
a low of 400 in 2008 to more than 1.100 today. 
We also invested heavily in training, supporting 
and rewarding our independent contractors. 

In fiscal 2010, we expanded our customer sen/ice 
operations, adding over 100 people and opening a 
new call centre in Texas, our fastest-growing 
market. In addition to supporting new customers 
as they transition to Just Energy, customer service 
representatives meet ongoing customer needs and 
promote contract renewals. Approximately one-
fifth of our customers are up for renewal every 
year. Faced with challenging economic conditions. 

we stepped up our efforts to promote renewals in 
fiscal 2010, increasing the number of agents making 
outbound customer calls and providing innovative 
renewal options in light of high five-year prices. 

Momentis 
In fiscal 2010, Just Energy took the important 

step of establishing Momentis. We believe that this 

vital, dynamic business channel is well suited for 

our industry. 

Under the network marketing model, Momentis' 
independent representatives earn an initial 
commissran for enrolling customers with Just Energy 
and recurring monthly income for customers 
who continue to use our products and sen/ices. 
Representatives can earn additional money 
for mentoring others, and through building and 
leading a team. 

Management believes that Momentis will be a key 

new marketing channel which will not overlap our 

existing efforts. While it will take time to build, our 

nehwork marketing team is going to be a valued 

engine for growth in tt̂ e future. 

INDEPENDENT SALES 
CONTRACTOR GROWTH 

1,100 

SCO j-gQ 580 
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Chris Domhoff 
Chief Executive Officer. 
Momentis 
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CAPITALIZING ON OPPORTUNITY 

Commerc ia l o f f e r i n g 

Rofonnizing the growlh ootential ol the 

cormercial market, JusI Energy has made a push 

in this area in the past few years. We focus on 

select small and mid-sized businesses v>,'ho 

appreciate t-e ability Io budget easily and plan 

"e i r future cash flow. 

We offer these businesses competitive pricing 

oplior^s, Ihe potential for savings when market 

prices rise above their contracted price, and 

flexible terms so that they can choose the short­

er long-term contract that best meets their needs, 

We have also introduced a blend and extend 

option. If Just Energy's prices fall below a customer's 

current contracted rate, the customer can blend 

the current contract rate with the new, lower rate 

and extend it out for a longer term, to take advantage 

of temporary reductions in the market pnce. 

COMMERCIAL CUSTOMER BASE 
AS OF MARCH 3 1 , 2010 

773,000 

H u d s o n Energy Services acqu i s i t i on 

Subsequent to yearend, we acquired ll^dson 

Energy Services as a means of accelerating 

JusI Energy's growth in Ihe small Io mid-si.^e 

commercial rrarket segment, 

Hudson operates in New York, New Jersey, Illinois 

and Texas, and is a leader in sales to small and 

mjd-si,^e commercial customers. The company is a 

strong strategic fit, and will bring Just Energy a 

new segment of the U.S. commercial market that 

we do not currently serve - that is, customers who 

do not typically purchase energy contracts through 

direct sales, but rather through the independent 

broker marketing channel. Hudson also brings 

leading-edge technology that will enable more 

efficient selling to commercial customers through 

both direct sales and the broker channel. 

Hudson has had compound customer growth 

of 47% per year since 2004, With 680,000 RCEs, 

Hudson a lmost doubles Just Energy's commercia l 

customer base and brings to ta l customers 

close to three mi l l ion. Just Energy surpassed 

one mil l ion customers in fiscal 2006 and t w o mil l ion 

in fiscal 2 0 1 0 . 

U.S.CUSTOiViER BASE 

/ ...J ...y ., \ J K.J \.J 

(thousands) ^94 
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YOUR FUND'S GOVERNANCE 

Officers {from left to right}; Darren Pritchett, Executive Vice President, Consumer Sales; Ken Hartwick, Chief Executive Officer and President 

Rebecca MacDonald, Executive Chair, Scott Gahn, President o f Just Energy Group and Chief Operating Officer and Executive Vice President o f 

Just Energy Corp., Beth Summers, Chief Financial Officer, and Gord Potter, Executive Vice President, Regulatory and Legal. 

OFFICERS 

Rebecca IVIacDonald 

Ffoajtivo C/\?.T 

Rebecca MacDonald was a founder of 

Just Energy (formerly Energy Savings) 

and has held the position ot Chair of the 

Board since 2001 ("IPO") and Executive 

Chair since 2006. From Ihe Fund's IPO in 

2001 to March 2005, Ms. MacDonald also 

held the position of Chief Executive Officer, 

Ken Hartwick, c.A. 

Chic'f Exf̂ .utive Officer snd President 

Ken Hartwick joined the company in 

April 2004 as Chief Financial Officer, was 

promoted to President in 2006 and assumed 

the additional position of Chief Executive 

Officer in June 2008. Prior to this, 

Mr. Hartwick was Chief Financial Officer 

of Hydro One Inc. 

Beth Summers, c.A. 

Chiel Financial Officer 

Beth Summers joined Just Energy in 

February 2009 as Chief financial Officer 

Prior to this, Ms. Summers was Executive 

Vice President and Chief Financial Officer 

of Hydro One Inc. 

Scott Gahn 
President of Just Energy Group &nd Chief 
Operating Officer end Executive Vice President 
of Just Energy Corp. 

Scott Gahn was appointed to his current 

role in April 2010, and prior to this, held the 

position of Executive Vice President and 

Chief Operating Officer of Just Energy as 

well as Executive Vice President of U.S. Energy 

Savings. Prior to this, Mr. Gahn was Chief 

Executive Officer of Just Energy Texas LR 

Darren Pritchett 

E:<ecuUve Vice President, Consumer Sales 

Darren Pritchett joined Just Energy as 

Executive Vice President, Consumer Sales, 

in April 2008, Prior to this, Mr. Pritchett ran 

a successful direct marketing organization, 

contracted by Just Energy. 

Gord Potter 

Executive Vice President, Regulatory and Legal 

Gord Potter joined the Company in June 

2003 and currently holds the position 

of Executive Vice President, Regulatory and 

Legal. Prior to this, Mr. Potter held 

the positions of Director, Vice President and 

Senior Vice President within the Regulatory 

department within the time period of 

June 2003 to April 2009. Before joining 

Just Energy, Mr. Potter was Director, Utility 

Relations, at Direct Energy Marketing Umited. 
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As an income fund and as an energy price protection company, Just Energy 
is committed to providing stability and peace of mind. To reach these goals -
and remain worthy of the confidence of our Unitholders ~ we have 
established an active Board to guide our operations and make sure that they 
are transparent to investors. Our corporate governance meets the recommended 
standards established by the Canadian Securities Administrators. 

We ensure transparency by clearly communicating our targets for growing our business, describing in detail how we intend 
to meet these goals and then reporting on our performance against the targets with equal clarity Similarly, we build trust by 
ensuring that management's interests are aligned with those of Unitholders, To make sure that management acts in the best 
interests of Unitholders, we mandate high unit ownership for all senior managers and align bonuses with strict perfonnance 
measurements determined by our Board. Our unit compensation consists of fully paid unit appreciation rights, which are 
paid for by employees out of what would have been cash compensation. 

Your Board of Directors is made up of the Executive Chair, the Chief Executive Officer and President and seven outside directors 
and is monitored by our lead independent director and Vice Chair, Hugh Segal. The Board committees gre compcBed of external 

directors only. 

Additional details of our governance can be found in the Just Energy 2010 Management Information Circular. 

OUTSIDE DIRECTORS 

Senator Hugh D. Segal 
Member of the Senate af Canada and Senior Fellow, 

School o f Policy Studies. Queen's University 

The Honourable Hugh Segal was appointed 

to the Senate of Canada in August 2005 

and is a Senior Research Fellow at McMillan 

LLP, a director of SNC Lavatin Inc., Sun Life 

Financial Inc. and a member of the Atlantic 

Council. He serves as Lead Director and 

Vice Chairman and has been a director of 

Just Energy since 2001. 

John A. Brussa 
Partner, Burnet, Duckworth & Palmer LLP 

John Brussa is a Partner in the Calgary-based 
energy law firm of Burnet, Duckworth & 
Palmer, specializing in the area of energy 
and taxation. Mr. Brussa has been a director 
of Just Energy since 2001. He is also a 
director of a number of energy and energy-
related corporations and income funds. 

Ambassador Gordon D. Giffin 
Senior Partner, McKenna Long & Aidridge LLP 

The Honourable Gordon Giffin is a Senior 
ParUier in the Washington, D.C. and 
Atlanta, Georgia-based law firm of 
McKenna Long & Aidridge. He has been a 
director of Just Energy since 2005. From 
1997 to April 2001, Mr Giffin sen/ed as 
United States Ambassador to Canada. 

Senator Mkhael J.L. Kirby 
Corporate Director 
The Honourable Michael Kirby is a corporate 
director and Chairman of TTie Mental Health 
Commission of Canada. Mr. Kirby was a 
member of the Senate of Canada from 1984 
to 2006. From 1999 to 2006, Mr Kirby was 
Chair of the Standing Committee on Social 
Affairs, Science and Technology Mr. Kirby 
has been a director of Just Energy since 2001. 

The Honourable R. Roy McMurtry. Q.C. 
Counsel, Gowling Lafleur Henderson LLP 
The Honourable R. Roy McMurtry currently 
serves as counsel to the national law firm of 
Gowling Lafleur Henderson LLP. Mr. McMurtry 
has been a director of Just Energy since 2007. 
From February 1996 until May 2007, 
Mr. McMurtry was the Chief Justice of Ontarb. 

Brian R.D. Smith 
Federal Chief Treaty Negotiator and Energy Ccx)sultant 

Brian Smith is the Federal C hief Treaty Negotiator 

and Energy Consultant associated with the 

law firm of Gowling Lafleur Henderson LLP. 

Prior to this, Mr. Smith was the Chair of 

British Columbia Hydro, a position he held 

from 1996 to June 2001. Mr. Smith has been 

a director of Just Energy since 2001. 

B. Bruce Gibson 
Principal, Ryan Inc. 

Bruce Gibson was appointed a director of 
Just Energy effective January 1, 2010. 
Mr. Gibson cunrently sen/es as a Principal of 
Ryan Inc. and Practice Leader for Ryan, 
Public Affairs. Previously, Mr. Gibson served 
as Chief of Staff of the Lieutenant Governor 
of Texas as well as Senior Vice President of 
Reliant Energy. He was also a member of 
Texas' House of Representatives (1981-1991). 
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MD&AAT-A-GLANCE 

This MD&A at-a-glance highlights some of the most significant information 
found in the management's discussion and analysis, which follows on page 17, 
It is not intended to provide a complete summary of Just Energy's strategies, 
business environment or performance. 

HIGHLIGHTS 

Added a record 505,000 new customers, a 36% 

increase over the number added through marketing 

in fiscal 2009 

Integrated Universal Energy with Its more than 

430,000 customers, saving more than $10 million In 

annual combined genera! and administrative costs 

Increased seasonally adjusted gross margin by 35% 

(16% per unit), wi th an 11 % increase in average 

margin pernewcustomer over fiscal 2009 

Of all new customers contracted In the year, 39% 

took JustGreen for some or all of their energy needs, 

electing on average to purchase 81 % of their 

consumption as green supply 

Grew the number of installed water heaters from 1,700 

at fiscal year-end 2009 to 77,000 at year-end 2010 

Subsequent to year-end, acquired Hudson Energy 
Services and its 680,000 customers, 85% of which 
are commercial 

Customer aggregation 

Long-term customers 

Natural gas 

Canada 

United States 

Total gas 

Electricity 
Canada 
United States 

Total electricity 

Combined 

April 1,2009 

743,000 

235,000 

978,000 

578,000 

234,000 

812,000 

1,790.000. 

Additions , =: 

46,000 

171,000 

217,000 

72,000 
216,000 

288.000 

505,000 

Aoiuired 

93,000 

120,000 

213.000 

215,000 
2,000 

217.000 

430,000 

Attrition 

(81,000) 
(110,000) 

(191,000) 

(94,000) 

(52,000) 

(146,000) 

(337,000) 

Failed to 
renew 

(67,000) 
(8,000) 

(75,000) 

(11,000) 

(9,000) 

(20,000) 

(95,000) 

Maixih3l, 
12010 

734,000 

40«i,000 

i,i42ioao 

yeaooo 
39^000 

1.151,000 

2.293^000 

% increase 
(decrease) 

(1)% 
74% 

17% 

31% 

67% 

42% 

28% 

Gross customer additions through marketing for the year were 505,000, up 36% from the 372,000 customers (excluding 46.000 acquired 
customers) added in fiscal 2009. Total net customeradditlons for the year ended March 31,2010, were 503,000, up frorn the 103.000 
net customer additions of the previous year. Record additions through marketing were offset by the continuing effects o| the weak U.S. 
economy resulting in high customer attrition. 

Customer margins 

During fiscal 2010, we continued 
to see the positive impact of 
ongoing efforts to maintain 
strong margin per customer 
during challenging marketing 
periods. This table depicts the 
higher margins realized on 
customers signed in the year. 

Annual gross margin 
per customer̂ ' Fiscal 2010 

Annual tai^t 
ftecaf 2010 

Customers added in the year 

Canada-gas ^ 
Canada-electrici^ 
United States-gas 
United States - electricity 

175 
136 
208 
229 

$ 170 
143 
170 
143 

' Customer sales pries less cast of assodated supply and allowance for bad debt and U.S. working jcapital. 
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GROSS MARGIN 
{SEASONALLY ADJUSTED) 

$425,9 million 
($ millions) 425.9 

3!5,2 
1121 

230,'1 

06 07 08 09 10 

Niew customer margins averaged 
$208 per year, a 7% inaease 
over the fiscal 2009 margin of 
J187 per year 

DISTRtBUTABLE CASH AFTER GROSS 
MARGIN REPUCEMENT (PER UNIT) 

$1.78 
{$) 

1.75 1.78 
1.57 

1.22 

06 07 09 10 

Distributable ca^ growth of 2% 
per unit refleas margin growth, 
offset by higher taxes, a record 
warm winter, start-up oosts at 
National Home Services and 
Terra Grain Fuels, and the dedine 
of the US. dollar. 

Just Energy intends to continue its geographic expansion into new markets in the 
U.S. through organic growth and focused acquisitions. In addition, Just Energy 
is pursuing alternative sales channels to enhance growth in customer additions. 

Att r i t ion rates 

Natural gas 

Canada 

United States 

Electricity 

Canada 

United States 

10%-

30% 

13% 
16% 

Natural gas attrition in Canada was 10% for 
the year, in line with management's target 
In the U.S., gas attrition was 30%, above 
management's annual target of 20%, 
due to high home foreclosure rates and the 
necessary aggressive customer cut-off or 
forced return to default services policies 
utilized by Just Energy 

Electricity attrition in Canada for the year 
was 13%, above management's 10% target. 
Higher than targeted attrition was afunctioh 
of the clean-up of the acquired Universal 
book of customers which resulted in a 
stronger, higher-margin book of customers ,; 
going forward. Electricity attrition in the IJ.S. 
was 16%, below the 20% target. 

Renewal rates 

Renewals for Canadian gas customers were 
61 %. In the Ontario gas market, customers 
who do not positively elect to renew or 
terminate their contract receive a one-year 
fixed price for the ensuing year. Of the total 

Canadian gas customers renewed in fiscal 

2010,16% were renewed for a one-year 

term. Canadian gas vras the only market in 

which renewals lagged the 2010 target of 

70%. This was a result of the high spread 

between the Just Energy five-year price and 

the utility spot price. 

The electricity renewal rate for Canadian 

customers was 73%. la the Ontario 

electricity market, there is no opportunity 

to renew a residential or small volume 

customer for a one-year term sfiould the 

customer fail to positively renew or terminate 

his or her contract. There has been solid 

take-up of JustGreen products within 

Canadian electricity renewals leading to 

higher-than-target renewal rates. 

Distributable cash 

replacement on a 

expected to grow 

after grossmargin 

fully dQutedba^s is 

by approximately 5% to 

Outlook 
Management believes that Just Energy will -

again grow its key operating .measures 

during.fiscal 2011. Growth expectations are 

predicated on some recovery in the U.S. 

econonf^y, although not to pre-recesslon 

levels. The addition of Hudson Energy 

Services, which closed on May 7, 2010, 

will be acCTetive to Just Energy's growth 

on a fully diluted per unit basis, although, 

this growth will be offset to a degree 

by one-time transition costs. 

10%, including the acquisition o f Hudson. 

Although cunrently.a small component of tiie 

overall customertiobk. continued strong 

sales of JustGreenj products vwll im^ove the 

economics o f JM?^ Eifiergy as green customers 

gerierat^ highei- der customer margins than 

past five-year fKeprate customers. 

Just Energy intends to continue its 

geographic exparftion into new maricets In 

the U.S. through Organic growth and 

focused acquisltidis. In addition, Just Energy 

is pursuing al tkni t ive sales channels to 

enhance grovirth in customer additions. 

Just Energy Incbrtlie Fund has announced 

plans t o r e o r g a n i i its income trust structure 

into^a high-'dlytdie|id-i3aying corporatron. 

UpbniebTrtptetionithe Board intends to 

iniplement a polic (where the annual 

dividend will initlMly be set at $1.24 per unit 

equal td the curreit distriiixitbnspaid to 

Just Energy UniUiolders. 
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